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A World of Assets

FREEPORT-McMoORAN COPPER & GOLD INC.

freeport-McMoRan Copper & Gold Inc. (FCX) is a leading international mining company with headquarters in Phoenix, Arizona.
FCX operates large, long-lived, geographically diverse gssets with significant proven and probable reserves of copper, gold and
molybdenum. FCX has a dynamic portfolio of operating expansion and growth projects in the copper industry and is the world’s
fargest producer of motybdenum. The company's portfglio of assets includes the Grasberg Minerals Disrict, the world's targest
copper and gold mine in terms of recoverable reserves;|significant mining operations in the Americas, including the large scale
Morenci and Safford minerals districts in North America and the Cerro Verde and El Abra operations in South America; and the
potential world-class Tenke Fungurume development project in the Democratic Republic of Congo. Our common stock trades on
the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “FCX."

SUMMARY FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

- Years Ended December 31,

(in Millions, Except Per Share Amounts}
Revenues '

Operating income

Operating cash flows

Capita! expenditures

Net income applicable to common stock
Diluted net income per common share
Dividends paid per common share

At December 31:

Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

Long-term debt, including current portion and
short-term barrowings ‘

Stockholders’ equity

TRANSFORMATION OF Freeport-McMoRan Copper & Gold Inc.
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A World of Opportunities

Freéport-McMoRan Copper & Gold Inc. is tLe world’s largest publicly traded copper
company and one of the principal North American-based mining companies, with large,
long-lived, geographically diverse assets gnd significant reserves of copper, gold and
molybdenum. Our world-class reserves and industry leading operations form the core
of a World of Assets and present a World of Opportunities for continued growth,
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North America

Reserves
at12/13/07

Cu  25.8 billion lbs
Mo 1.8 billion Ibs

2 AtaGlance

2007 Production*

Cu 1.3 billion Ibs
Mo 69.0 million lbs

'South America

Eeserves
3t 12/31/07

fu  26.0 billion Ibs
A\ 1.4 million 0zs

. 2007 Production*

Cu 1.4 billion lbs
Au Q.1 million ozs

e

1

Tenke

Reserves
at 12/13/07

Cu 4.3 billion lbs
Co 0.6 billion tbs




Grasberg

Reserves 2007 Production
at 12/31/07

Cu  37.1 billion lbs Cu 1.2 billion lbs
Au 394 millionozs Au 2.2 million 02s

* Pro forma cansolidated

SEC Mail Processing
Section

APR 2 8 2008 Broad Resources

\Washingtor, DC
10
At December 31, 2007, Freeport-McMoRan Copper & Gold Inc.
had estirmated consolidated recoverable reserves totaling
93.2 billion pounds of copper, 41.0 mitlion ounces of gold
and 2.0 billion pounds of molybdenum.

These reserves, which form the core of our “World of Assets,”
are either part of our existing operations or future mine plans.
A “World of Opportunities” is present not only in these proven
assets, but also in our global exploration targets and the 12.1
billion metric tons of mineralized material that exist near or

in association with the proven reserves. Our global team of
geologists and mining engineers continues to define through
drilling and analysis this mineralized material, which offers
remarkable potential opportunity for growth,

Copper Raserve Breakdown Copper Reserves
in billions of pounds

100
80
60
40
20
3 40% Indonesia 2008 2007
1 28% South America
1 27% North America
] 5% Africa
Consolidated Totals Key:
(O Locations
Reserves 2007 Production* :
at12/31/2007 £I) Copper (Cu)
Cu 93.2 billion Ibs Cu 39 billion lbs [ Gold (Au)
Au 41.0 million ozs Au 23 million ozs B Molybdenum (Mo}
Mo 2.0 billion lbs Mo 70.0 million lbs
Co 0.6 billion Ibs W Cobalt (Co)
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World Class Operations

The Phelps Dodge acquisition transformed Freeport-McMoRan Copper & Gold Inc.
into a dynamic industry leader and combined the assets and technical teams of
two great companies. These assets will deliver significant copper volumes to an
attractive market, providing substantial cash flows that will enable us to invest in
growth projects and build value for shareholders.

TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS:

The year 2007 was special for
Freeport-McMoRan Copper & Gald Inc.
On March 19, 2007, we completed the
$26 billion acquisition of Phelps Dodge
Corporation, creating the world’s largest
publicly traded copper company, the
world's largest producer of molybdenum
and a significant gold producer. In so
many ways, it was a perfect match —

the combination of a company with a
world-class asset, the Grasberg mine

in Indonesia, and a company with
geographically diverse assets in search of
a world-class mine to complement them.

The acquisition transformed
Freeport-McMoRan Copper & Gold Inc.
into a dynamic industry teader and
combined the assets and technical
teams of two great companies. These
assets will deliver significant copper
volumes to an attractive market,
providing substantial cash flows
that will enable us to invest in
attractive growth projects and build
value for shareholders.

The process to consummate the merger
proceeded very well, and we were very
pleased by the response to this business
combination from our shareholders, the
investment community and the financial
markets that allowed us to complete this
exciting and large transaction.

To complete the transaction and
integrate the two companies, we
borrowed $16 billion, which was
comprised of $6 billion in long-term
notes and $10 billion in term loans.

immediately following the acquisition,
we completed $5.8 billion of equity
offerings. Through the combination of
equity proceeds and cash flows from
operations, we reduced acquisition debt
by more than $10 billion by year-end
2007, achieving our debt reduction
objectives two to three years sooner
than initially targeted.

Our financial strength and strong cash
flows are enabling us to pursue
aggressively our attractive development
projects and increase cash returns to
shareholders. In December 2007, our
Board of Directors authorized a 40 percent

increase in our annual commen stock
dividend from $1.25 to $1.75 per share
and a new 20-million-share open market
share purchase program.

The new Freeport-McMoRan, with
operations and projects in the Americas,
Indonesia and Africa, has one of the
most exciting portfolios of operating,
expansion and growth projects in the
copper mining industry.

This globally diverse portfolio of
properties is the basis for the first part
of the theme for this annual report,

“A World of Assets.” The second part of
our theme, “A World of Opportunities,”
is inspired by the significant exploration
and development activities we have
initiated to expand production capacity,
extend the lives of our mines and
develop new ore bodies.

FCX Stock Performance
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NORTH AMERICA

CGur new Safford mine in Arizona
produced its first copper in December
2007, ahead of schedule. In December,
we announced plans to restart our
Climax mine in Colorado, which is
believed to be the largest, highest-grade
undeveloped molybdenum ore body in
the world. We are also moving forward
to restart our Miami mine in Arizona,
expected to begin producing copper in
2010; and we have several incremental
expansion projects in progress.

SOUTH AMERICA

In 2007, we reached capacity from

our recently expanded mill complex

at our Cerro Verde mine, increasing
production of both copper and
molybdenum. We are also pursuing
plans to develop a large sulfide
deposit at El Abra, which shouid begin
producing copper by 2010 and extend
the life of the mine by 10 years.

INDONESIA

Projects are under way to develop
large-scale underground ore bodies

at the Grasberg mine. These include
further expansion of the existing Deep
Ore Zone mine and developing the
high-grade Big Gossan mine, expected
to be complete by 2010; and continued
work on the Common Infrastructure
project to provide access to the Grasherg
underground ore body, the Kucing Liar
ore body and other deposits.

6 Letterto Shareholders

AFRICA

Qur company is operator and 57.75 percent
owner of Tenke Fungurume, believed to
be the largest copper and cobalt mining
concession in the world, located in the
Katanga province of the Democratic
Republic of Congo. Significant
construction activities for this high-
potential project are in progress, with
operations targeted to begin during 2009.

In addition to our long-lived reserve
profile, we have opportunities to expand
our reserves in the large mining districts
where we operate. We have active
exploration programs near our major
sites in the Americas and on the highly
prospective concessions we have in
Africa and Indonesia.

We have created a company that is well
positioned to participate in what we
believe will be a positive copper market
for the future.

From a supply/demand standpoint,

the copper market is well positioned

for producers, Inventories remain at
historically low tevels, The industry is
characterized by limited supplies and a
{arger demand base, primarily because
of the emergence of China as the world’s
largest consumer of copper. Demand for
copper has increased as China, India
and other emerging nations develop
their cities and infrastructure,

In terms of supply, there is an absence
of major new mines under development.
It is very difficult to develop projects

in today’s world, with issues such as
escalating costs, limited availability of
people and equipment, and technicat
and environmental challenges.

Debt

$in billions
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MoRrenct Ming, ARiZONA, with a long history of successful
operations, is our largest-producing copper ming in
North America, and where we continue to pioneer
through technology advances in copper extraction.

These constraints on supply
development are what led us to a view
that the outlook for copper is positive
and our company is well positioned

to benefit from these favorable
conditions.

The acquisition of Phelps Dodge
Corporation combined two companies
with strong core values concerning
environmental protection and impact
mitigation and the support of local
communities where we operate. We
have well established Environmental
and Social, Employment and Human
Rights policies and are taking steps to
ensure that our commitments detailed

in these policies are fully implemented
throughout our worldwide operations.

The year 2008 will be an exciting one for
our company. We want to express our
deepest appreciation to our employees,
who have made our past success
possible through their hard work and
dedication. We especially would like to
thank Tim Snider, cur Chief Operating
Officer, for his 37 years of dedicated
service to Phelps Dodge and his efforts
to ensure the success of the integration
of the two companies. Tim is retiring
effective April 1, 2008.

We also want to extand our sincerest
gratitude to our Board of Directors for

their wisdom, judgment and advice

which led to our successful business
combination and will guide us as we work
to achieve continued success in the future.

Respectfully yours,

oo~

Richard €. Adkerson
President and
Chief Executive Officer

James R. Moffett
Chairman
of the Board

March 17, 2008

Letter to Shareholders 7
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Seizing Opportunities in North America

Through expansion, optimizing production, and the introduction

of new process technology, our North American operations are —
iy s b

well positioned for an exciting future.

Photo: Morenci open-pit mine in Arizona.




Positioned for Success

A series of incremental expansion projects at various sites in North America will
add to an expanding copper production profile. Our standing as the world’s largest
producer of molybdenum will grow stronger as we proceed with the restart of the
Climax mine in Colorado.

NORTH AMERICA

OPERATIONS

Freeport-McMoRan Copper & Geld Inc.
(FCX), through its successful 2007
acquisition and integration of

Phelps Dodge, is a leader in North
American copper production and

is working to optimize and expand
production at its mines in the
southwestern United States (U.S.).

The company operates six copper
mines in two states — Morenci,
Bagdad, Sierrita and Safford in Arizona
and Chino and Tyrone in New Mexico.
All of these mines are wholly owned,
except for Morenci, in which FCX holds
an Bs-percent joint venture interest.
Consolidated pro forma copper sales
from North American operations
totaled 1.3 billion pounds in 2007 and
2006 at average realized prices of
$3.12 per pound in 2007 and $2.26
per pound in 2006, which is net of a
$0.14 per pound impact on 2007 and

a $o.77 impact on 2006 for hedging
losses related to copper price protection
programs. Our North American mines
have long-lived reserves and substantial
additional development potential.

FCX is the world's largest producer

of molybdenum through its whally
owned Henderson molybdenum mine

in Colorado and as a by-product at the
Sierrita, Bagdad, Chino and Morenci
operations in the U.5. and at the Cerro
Verde mine in Peru. The Henderson
block-cave underground mining complex
produces high-purity, chemical-grade
molybdenum concentrates, which are
further processed into value-added
molybdenum chemical products.
Consolidated pro farma molybdenum
sales from the Henderson and by-
product mines totaled 69 million pounds
in 2007 and 2006 at average realized
prices of $25.87 per pound in 2007 and
$21.87 in 2006.

DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS

The Safford mine in Arizona, where
production commenced in late 2007,
is the first new copper mine in North
America in decades. The Safford
operation will produce ore from two

open-pit mines and includes a solution
extraction/electrowiniing (SX/EW)
facility. Ramp up to full production of
240 million pounds of copper per year
is expected in the first half of 2008. The
total capital investment for the Safford
project is approximately $675 million.

A concentrate-leach, direct electrowinning
facility at the Morenci mine in Arizona
was commissioned in 2007. The project
uses the company’s proprietary medium-
temperature, pressure;leaching and
direct electrowinning technology, which
will enhance cost savings by processing
concentrate on-site instead of shipping
the product to smelters for treatment.
This project also included the restart

of a mill. Mill throughput adds 115
million pounds of copper per year and is
operating near capacity of 49,000 metric
tons per day. The capital investment

for these projects at Morenci was
approximately $250 million.

We are pursuing a project to restart the
Climax molybdenum mine near Leadville,

FCX is the world’s largest producer of
molybdenum through its wholly owned
Henderson molybdenum mine in Colorado
and as a by-product at several operations
in the U.S. and Cerro Verde in Peru.

Photo: Henderson molybdenum mine in Colorado

=]
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Colorado. Climax is believed to be the
world’s largest, highest-grade and
lowest-cost undeveloped molybdenum
ore body in the world. The initial project
involves the restart of open-pit mining
and the construction of new milling
facilities. Annual production is expected
to approximate 30 million pounds of
molybdenum beginning in 2010 at
estimated cash costs approximating
$3.50 per pound, The project is
designed to enable the consideration
of further large-scale expansion of the
Climax mine. The capital investment

for the initial project is expected to
approximate $500 million.

We have also announced the restart

of copper mining operations at our
Miami mine in Arizona. We expect full
rates of production of approximately 100
million pounds of copper per year by
2010. The estimated capital investment
to restart the Miami copper mine is
approximately $100 million, primarily
for mining equipment.

In addition to the projects currently

under way, we are continuing to review
expansion opportunities assaciated with
existing ore bodies. As an initial step, we
are pursuing incremental expansions at
the Morenci, Sierrita and Bagdad mines in
Arizona. The estimated capital investment
for these projects is approximately $370
million. Detailed engineering for these
projects is under way.

EXPLORATION

Our exploration efforts in Nerth America
include drilling of the Lane Star deposit
located approximately four miles from
the ore body within the Safford district,
as well as targets in the Morenci

and Bagdad districts, and near the
Henderson meolybdenum ore body.

LEADING THROUGH TECHNOLOGY

FCX produces copper cathode at
leaching and SX/EW operations at
Marenci, Bagdad, Sierrita, Tyrone,
Chino and Safford. We are the world’s
leading producer of copper using

the SX/EW process, which is a cost-
effective method for extracting copper
from certain types of ore, and a major
factor in our continuing efforts to
maintain internationally competitive
costs. FCX is committed to

continuous improvement through
operational excellence and innovation.
Leading scientists and experts at our
Process Technology Center in Arizona
are at work developing cost-effective,
envirenmentally sound and less energy
intensive process improvements.

UNIT NET CASH COSTS

North American pro forma unit net cash
costs, including molybdenum credits,

averaged $0.86 per pound for 2007,
compared with $0.61 per pound in 2006,
Pro forma unit net cash costs at our
North American operations were higher
in 2007 than the previous year because
of higher labor, maintenance, operating
supplies and energy costs and also
reflect higher costs associated with the
ramp up of the Morenci mill operations.
These higher costs were partly offset by
favorable by-product credits as a result
of higher molybdenum prices.

Assuming an average copper price

of $3.00 per pound and an average
molybdenum price of $30 per pound

for 2008 and achievement of current
2008 sales estimates, we estimate that
the 2008 average unit net cash costs

for North American mines, including
molybdenum credits, would approximate
$1.00 per pound of copper.

Henderson’s pro forma unit net cash
costs averaged $4.32 per pound for
2007, compared with $3.71 per pound
in 2006. Henderson’s higher unit net
tash costs per pound of molybdenum
were primarily associated with higher
input costs, including labor, supplies
and service costs, and higher taxes.
These higher costs were partly offset by
lower energy costs resulting from energy
credits received in 2007.

Assuming an average price of $30

per pound of molybdenum for 2008

and achievement of current 2008

sales estimates, we estimate that the
2008 average unit net cash costs for
Henderson would approximate $4.50 per

Concentrate leach technology at
Morenci is among the numerous
projects commissioned in 2007

pound of molybdenum.

See pages 59 through 61 fora
reconciliation of pro forma North
American and Henderson unit net

cash costs per pound to produiction
and delivery costs applicable to pro
forma sales reported in FCX’s pro forma
consolidated financial results.

to optimize production and enhance
cost savings.

10 Operational Overview



Growth and Optimization Lead the Way

SaFFORD MINE, ARiZONA. The first new copper mine to open in North
America in decades commenced operations in 2007 Safford will employ
industry-leading technology to optimize production while minimizing
environmental impact. Additional exploration opportunities exist in the
nearby Lone Star deposit, where a drilling program is under way.

Operational Overview 11
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Expanding Horizons

FCX’s South American operations provide a significant portion of our copper
production and are positioned for significant growth through expansions

and optimization.

SOUTH AMERICA

OPERATIONS

FCX has four operating copper mines in
South America — Cerro Verde in Peru and
Candelaria, Ojos del Salado and El Abra
in Chile.

The company owns a 53.56 percent
interest in Cerro Verde, Bo percent of
the Candelaria and Ojos del Salado
mining complexes, and a 51 percent
interest in El Abra.

Consolidated pro forma copper sales
from these operations totaled 1.4 billion
pounds in 2007, and 1.1 billion pounds
in 2006 at average realized prices of
$3.25 per pound in 2007 and $3.03 per
pound in 2006. The increase in 2007
copper sales reflects higher production
from Cerro Verde resulting from the new
concentrator, which reached design
capacity in mid-2o007.

12 QOperational Overview

DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS

In mid-2007, the recently expanded

milt at Cerro Verce reached design
capacity of 108,000 metric tons of ore
per day. This expansion enables Cerro
Verde to produce approximately 650
million pounds of copper and 8 million
pounds of molybdenum per year for
the next several years. Additionally,

as part of our initial step in reviewing
expansion opportunities associated with
existing ore bodies, we are pursuing an
incremental expansion at Cerro Verde.

At the end of 2006, a feasibility study
was completed to evaluate development
of a large sulfide mineral deposit
underlying the existing oxide ore pit

at Et Abra. This project would extend

the mine life by cver 10 years. Initial
production from the sulfide is expected
to begin in 2010, and is expected to
average approximately 325 million
pounds of copper per year beginning

in 2012. The existing facilities at El

Abra would be used in canjunction with
new facilities to process the additional
reserves, minimizing capital spending
requirements. FCX is currently working
with Chilean authorities on finalizing an
enviranmental impact study associated
with this project. The total capital
investment for the project is expected to
approximate $450 million.

EXPLORATION

Exploration in South America is ongoing
in and around Cerro Verde, Candelaria
and Ojos del Salado.

UNIT NET CASH COSTS

South American pro forma unit net cash
costs, including by-product credits
(primarily gold), averaged $1.02 per
pound for 2007, compared with $0.91 per
pound in 2006. Pro forma unit net cash
costs for our South American operations
were higher in 2007 than the previous
year, primarily reflecting higher costs at
El Abra because of lower copper sales.

In addition, higher pro forma unit net
cash costs reflect the impact of Cerro
Verde’s voluntary contribution programs,
including the liability associated with
local mining fund contributions. These
higher costs were partially offset by
lower overall costs at Cerro Verde
associated with significantly higher
production from the new concentrator.

Assuming an average copper price of
$3.00 per pound and achievement of
current 2008 sales projections, we
estimate that 2008 average unit net
cash costs for South American mines,
including gold and molybdenum
credits, would approximate $1.05 per
pound of copper.

See page 62 for a reconciliation of pro
forma South American unit net cash
costs per pound to production and
delivery costs applicable to pro forma
sales reported in FCX's pro forma
consolidated financial results.
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GRASBERG"MJNE, InpoNesia. The Grasberg Minerals District cantains the
world's largest recoverable copper and gold reserve in a single mining

‘ . district, providing assets with a long life in an area with highly
. - ,tirc;specfr've exploration potentidl,




Strong Foundation

For more than three decades, the FCX and PT Freeport Indonesia team have led the
industry in exploring, developing and mining one of the world’s great minerals
zones — the Grasberg Minerals District in the Indonesian province of Papua.

INDONESIA

OPERATIONS

FCX has a 90.64 percent interest in PT
Freeport Indonesia. Qur consolidated
sales from the Indonesia operation
totaled 1.1 billion pounds of copper and
2.2 million ounces of gold in 2007 at
average realized prices of $3.32 per pound
for copper and $680.74 per ounce for
gold. Consolidated sates from Indonesia
in 2006 totaled 1.2 billion pounds of
copper and 1.7 million ounces of gold at
average realized prices of $3.13 per pound
for copper and $566.51 per ounce for gold.

FCX’s consolidated share of annual
sales from Indonesia in 2008 is
projected to approximate 1.2 billion
pounds of copper and 1.2 million
ounces of gold. At the Grasberg mine,
the sequencing in mining areas with
varying ore grades causes fluctuations
in the timing of ore production,
resulting in varying quarterly and
annual sales of copper and gold, PT
Freeport Indonesia expects to be mining

in a relatively low-grade section of the
Grasberg open pit in the first half of
2008 and in a highey-grade section in
the second half of the year,

DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS

Several projects in progress in the
Grasberg Minerals District aim to
increase production and operating
efficiencies, and to provide foundations
for future development of underground
ore deposits.

In mid-2007, PT Freeport Indonesia
completed the expansion of the capacity
of the Deep Ore Zone (DOZ) underground
operation to allow a sustained rate of
50,000 metric tons of ore per day. A
further expansion of the DOZ mine to
80,000 metric tons per day is under way
with completion targeted by 2010. The
success of the development of the DOZ
mine, already cne of the wortd's largest
underground copper mines, provides
confidence in the future development

of PT Freeport Indonesia's [arge scale
undeveloped underground ore bodies.

Other projects under way include the
development of the high-grade Big
Gossan underground mine, expected

to ramp up to full production of 7,000
metric tons per day in late 2010, and the
continued development of the Common
Infrastructure project, which will provide

access to the large undeveloped ore
bodies located in the Grasherg Minerals
District through a tunnel system located
approximately 400 meters deeper

than the existing underground tunnel
system. This system will also provide
access to conduct future exploration in
prospective areas associated with the
currently identified ore bodies.

An optimization project completed at
the concentrating complex at Grasberg,
including the installation of high
pressure grinding rolls, was completed
in 2007. Further enhancements to mill
throughput are ongoing with completion
targeted during 2008.

EXPLORATION

PT Freeport Indonesia’s exploration
efforts in Jndonesia include testing
extensions of the Deep Grasberg

and Kucing Liar mine complex and
evaluating targets in the area between
the Ertsberg East and Grasberg mineral
systems from the new Common
Infrastructure tunnels. Initial drill
results from the Common Infrastructure
tunnels are positive and additional
drilling is in process. FCX continues its
efforts to resume exploration activities
in certain prospective areas in the
province of Papua outside the Grasberg
Minerals District.

Operational Overview 15
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UNIT NET CASH COSTS

PT Freeport Indonesia’s unit net cash
costs, including gold and silver credits,
averaged $0.2g per pound for 2007,
compared with $0.60 per pound in 2006.
The lower costs in 2007 were primarily
the result of higher gold and silver

The DOZ mine in rhe\Gra's'berg Minerals.District, one of the
world’s largest underg’ragnd mines, continues to exil'and,

credits. Unit site production and delivery
costs vary with fluctuations in sales
volumes because of the fixed nature of
PT Freeport Indonesia’s cost structure,

Assuming average copper prices of
$3.00 per pound and average gold
prices of $8o00 per ounce for 2008

Copper concentrate from
Grasberg is shipped to smelters
around the world.

16 Operational Overview

while industry-leading training initiatives prepare a

skilled local gyorkfprce for the future.

and achievement of current 2008

sales estimates, PT Freeport Indonesia
estimates that 2008 unit net cash costs,
including gold and silver credits, would
approximate $0.80 per pound, primarily
reflecting lower gold volumes.

See pages 64 and 65 for a reconciliation
of Indonesian unit net cash costs per
pound to production and delivery costs
applicable to sales reported in FCX’s
consolidated financial statements .



AFRICA

TENKE FUNGURUME DEVELOPMENT

One of the most exciting minerals
development projects in the world is the
Tenke Fungurume development, which is
under way in the Katanga province of the
Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC), at
the heart of the African copper belt, FCX
holds a 57.75 percent interest in the
Tenke Fungurume copper/cobalt mining
concession, which is believed to include
the largest undeveloped high-grade
copper and cobalt ore body in the world.
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pper,and cobalt ore body in the world today.

Tenke Fungurume mining operations are targeted

to begin during 2009.

The initial project at Tenke Fungurume

is based on initial ore reserve estimates
of approximately 100 million metric tons
with ore grades of 2.3 percent copper
and 0.3 percent cobalt. Construction is in
progress and operations are targeted to
commence in 2009, with average annual
production of approximately 250 million
pounds of copper and 18 million pounds
of cobalt. There is significant potential
to expand the operation to become one
of the world's teading copper/cobalt
mining operations.

FCX is responsible for funding 70
percent of Tenke Fungurume project
development costs and, at our joint
venture partner’s election, is also
responsible for financing our partner’s
share of project costs that exceed 25

percent of the feasibility study cost
estimates, The total capital investment
for the project is currently estimated
at approximately $g00 million,

Capital cost estimates will continue

to be reviewed as engineering and
construction activities progress.

EXPLORATION UPﬁATE

In Africa, FCX is actively pursuing
targets outside of the initial
development at Tenke Fungurume.

Less than half of the 600-square-mile
concession has been explored. The
number of drilt rigs operating on these
and other locatiens near the company’s
mine site has increased significantly
during the past year.

Operational Overview 17
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Financial Performance & Outlook

We have structured our business to use our significant cash flows to invest in
attractive development projects, maintain a strong balance sheet and provide

returns to shareholders.

OPERATING CASH FLOW
AND CASH POSITION

We generated operating cash

flows totaling $6.2 billion for 2007,
including $1.1 billion from working
capital sources, compared with $1.9
billion for 2006, net of $114 million used
for working capital. Operating cash flows
for 2007 benefited from Phelps Dodge’s
operations beginning March 20, 2007,
and also benefited from higher metals
prices. At December 31, 2007,

FCX had consolidated cash of $1.6 billion
and net cash available of $1.1 billion.

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

On March 19, 2007, we issued 136.9
million shares of common stock and
paid $13.9 billion to acquire

Phelps Dodge. Capital expenditures
totaled $1.8 billion for 2007, compared
with $251 million for 2006. The increase
in capital expenditures for 2007,
compared with 2006, primarily resulted

from the addition of $1.3 billion for
Phelps Dodge capital spending beginning
March 20, 2007, including $345 million
associated with the Safford project in
Arizona and $218 million associated with
the Tenke Fungurume project in the DRC.
Also included in capital expenditures for
2007 was $101 million for development
expenditures at Big Gossan and $58
million for infrastructure required for

the development of the underground
Grasberg ore body.

Capital expenditures are expected to
approximate $2.4 billion for 2008, and
average approximatety $1.8 billion per
year over the next three years.

FINANCIAL TRANSACTIONS

At December 31, 2007, we had $7.2
billion in debt, including $6.0 billion
in acquisition debt, $0.8 billion of
debt assumed in the Phelps Dodge
acquisition and $0.4 billion of
previously existing debt. In connection

Our exploration teams are working
around the globe to add to our
recoverable reserves base. We take
a long-term view on managing the
business to maximize the value of
our minerals deposits.

18 Ffinancial Performance & Outlook

with financing the acquisition of

Phelps Dodge, we used $2.5 billion of
available cash (including cash acquired
from Phelps Dodge) and funded the
remainder with term loan borrowings
totaling $10.0 billion under a new $11.5
billion senior credit facility and from the
offering of $6.0 billion in senior notes.

Following the close of the acquisition

and in accordance with our plan to

reduce debt, during 2007 we fully repaid
the $10.0 billion in term loans using

a combination of equity proceeds and
internally generated cash flows. The
equity transactions included the sale of
47.15 million shares of common stock at
$61.25 per share for net proceeds of $2.8
billion and 28.75 million shares of 6 3/.%
Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock for
net proceeds of $2.8 hillion. In addition to
repaying the term loans, during 2007 we
had net repayments of other debt totaling
$325 million,

Capital Expenditures

$in bitlions
$26 ——
$20 ——

$15

$1.0 —| ]

$0.5
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OUTLOOK

FCX’s consolidated sales volumes

for 2008 are currently projected to
approximate 4.3 billion pounds of
copper, 1.3 million ounces of gold and
75 million pounds of molybdenum. The
achievement of sales estimates will
be dependent on the achievement of
targeted mining rates and expansion
plans, the successful operation of
production facilities, the impact of
weather conditions and other factors,

Operating activities are expected to
generate positive cash flows for the
foreseeable future based on anticipated
operating results and metal prices. Based
on estimated sales velumes for 2008
and assuming average prices of $3.00
per pound of copper, $800 per ounce of
gold and $30 per pound of molybdenum
for 2008, our operating cash flows would
approximate $5 billion in 2008, which

is net of approximately $800 million

in working capital uses, including the
$598 million payment in January 2c08 to
settle the 2007 copper price protection
program. Using flat pricing assumptions
for the year, second-half 2008 operating
cash flows would be significantly higher
than the first half.

We expect to generate cash flows
during 2008 significantly greater
than capital expenditures, scheduled
debt maturities, minority interest
distributions, dividends and other
cash requirements.

FINANCIAL POLICY

FCX has a long track record for
maximizing shareholder values through
pursuing development projects with
high rates of return and returning cash
to shareholders through common stock
dividends and share purchases.

Freeport-MciMoRan Copper & Gold Inc.
has a long track record returning cash
to shareholders through common

stock dividends and share purchases.

In December 2007, following the
achievement of our debt reduction target
since the Phelps Dodge acquisition on
March 19, 2007, FCX’s Board of Directors
increased our annual common stock
dividend from $1.25 to $1.75 per share
and approved & new open-market share
purchase program authorizing purchases
totaling 2o million shares.

RESERVES

FCX's estimated consolidated
recoverable reserves at December 31,
2007, include 93.2 billion pounds of
copper, 41.0 million ounces of gold
and 2.0 billion pounds of molybdenum.
Estimated recoverable reserves were
assessed using long-term average
prices of $1.20 per pound of copper,
$450 per ounce of gold and $6.50 per
pound of molybdenum.

Net additions to recoverable copper
reserves during 2007 totaled
approximately 2.3 billion pounds

at the North American mines and
approximately 1.8 billion pounds at
the South American mines because of
higher price assumptions partly offset
by increased costs, These additions
were partly offset by reductions of

approximately 0.7 billion pounds at the
Indonesian mines primarily because
certain ore bodies were reclassified

as mineralized material following

an updated risk assessment of the
proximity to the mill complex and
updates to the long-term mine plans
for the underground ore bodies.

A detailed discussion of our operations
and financial matters, including our
gudited financial statements, is included
in this report. We invite you to review
“Management’s Discussion and
Analysis” as well as the financial
statements in the following pages.

If you have any questions or would

like additional information about FCX
or its affiliates, please contact our
Investor Relations Department,

(602) 366-8400; or access our web site,
www. fcx.com.

Financial Performance & Qutlook
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A World of Commitment

+ As one of the world’s major producers of copper, gold and molybdenum,
we recognize the importance of providing these essential metals to today's
economies. We have an obligation to do so in balance with our corporate
and social responsibilities in order to safeguard future generations.

Photo: Tsinga Village, near the Grasherg mine in Papua, Indonesia.
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Far-Reaching Sustainability

At every community where we operate, we work hard to minimize, mitigate and
remediate our environmental impacts. We implement development initiatives
globally to protect human rights and to support social development in local
communities to provide improved healthcare, education, housing, employment
and business development opportunities.

SUSTAINABILITY

FCX is committed to promoting
sustainable development throughout
its operations, The world depends on
the metals we produce to sustain and
expand economic opportunity and
growth. Qur obligation is to provide
these metals in a responsible manner —
from the time of exploration to site
closure and remediation.

The acquisition of Phelps Dodge
Corporation combined not only our
businesses, but also our respective
commitments to our employees,
neighbors, communities and the
environment, Threugh the integration
of our companies, we adopted new
environmental, health and safety
policies — drawn fram each company’s
strengths — and are applying these
policies across our entire organization.
We have renewed our Business Conduct
Principles, embracing integrity and
ethical business practices as the
foundation of our operations around
the world. As a proud member of the
International Council on Mining and
Metals (ICMM)}, we endarse the ICMM
Sustainable Development Framework
and 10 Sustainable Development
Principles, For several years, we

have published our Working Toward
Sustainable Development (WTSD)
Report, which is a companion document
to this annual report and describes our
progress in these areas:

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

Our mining operations provide
economic benefits to the communities
in which we operate. These include
direct benefits through the payment of
taxes and royalties and for voluntary
programs as well as indirect benefits
through wages, the purchase of goods
and services, and infrastructure
investments.

SOCIAL DEVELOPMENT

We can best ensure the long-term
viability and success of the communities
near our operations by working closely
with the communities themselves. Our
efforts are focused on understanding
community needs, providing appropriate
financial support, offering our expertise
and energizing employee involvement
and volunteerism.

ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT

We focus on minimizing environmental
impacts, protecting and enhancing the
quality of the environment, and
continuously improving our performance
in this area, We operate in areas of the
world rich in biodiversity, and we work
hard to preserve valuable habitat and
species,

SAFETY

We strive for continuous safety
improvement to achieve our vision
of a workplace free of injuries and
occupational illness. Injury and
lost-time rates at FCX operations
worldwide are well below the U.S.
mtining industry averages,

Building and sustaining strong
communities and robust, diverse
economies in communities near our
operations sites is a responsibility
we share and communicate with local
governments, civic groups, business
leaders and community members.

Photo: Community school near Cerro Verde mine in Peru.

Economic, Social & Environmental Overview 21




#

FREEPORT-McMoORAN COPPER & GOLD INC.
2007 Annual Report

,
T
P
L

LS

Y
oy
ay \“‘{
o
.

L2
e

.

A
»

Stnkmg a Balanc USRS

Beyond our formally adopted pohcres to responsrbfy manage our. enwmnmenta[ .
Jmpacts we work toward contrnuous :mprovement nour programs, recogmzmg
,that our work requ:res a sense of social and" enwmnmental respons:b:hty that can

be measured and properly communicated to all srakeho!ders o T
Photo. A reclaimed opgratiors site at Tyrone ming'in New Mexu:n ,

. va
’, . e .
’ ’ . ‘r
£ Do e
) - . "
.. . . . , at
-Economic,-Social & Environmental Qverview . '

. -

—_

Vo T




A World of Progress

We believe that our most importanf asset is our people and that achieving zero injuries
and occupational illness and maintaining that standard is the only acceptable {evel
of performance.

For more detailed information on these
issues, please see our “Working Toward
Sustainable Development Report” as well
as our report on the Global Reporting
Initiative (GRI} sustainability indicators
on our web site (www.fcx.com).

For a physical copy, please e-mail is at
FMS_Communications@fmi.com, or
contact the Communications Department.

Economic, Social & Environmental Overview 23
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Board of Directors & Managemenmnt

Board of Directors

James R. Moffett, 1992 T
Chairman of the Board
Freeport-McMoRan Copper & Gold Inc.

Richard C. Adkerson, 2006
President and Chief Executive Officer
Freeport-McMoRan Copper & Gold Inc.

Robert ). Allison, Jt., 2001 (2, 3, 4)
Director and Chairman Emeritus
Anadarko Petroleum Corporation

Robert A. Day, 1995 {1, 3}
Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer
Trust Company of the West

Gerald J. Ford, 2000 (1, 2)
Chairman of the Board
First Acceptance Corporation

H. Devon Graham, Jr., 2000 (1, 2)
President
R.E. Smith Interests

t Year Joined Board

J. Bennett Johnston, 1997 {4}
Chairman

Johnston & Associates, LLC and
Johnston Development Co. LLC
Former United States Senator

General Charles C. Krulak, 2007 (4)
Former Commandant,

United States Marine Corps

Retired Executive Vice Chairman and
Chief Administration Officer, MBNA Corp.

Bobby Lee Lackey, 1995 (2, 4)
Consultant

Jen €. Madonna, zo07 (1)
Retired Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer, KPMG LLP

Dustan E, McCoy, 2007 (4)
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer,
Brunswick Corporation

Gabrielle K. McDonald, 1995 (4}

Judge, Iran-United States Claims Tribunal
Special Counsel on Human Rights to
Freeport-McMoRan Copper & Gold Inc.

B. M. Rankin, Jr., 1995 (4)

Vice Chairman of the Board
Freeport-McMoRan Copper & Gold Inc.
Private Investor

]. Stapleton Roy, 2001 (4)

Vice Chairman

Kissinger Associates, Inc.

Former United States Ambassador
to Indonesia

Stephen H. Siegele, 2006 (1, 4)
Private Investor

Dr. J. Taylor Wharton, 1995 (4)
Retired Special Assistant to the
President for Patient Affairs
Professor, Gynecologic Oncology
The University of Texas

M.D. Anderson Cancer Center

Director Emeritus

Dr. Henry A. Kissinger
Chairman

Kissinger Associates, Inc,

BOARD COMMITTEES: The Board has established the following committees to provide for effective direction and management of the Company’s business:

1) The Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling the Board's oversight responsibilities by monitoring (a) the Company’s continuing development and performance of its system of financial
reporting, auditing, internal controls and legal and regulatory compliance, (b) the aperation and integrity of the system, () perfermance and qualifications of the Company’s independent
external and internal auditors and (d) the independence of the Company’s independent auditors.

2) The Corporate Personnel Committee sets the compensation of the chairman of the board, the chief executive officer and senior management, and administers the Company's annual

incentive, long-term incentive and stock incentive plans.

3} The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee recommends individuals 1o the Board for nomination as directors for election by stockhotders as well as monitors and makes
recommendatiens to the Beard concerning corporate governance matters.,

4) The Public Policy Committee oversees the Company’s (a) governmental and community relations and information programs, (b} compliance programs relating to the Company’s social,
employment, and human rights policies, (¢} safety and environmental programs and (d) charitable and philanthropic contributions,

flanagement

James R. Moffett
Chairman of the Board

Richard C. Adkerson
President and Chief Executive Officer

Michael ). Arnold
Executive Vice President and
Chief Administrative Officer

Kathleen L. Quirk
Executive Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
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Operations

Harry M. “Red” Conger
President - Freeport-McMoRan Americas

Mark ). Jobnson
Chief Operating Officer — Indonesia

Armando Mahler
President Director — PT Freeport Indonesia

John 0. Marsden
President — Freepart-McMoRan Mining
Company

Philtip 5. Brumit
President — Freeport-McMoRan Africa

David H. Thoraton
President — Climax Molybdenum Co.

Marketing

Javier Targhetta
President - Atlantic Copper, S.A.
Senior Vice President — FCX Concentrates

Stephen T, Higgins
President — Freeport-McMoRan Sales Co.
Vice President — FCX Cathode and Rod

Finance and Administration

L. Richards McMillan, 1l
Senior Vice President and
General Counsel

C. Donald Whitmire, Jr.
Vice President and
Controller - Financial Reporting

Internal Auditors
Deloitte & Touche LLP
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Selected Financial and Operating Data

Years Encled December 31, 2007% 2006 2005 . 2004 2003
{in Miftions, Except Per Share Amounts)

FCX CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

Revenues $16,939> § 579 $4,179 $2,372 $2,212
Operating income 6,5550¢ 2,869 2177 704¢ 823
Income from continuing operations (appticable to common stock} before

cumulative effect of accounting changes 2,734 1,396 935 157 170
Income from discontinued operations, net of taxes 35 - - - -
Cumulative effect of accounting changes, net - - - - (18"
Net income applicable to common stock 2,76abc0f 1 306R4 9354 15708t 154¢
Basic net income per share of common stock:

Continuing operations $ 8.02 $ 732 $ 518 $ 0.86 $ 099

Discontinued operations 0.10 - - - —

Basic net income per share of common stock $ 812 $ 7.32 $ 518 $ 0.86 $ 099
Diluted net income per share of common stock:

Continuing operations . $ 741 $§ 6.63 $ 467 $ 085 $ 097

Discontinued operations 0.09 - - - -
Diluted net income per share of common stock $ 75000 § 66308 § 467 $ 0.85%0f $ 0.97°0
Basic average shares ouistanding ’ 341 191 180 182 156
Diluted average shares outstanding ' 397 221 220 185 159
Dividends declared per common share $ 1.375 $5.0625 $ 2.50 $ 1.10 $ 027
At December 31;
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,626 $ 907 $ 764 $ 552 3 499
Property, plant, equipment and development costs, net 25,715 3,009 3,089 3,199 3,262
Goodwill 6,105 - - - -
Total assets 40,661 5,3909 5,550 5,087 4718
Long-term debt, including current portion and short-term borcowings 7,211 680 1,256 1,952 2228
Total stockholders’ equity 18,234 2,4450 1,843 1,164 776

The selected consofidated financial data shown above Js derfved from our audited consolidated financial statements. These historical resuits are not necassarily indicative
of results that you can expect for any future perlod. You should read this data in conjunction with Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations and our full consolidated financial statements and notes thereto contained in this annual report.

4. Incluges the results of Phelps Dodge Corporation (Phelps Cedpe) beginning March 26, 2007,

b. Includes charges to revenues for mark-lo-market accounting adjustments on the 2007 copper price protection program assumed in the acquisttion of Phetps Dodgs totating $175 miflion ($106 million to net income of $0.27
per share).

¢. Includes purchase accounting impacts of $1.3 billion ($793 million to net income or $2,00 per share) related to the acquisition of Phelps Dodge.

d. includes a $95 million {$49 milion to ret income or $0.26 per share) gain on insurance setllement related to the fourth-guarter 2003 slippage and debis flow events at the Grasberg open pit and a $12 milben {12 milion to
net income or $0.06 per share) charge Jelated o Allantic Copper’s woridorce reduction plan.

@ Includes net losses on early extinguishment of debt totaling $132 million (80.33 per share) in 2007, $30 milion (30.14 per share) in 2006, $40 milion ($0.38 per share} in 2005, $7 million ($0.04 per share} in 2004 and
$32 million ($0.20 per sharg) in 2003.

1. Includes gatns of $52 million {$0.13 per share) in 2007 retated o sales of marketable securities, $30 million ¢50.33 per share) in 2006 related o the cisposition of land and certain royaity rights at Atiartic Copper, $5 million
(0.0 per share) in 2005 and $20 million ($0.11 per share} in 2004 from the Sale of land In Arizona held by an FCX joim venture, and an additional $7 miffion ($0.04 per share) in 2004 &om Atantic Coppes's sale of its wire
rod and wira assets.

q. Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted Emerging lssues Task Force lssue No. 04-6, *Accounting for Stripping Costs lncurred during Production in the Mining industry” (EITF 04-6), and recorded our deferred mining costs asset
(5285 million) as of December 31, 2005, net of taxes, minority interest share and inventory effects ($136 million), as a cumulative effect adjustment to reduce beginning retainec eamings. As a resul of adopting EITF 04-6,
income from continuing oparations before Income taxes and minority interests was $35 milfion lower and net income was $19 million (50,06 per share) lower than if we had not adopted ETF 04-6. Effective Jamsary 1, 2006,
we also adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (5FAS) No. 123 (revised 2004}, *Share-Based Payment” (SFAS No. 123A). As a result of adopting SFAS No. 123R, income from continuing operations belore
income taxes and minority interests was $28 million lower and net income was $16 million (30.07 per share) lower than if we had not adopted SFAS No. 123R. Results for prior years have not been restated.

h. Effective January 1, 2003, we adopted SFAS No. 143, “Accounting lor Asset Retirement Obigations,” and recorded a $3 million (30.06 per share} cumulative effect gain. Efective July 1, 2003, we adopted SFAS No. 150,
*Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabiities and Equity,” and recorded a $25 million (80.16 per share) cumutative eftect chasge.
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Selected Financial and Operating Data

Years Ended December 31, 2007° 2006? 20052 20042 2003

FCX PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED OPERATING DATA, Net of Jaint Venture Interests

Copper (recoverable)
Production {millions of pounds) 3,884 3,639 3,012 3518 3,748
Production {thousands of metric tons) 1,762 1,651 1,774 1,586 1,701
Sates {millions of pounds) 3,862 3,630 3,933 3,530 3,775
Sales (thousands of metric tons} 1,752 1,647 1,784 1,601 1,712
Average realized price per pound, excluding hedging $ 328 ¢$ 306 $§ 176 $ 133 § 082
Average realized price per pound, including hedging $ 32® § 279" $§ 167 $ 133 § 082
Gold (recoverable)
Proguction (thousands of ounces) 2,329 1,863 2,923 1,591 2,592
Sales (thousands of ounces) 2,320 1,866 2,925 1,577 2,604
Average realized price per ounce $ 681.80 $ 566.11° $ 45380 § 41085 $ 364.40
Molybdenum (recoverable)
Production (mitlions of pounds) 70 68 62 57 52
Sales (millions of pounds} 69 69 60 63 54
Average realized price per pound $ 26587 § 2187 § 2589 $ 1271 % 578
CONSOLIDATED NORTH AMERICAN MINING OPERATING DATA, Net of Joint Venture Interest (Pro Forma)
Copper {recoverable)
Production {millions of pounds) 1,320 1,305 1,365 1,384 1,296
Production {thousands of metric tons) 589 592 619 628 588
Sales (millions of pounds) 1,332 1,303 1,383 1,393 1,316
Sales (thousands of metric tons) 604 53 627 632 597
Average realized price per pound, excluding hedging $ 326 $ 303 § 167 % 129 $ 082
Average realized price per pound, including hedging $ 312 5 226" § 149" § 129 § 082
Molybdenum {recoverable)
Preduction (millions of pounds) 69 68 62 57 52
Sales (millions of pounds) 69 69 60 63 54
Average realized price per poundg $ 2587 § 2187 $ 2589 $ 1271 $ 578
CONSOLEIDATED SOUTH AMERICAN MINING OPERATING DATA (Pro Forma)
Copper {recoverable)
Production {millions of pounds) 1,413 1,133 1,091 1,137 1,181
Production {thousands of metric tons) 641 514 435 516 b27
Sales {millions of pounds) 1,399 1,126 1,093 1,145 1,163
Sales {thousands of metric tons) 635 511 496 519 527
Average realized price per pound, excluding hedging $ 325 $ 303 $ 175 % 133 §$ 083
Average realized price per pound, including hedging $ 325 $ 303 § 163 $ 133 $ 083
Gold (recoverable) '
Production {thousands of ounces) 116 112 17 122 127
Sales {thousands of ounces) 114 111 17 122 127
Average realized price per ounce $ 70081  $ 55170 § 42532 § 40914  $ 34812
Molybdenum {recoverable)
Production (millions of pounds) 1 - - - -
CONSOLIDATED INDONESIAN MINING OPERATING DATA, Net of Rio Tinta's Joint Venture Interest
Copper {recoverable)
Production {millions of pounds) 1,151 1,201 1,456 ag7 1,292
Production {thousands af metric tons) 522 545 660 452 586
Sales {millions of pounds) 1,131 1,201 1,457 992 1,296
Sales {thousands of metric tons) 513 545 661 450 588
Average realized price per pound $ 332 ¢$ 313 & 18 % 137 $ 082
Gold {recoverable)
Production {thousands of ounces) 2,198 1,732 2,789 1,456 2,463
Sales ({thousands of ounces) 2,185 1,736 2,790 1,443 2,470
Average realized price per ounce § 68074 5 566.51° § 45627 § 41232  $ 366.60

[

. Includes Phelps Dodge's pre-acquisition results for comparative purposes only.
b. Includes the impact of hedging losses related o copper price protection programs.
¢ Amount was approximately $G06 per ounce before a koss resulting from the redemplion of FCX's Gotd-Denominated Preferred Stock, Series 1.
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Selected Financial and Operating Data

Years Ended December 31, 20072 20067 2005° 2004 2003?
100% NORTH AMERICAN MINING OPERATING DATA, Including Joint Venture Interest
Solution extraction/electrowinning (SX/EW) operations
Leach ore placed in stockpiles (metric tons per day) 798,200 801,200 778,500 742,800 624,100
Average copper ore grade (percent) 0.23 0.30 0.26 0.27 0.31
Copper production (millions of recoverable pounds) 940 1,013 1,066 1,134 1,139
Mill operations '
Ore milled (metric tons per day) 223,200 199,300 194,800 166,400 131,100
Average ore grade (percent):
Copper 0.35 0.33 0.33 0.36 0.36
Malybdenum 0.02 0.02 0.03 0.03 .04
Production (miliions of recoverable pounds):
Copper 501 414 419 375 3
Molybdenum (by-product) 30 31 30 30 30
Molybdenum operations (Henderson)
Qre mifled {metric tons per day) 24,000 22,200 20,300 16,800 12,600
Average molybdenum ore grade (percent) 0.23 0.23 0.22 0.23 0.26
Molybdenum production {millicns of recoverable pounds) 39 37 32 27 22
100% SOUTH AMERICAN MINING QOPERATING DATA
SX/EW operations
Leach ore placed in stockptles {metric tons per day) 289,100 257,400 264,600 233,600 252,600
Average copper ore grade (percent) 0.43 0.45 0.46 0.51 0.51
Copper production (milliens of recoverable pounds) 569 695 670 676 692
Mill operations
Ore milled (metric tons per day) 167,900 68,500 68,700 69,700 65,600
Average copper ore grade (percent) 0.74 0.87 0.84 0.91 0.87
Production {miltions of recoverable pounds)
Copper 844 438 421 462 469
Molybdenum 1 - - - -
100% INDONESIAN MINING OPERATING DATA, Including Rio Tinto’s Joint Venture Interest
Qre milled {metric tons per day) 212,600 229,400 216,200 185,100 203,000
Average ore grade
Copper (percent 0.82 0.85 113 0.87 1.09
Gold (grams per metric ton) 1.24 0.85 1.65 0.58 1,54
Recovery rates {percent)
Copper 90.5 86.1 89.2 88.6 89.0
Gold 86.2 80.9 83. 818 87.3
Production (recoverable)
Copper {millions of pounds) 1,21 1,300 1,689 1,099 1,923
Gold {thousands of ounces} 2.608 1,624 3,440 1,537 3,164

a. Includes Phelps Dodge’s pre-acquisition results for comparative purposes only.
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OVERVIEW
In Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations, "we,” “us” and “our” refer to Freeport-McMoRan
Copper & Gold Inc. (FCX) and its consolidated subsidiaries, including,

) except as otherwise stated, Phelps Dodge Corporation (Phelps Dodge} and
its subsidiaries, which we acquired on March 19, 2007. The results of

operations reported and summarized below are not necessarily indicative

of fulure operating results. In particular, the financial results for 2007
include the operations of Phelps Dodge from March 20, 2007, through
December 31, 2007, because of the accounting treatment for the
acquisition. References fo “Notes™ refer to the “Notes to Consofidated
Financial Statements.” Throughout Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Resulls of Operations all dollar
amounts included in tables are in miflions (except per share amounts) and
all references to earnings or losses per share are on a diluted basis,
unless otherwise noted.

Through our wholly owned subsidiary, Phelps Dodge, and our majority-
owned subsidiary, PT Freeport Indonesia, we are one of the world's
largest copper, gold and molybdenum mining companies in terms of
reserves and producticn. The Grasberg minerals district contains the
largest single recoverable copper reserve and the largest single gold
reserve of any mine in the world based on the latest available reserve
data provided by third-party industry consultants.

On March 19, 2007, we acquired Phelps Dodge, a fully integrated
producer of copper and molybdenum, with mines in North and South
America and processing capabilities for other by-praduct minerals, such
as gold, silver and rhenium, and severa! development projects,
including Tenke Fungurume in the Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC),

In North America, we have six operating copper mines — Morenci,
Bagdad, Sierrita and Safford in Arizona and Chino and Tyrone in New
Mexico, as well as one operating molybdenum mine — Henderson in
Colorado. In addition, we have announced plans to restart the Miami
copper mine in Arizona, and the Climax molybdenum mine in Colorado.
All of these mining operations are wholly owned, except for Morenci.

We record our 85 percent interest in Morenci, an unincorporated joint
venture, using the proportionate consolidation method. The North
American mining operations are operated in an integrated fashion and
have long-lived reserves with additional development potential.

In South America, we have four operating copper mines - Cetro Verde
in Peru, and Candelaria, Ojos del Salado and EI Abra in Chile. We own a
53.56 percent interest in Cerro Verde, an 80 percent interest in both
Candelaria and Qjos del Salado and a 51 percent interest in El Abra. We
consolidate the results of these operations and report the minority interests.

We own 90.64 percent of PT Freeport Indonesia, including 9.36 percent
owned through our wholly owned subsidiary, PT Indocopper Investama.
The Government of Indonesia owns the remaining 9.36 percent of PT
Freeport indonesia. PT Freeport Indonesia operates under an agreement,
called a Contract of Work, with the Government of Indonesia. The Contract
of Work allows us to conduct exploration, mining and production activities

in a 24,700-acre area called Block A located in Papua, Indonesia. Under
the Contract of Work, PT Freeport Indenesia also conducts exploration
activities (which had been suspended, but resumed in 2007} in an
approximate 500,000-acre area called Block B in Papua. All of PT Freeport
Indonesia's proven and probable mineral reserves and current mining
operations are located in Block A.

We also operate Atlantic Copper S.A. (Atlantic Copper), a wholly owned
subsidiary, located in Spain. Atlantic Copper's operations involve the
smelting and refining of copper concentrates and the marketing of refined
copper and precious metals in slimes. Additionally, PT Freepor! Indonesia
owns a 29 percent interest in PT Smelting, an Indonesian company, which
operates a copper smelter and refinery in Gresik, Indonesia.

Phelps Dodge also had an international manufacturing division, Phelps
Dodge International Corporation (PDIC), which manufactured engineered
wire and cable products principatly for the global energy sector. On
October 31, 2007, FCX completed the sale of PDIC. As a result of the sale,
the operating results of PDIC have been removed from continuing
operations and reported as discontinued operations in the consolidated
statements of income for the year ended December 31, 2007. Refer to
Note 4 for further discussion of discontinued operations.

ACQUISITION OF PHELPS DODGE

Phetps Dodge became our wholly owned subsidiary on March 19, 2007,
In the acquisition, each share of Phelps Dodge common stock was
exchanged for 0.67 of a share of FCX common stock and $88.00 in cash.
As a result, we issued 136.9 miltion shares and paid $18.0 billion in cash
1o Phelps Dodge shareholders for total consideration of approximately
$26 billion. The estimated fair vatue of assets acquired and liabilities
assumed and the resufts of Phelps Dodge’s operations are inctuded in our
consolidated financial staternents beginning March 20, 2007,

At December 31, 2007, the carrying value of goodwill, which is
assaciated with our acquisition of Phelps Dodge, totaled $6.1 billion.
Goodwil! represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair
value of net tangible and identified intangible assets and is atiributable
to potential strategic and financial benefits that are expected to be
realized. Refer to Note 2 for further discussion of these potential benefits.

Accounting for the Acquisition of Phelps Dodge. The acquisition
of Phelps Dodge is being accounted for under the purchase method as
required by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS)

No. 141, “Business Combinations,” with FCX as the accounting acquirer.
Refer to Note 2 for a summary of the approximate $26 billion purchase
price, which was funded through a combination of common shares
issued, borrowings under an $11.5 billion senior credit facility, proceeds
from the offering of $6.0 bilfion of senior notes and available cash
resources (including cash acquired from Phelps Dodge).

In accordance with the purchase method of accounting, the purchase
price paid was determined at the date of the public announcement
of the transactfon and has been allocated to the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed based upon their estimated fair values on the
acquisition date of March 19, 2007. Adjustments to the estimated fair
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values, which were initially recorded based on preliminary estimates,
may occur until such values are finalized in first-quarter 2008. In
valuing acquired assets and assumed liabilities, fair values were based
on, but were not limited to: quoted market prices, where available;

our intent with respect to whether the assets purchased were to be held,
sold or abandoned; expected future cash flows; current replacement
cost for similar capacity for certain fixed assets; market rate
assumptions for contractual obligations; and appropriate discount rates
and growth rates. The excess of the purchase price over the estimated
fair value of the net assets acquired has been recorded as goodwill. At
the acquisition date, price projections used to value the assets acquired
ranged from near-term prices of $2.98 per pound of copper and
$26.20 per pound of molybdenum to long-term average prices of $1.20
per pound of copper and $8.00 per pound of molybdenum.

The following table summarizes the impacts of purchase accounting
fair value adjustments in 2007 and the projected 2008 impacts on
production and delivery costs and depreciation, depletion and amortization
expense associated with the increases in the carrying values of Phelps
Dodge's metal inventories (including mifl and leach stockpiles) and
property, plant and equipment, and also includes the impact associated
with the amortization of intangible assets and liabilities resulting from the
acquisition. These net charges do not affect cash flows and are subject
to change as FCX finalizes the purchase price allocation in first-quarter
2008 (refer to Note 2 for a summary of the preliminary purchase price
allocation). Additionally, inventories (including mill and leach stockpiles) are
subject to lower of cost or market assessments, and declines in metals
prices could result in future impairment charges.

{Projected)
2007 2008
Production and defivery costs $ 737 & 860
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 595 940
Amortization of intangibles and other {76) 75

Reduction of operating income

Reduction of income from continuing operations $ 785 § 670

a. The estimated reduction in operating income for 2008 is expected to decline, compared with 2007,
primarily because of 8 decreased impact on production and defivery costs from inventory valuations as
the most significant increases in inventory values were realized in 2007, partiy offset by increases in
{1) depreciation, depletion and amortization reflecting a full year impact for 2008 and higher values for
acquired property, piant and equipment resutting from revised valuations completed in fourth-quarter
2007 and (i) amortization cf net intangible assets in 2008, compared with the amortization of net
intangible liabilities in 2007, which included the amortization of unfavorable sales contracts (refer to
Hote 7).

COPPER, GOLD AND MOLYBDENUM MARKETS

The graphs below are intended to illustrate the movements in metals
prices during the periods presented. World metal prices for copper have
fluctuated significantly from 1992 through January 2008, with the
London Metal Exchange (LME) spot copper price varying from a low of
approximately $0.60 per pound in 2001 to a high of approximately $4.00
per pound in May 2006. World gold prices have also fluctuated widely
from 1998 through January 2008 from a low of approximately $250 per
ounce in 1999 to a high of over $920 per ounce at the end of January
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2008. During the period from 1998 through January 2008, Metals Week
Malybdenum Dealer Oxide prices have ranged from a low of $2.00 per
pound in 1998 to a high of $40.00 per pound in June 2005. Copper, gold
and molybdenum prices are affected by numerous factors beyond our
contro! as described further in our “Risk Factors® contained in Part ), ltem
1A of our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007.

Historical LME Spot Gopper Price
Through January 31, 2008
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The graph above presents LME spot copper prices and reported stocks
of copper at the LME and New York Commuodity Exchange (COMEX)
through January 31, 2008, From 2003 through 2005, global demand
exceeded supply, evidenced by the decline in exchange warehouse
inventaries. LME and COMEX inventories have risen from the 2005
lows, but combined stocks of approximately 211,000 metric tons

at December 31, 2007, remain at historically low levels, representing
approximately four days of global consumption. Disruptions associated
with strikes, unrest and other operational issues resulted in low levels
of inventory throughout 2006 and 2007. In 2007, copper prices
remained strong, but volatile, with LME copper prices ranging from
$2.37 per pound to $3.77 per pound during the year, and averaging
$3.23 per pound. Future copper prices may continue to be volatile and
are expected to be influenced by demand from China, economic
activity in the United States (U.S.) and other industrialized countries, the
timing of the development of new supplies of copper, production levels
of mines and copper smelters and the level of direct participation by
investors. We consider the current underlying supply and demand
conditions in the global copper markets to be positive for our company
and continue to pursue opportunities to expand production. The LME
spot price closed at $3.77 per pound on February 22, 2008.
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London Gold Prices
Through January 31, 2008

Gold prices averaged approximately $695 per ounce in 2007, with prices
ranging from approximately $608 per ounce to a high of approximately
$842 per ounce. On February 22, 2008, London gold prices closed at
approximately $945 per ounce. Gold prices continued to be supported by
increased investment demand for gold, ongoing geopolitical tensions, a
weak U.S. dollar, inflationary pressures and reduced mine supply.

Metals Week Molybdenum Dealer Oxide Prices
Through January 31, 2008
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Molybdenum markets have been strong in recent years as demand has
exceeded available supplies. During 2007, the molybdenum market
was generally balanced with prices ranging from $24.30 per pound to
$34.25 per pound and averaging $30.23 per pound. The Metals Week
Molybdenum Dealer Oxide price closed at $33.25 per pound on
February 18, 2008.

CRITICAL AGCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations is based on our consolidated financial statements, which
have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles {GAAP) in the U.5. The preparation of these statements requires
that we make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. We base these
estimates on historical experience and on assumptions that we consider
reasonable under the circumstances; however, reported results could
differ from those based on the current estimates under different
assumptions or conditions. The areas requiring the use of management's
estimates are discussed further in Note 1 under the subheading “Use of
Estimates.” Management has reviewed the following discussion of its
development and selection of critical accounting estimates with the Audit
Committee of our Board of Directors.

Mineral Reserves and Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization.
As discussed in Note 1, we depreciate our life-of-mine mining and milling
assets and values assigned to proven and probable reserves using the
unit-of-production method based on our estimated recoverable proven
and probable copper reserves (for our copper mines) and estimated
recoverable proven and probable molybdenum reserves {for our
molybdenum mines). We have other assets that we depreciate on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Our estimates
of recoverable proven and probable copper and motybdenum reserves
and the useful lives of our straight-line assets impact our depreciation,
depletion and amortization expense. These estimates affect the results
of operations of our operating segments.

Accounting for depreciation, depletion and amortization represents a
critical accounting estimate because the determination of reserves
involves uncertainties with respect to the uttimate geology of our reserves
and the assumptions used in determining the economic feasibility of
mining those reserves, including estimated copper, gold and molybdenum
prices and costs of conducting future mining activities. Additionally,
changes in estimated recoverable proven and probable reserves and useful
asset lives can have a material impact on net income, We perform annual
assessments of our existing assets, including a review of asset costs and
depreciable lives, in connection with the review of mine operating and
development plans. When we determine that assigned asset lives do not
reflect the expected remaining period of benefit, we make prospective
changes to those depreciable lives.

There are a number of uncertainties inherent in estimating quantities of
reserves, including many factors beyond our control. Ore reserve estimates
are based upon engineering evaluations of samplings of drill holes, tunnels
and other underground workings. Our estimates of recoverable proven and
probable reserves arg prepared by our employees, and a majority of these
estimates are reviewed and verified by independent axperts in mining,
geology and reserve determination. At December 31, 2007, consolidated
recoverable reserves include 93.2 billion pounds of copper, 41.0 million
ounces of gold and 2.0 biltion pounds of malybdenum. Refer to “Proven and
Probable Reserves” and Note 19 for further details of estimated recoverable
reserves. These estimates involve assumptions regarding future copper,
gold and malybdenum prices, the geology of our mines, the mining methods
we use and the related costs we incur to develop and mine our reserves.
Changes in these assumptions could result in material adjustments to our
reserve estimates, which could resuft in changes to depreciation, depletion
and amortization expense in future periods, with corresponding adjustments
to net income. f estimated copper reserves at our mings were 10 percent
higher at December 31, 2007, based on our current sales projections for
2008, we estimate that our annual depreciation, depletion and amortization
expense for 2008 would decrease by $98 million ($51 to net income),
and a 10 percent decrease would increase depreciation, depletion and
amortization expense for 2008 by $118 million ($62 million to net income).

As discussed in Note 1, we review and evaluate our long-lived assets
for impairment when events or changes in economic circumstances
indicate that the refated carrying amount of such assets may not be
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recoverable. Our long-lived assets include amounts assigned to proven and
probable reserves totaling $13.8 billion at December 31, 2007. Changes

to our estimates of recoverable proven and probable reserves could have
an impact on our assessment of asset impairment. Revisions to our estimates
of recoverable proven and probable copper, gold and molybdenum
reserves could give rise 10 an impairment of our assets.

Recoverable Copper. We record, as inventory, applicable costs for
copper contained in mill and leach stockpiles that are expected to be
processed in the future based on proven processing technologies. Mill and
leach stockpiles are evaluated periodically to ensure that they are stated
at the lower of cost or market. Accounting for recoverable copper from
mill and leach stockpiles represents a critical accounting estimate
because (j) it is generally impracticable to determine copper contained in
mill and leach stockpiles by physical count, and therefore, requires
management to employ reasonable estimation methods and (i} recovery
rates from leach stockpiles can vary significantly. The quantity of material
delivered o mill and leach stockpiles is based on surveyed volumes of
mined material and daily production records. Sampling and assaying of
biasthole cuttings determine the estimated copper grade contained in
the material delivered to the mill and leach stockpiles.

Expected copper recovery rates for mill stockpiles are determined
by metallurgical testing. The recoverable copper in mill stockpiles, once
entered into the production process, can be extracted inio copper
concentrate almost immediately.

Expected copper recovery rates for leach stockpiles are determinad
using small-scale laboratory tests, small- to large-scale column testing
{which simulates the production-scale process), historical trends and
other factors, including mineralogy of the ore and rock type. Ultimate
recovery of copper contained in leach stockpiles can vary significantly
from a low percentage to more than 90 percent depending on several
variables, including type of copper recovery, mineralogy and particle size
of the rock. For newly placed material on active stockpiles, as much as 70
percent of the copper ultimately recoverable may be extracted during the
first year, and the remaining copper may be recovered over many years.

Processes and recovery rates are monitored continuously, and
recovery rate estimates are adjusted periodically as additional information
becomes available and as related technology changes.

At December 31, 2007, estimated recoverable copper was 2.6 billion
pounds in leach stockpiles {with a carrying vatue of $1.6 billion) and 0.9
billion pounds in mill stockpiles (with a carrying value of $254 million).

Carrying Value of Goodwill. At December 31, 2007, the carrying value
of goodwill totaled $6.1 biflion, which is associated with our acquisition
of Phelps Dodge. In accordance with accounting rules, goodwill resulting
from a business combination is assigned to the acquiring entity’s
reporting units that are expected to benefit from the business
combination. Adjustments to the recorded values of the assets acquired
and liabilities assumed in the acquisition of Phelps Dodge will occur until
such values are finalized. Accordingly, the allocation of goodwill to
reporting units, which we have determined will include our individual mines,
will be completed when we finalize our purchase price aliocation in
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first-quarter 2008. Our approach to allocating goodwill includes the
identification of the reporting units we believe have contributed to the
excess purchase price and also includes consideration of the reporting
unit's potential for future growth.

Goodwill is required to be evaluated on at least an annual basis and at
any other time if events or circumstances indicate that such carrying
amount may no longer be recoverable. if we determine that the carrying
value of a reporting unit exceeds its fair vatue at the time of the evaluation
the shortfall would be charged to eamings. Our evaluations are based on
business plans developed using near-term price forecasts reflective of the
current price environment and management’s projections for long-term
average metal prices.

FCX will perform annual impairment tests of goodwill during the fourth
quarter of each year, and upon the occurrence of events or circumstances
in an interim period that may indicate impairment. Although the allocation
of goodwill to reporting units has not yet been finalized, we performed
an initial impairment evaluation in fourth-guarter 2007 basedon a
preliminary allocation and conctuded that there was no impairment of
goodwill as of December 31, 20067.

Projected copper prices represent the most significant assumption
used in the discounted cash flows analyses to evaluate goodwill for
impairment. At the date of acquisition of Phelps Dodge, copper price
projections used to value the assets acquired ranged from a near-term
price of $2.98 per pound to a long-term average price of $1.20 per
pound. At year-end 2007, the copper price projections used to test goodwill
for impairment ranged from a near-term price of $3.03 per pound to a
iong-term average price of $1.50 per pound. The LME spot price for the
past three years averaged $2.65 per pound of copper. If our estimates
of future copper prices decrease, it is likely that we would record goodwill
impairment charges in the future,

We believe that other events that could indicate impairment of goodwill
assigned to reporting units include, but are not limited to (i) a decrease in
estimated recoverable proven and probable reserves, (i} a significant
reduction in the estimated fair value of mine site exploration potential and
{iii) any event that might otherwise have 2 material adverse affect on
mine site production levels or costs. Additionally, as our mines represent
depleting assets with definite lives, absent reserve additions in excess
of production or increases in pricing, the amount of goodwill we allocate
to individual reporting units will be impaired at a future date.

Reclamation and Closure Gosts. Reclamation is an ongoing activity
that occurs throughout the life of a mine. In accordance with SFAS
o. 143, "Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations,” we record the fair
value of our estimated asset retirement obligations (AROs) associated
with tangible long-lived assets in the period incurred. Fair value is
measured as the present value of cash flow estimates after considering
inflation and then applying a market risk premium. Qur cost estimates are
reflected on a third-party cost basis and comply with our legal obligation
to retire tangible, long-lived assets as defined by SFAS No. 143. These
cost estimates may differ from financial assurance cost estimates for
reclamation activities because of a variety of factors, including obtaining
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updated cost estimates for reclamation activities, the timing of
reclamation activities, changes in scope and the exclusion of certain costs
not accounted for under SFAS No. 143. Refer to Note 1 for further
discusston of our accounting policy for reclamation and closure costs.

Generally, AR activities are specified by regulations or in permits
issued by the relevant governing authority, and management judgment is
required to estimate the extent and timing of expenditures based
on life-of-mine planning. Accounting for reclamation and closure costs
represents a critical accounting estimate because (i) we will not incur
most of these costs for a number of years, requiring us to make estimates
over a long period, (ii) reclamation and closure laws and regulations
could change in the future and/or circumstances affecting our operations
could change, either of which could result in significant changes to our
current plans, {ili) calculating the fair value of our AROs in accordance
with SFAS No. 143 requires management to estimate projected cash
flows, make long-term assumptions about inflation rates, determine our
credit-adjusted, risk-free interest rates and determine market risk
premiums that are appropriate for our operations and (iv) given the
magnitude of our estimated reclamation and closure costs, changes in any
or all of these estimates could have a significant impact on net income.

At teast annually, we review our ARO estimates for changes in the
projected timing of certain reclamation costs, changes in cost estimates,
and additional ARQs incurred during the period. An analysis of AROs,
calculated under SFAS No. 143, follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005
Balance at beginning of year $ 30 %27 %23
Liabilities assumed in ihe acquisition of
Phelps Dodge 5312 - -
Liabilities incurred 1 - 2
Revisions to cash flow estimates 17ge - i
Accrelion expense 27 3 3
Spending {40 - —
Balance at end of year $728 $30 $27

a. The fair value of ARDS assumed in the acquisition of Phelps Dodge was estimated based on
projected cash fiows, an estimated leng-term annual inflation rate of 2.4 percent, a discount rate
based on FCX's estimated credit-adjusted, risk-free interest rate of 7.8 percent and a markel risk
premium of 10 percent to reflect what a third-party might require to assume these AROs,

b. The most significant revisions to cash flow estimates in 2007 were refated to changes at Chino,
Tyrone and PT Freepovt Indonesia. During 2007, Chino and Tyrone each submitted updated third-
party chosure cost estimates i the state of New Mexico as part of the permit renewal process. As a
result, we revised our cash flow estimates and increased our ARQ by $95 million tor Ghino and
$45 million for Tyrone, Additional adjustments ray be required based upon the state's review of the
updated closure plans and any permit conditions imposed by the state of New Mexico, Adddionally,
PT Freeport Indonesia updated its cost estimates primarily for changes to its plans for the treatment
of acidic water, resuliing in an increase of $33 million,

During 2008, we plan to begin discussions with the state of Arizona
regarding future reclamation and closure activities at our operating and
non-operating sites, which are likely to result in additional adjustments
to our ARQ liabilities.

Environmental Obligations. Qur mining, exploration, production and
historical operating activities are subject to stringent laws and regulations
governing the protection of the environment, and compliance with those

laws requires significant expenditures. Environmental expenditures for
closed facilities and closed portions of operating facilities are expensed or
capitalized depending upon their future economic benefits. The general
guidance provided by U.S. GAAP requires that liabilities for contingencies
be recorded when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the
amount can be reasonably estimated. Refer to Note 1 for further
discussion of our accounting policy for environmental expenditures.

Accounting for environmental obligations represents a critical accounting
estimate because changes to environmental laws and regulations
and/or circumstances affecting our operations could result in significant
changes to our estimates, which could have a significant impact on net
income. As management judgment and estimates are required to comply
with applicable U.S. GAAP guidance, on a quarterly basis, we review
changes in facts and circumstances associated with the environmental
obligations. Judgments and estimates are based upon available facts,
existing technology, presently enacted laws and regulations, remediation
experience, whether or not we are a potentially responsible party {PRP),
the ability of other PRPs to pay their allocated portions and take into
consideration reasonably possible outcomes. Our estimates can change
substantially as additional information becomes available regarding the
nature or extent of site contamination, required remediation methads and
actions by or against governmental agencies or private parties.

At December 31, 2007, environmental reserves recorded in our
consolidated balance sheets totaled approximately $1.3 billion, which
reflect the estimated fair value of the Phelps Dodge abligations for
environmental liabilities attributed to the Comprehensive Environmental
Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (CERCLA) or anatogous state
programs and for estimated future costs associated with environmental
matters at closed facilities and closed portions of certain operating facilities.

A summary of changes in our estimated environmentat obligations
for the year ended December 31, 2007, follows:

Balance at beginning of year $ -
Liabilities assumed in the acquisition of Phelps Dodge 1,334
Additions 6
Reductions {1
Spending (1)
Balance at end of year $1,268

At the acquisition date, Phelps Dodge's historical envirgnmental
obligations of $385 million were based on accounting guidance provided
by SFAS No. 5, "Accounting for Contingencies,” and American Institute

of Certified Public Accountants Statement of Position (SOP) 96-1,
“Envirenmental Remediation Liabilities,” which require that an estimated
loss be recorded for a loss contingency if, prior to the issuance of the
financial statements, it is probable that a liability had been incurred and
the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. Amounts recorded under
this guidance are generally not considered fair value, FCX has an
environmental and legal group dedicated to the ongoing review and
monitoring of environmental remediation sites. At the acquisition date, the
largest environmental remediation sites assumed were undergoing
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studies to evaluate the extent of the environmental damage and the
avaifable remedies. Advancement of these studies and consideration of
alternative remedies and cost sharing arrangements resulted in our
calculation of the estimated fair values being approximately $300 million
greater than the historical Phelps Dodge estimates. In accordance with
the purchase method of accounting FCX has recorded the assumed
environmental obligations at their estimated fair values of approximately
$1.3 billion. After the allecation of the purchase price associated with the
Phelps Dodge acquisition is finalized in first-quarter 2008, future
estimates of environmental obligations will be recorded in accordance
with SFAS No. 5 and SOP 96-1. Significant adjustments to these reserves
could occur in the future.

Deferred Taxes. In preparing our annua! consolidated financial
statements, we estimate the actual amount of taxes currently payable or
receivable as well as deferred tax assets and liabilities atiributable to
temporary differences between the financial statement carrying amounts
of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Oeferred
income tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates
expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which these temporary
differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on
deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates and laws is
recognized in income in the period in which such changes are enacted.

A valuation allowance is provided for those deferred tax assets
for which it is more likely than not that the related benefits will not be
realized. In determining the amount of the valuation allowance, we
consider estimated future taxable income as well as feasible tax planning
strategies in each jurisdiction. If we determine that we will not realize
all or a portion of our deferred tax assets, we will increase our valuation
allowance with a charge to income tax expense. Conversely, if we
determine that we will ultimately be able to realize all or a portion of the
related benefits for which a valuation allowance has been provided,
all or a portion of the related valuation allowance will be reduced with a
credit to income tax expense.

At December 31, 2007, our valuation allowances totaled $1.2 billion
and covered all of our U.S. foreign tax credit carryforwards, a portion of
our foreign net operating toss carryforwards and a portion of our U.S.
state net operating loss carryforwards. During 2007, our valuation
allowances increased by $240 million primarily because of additional
valuation allowances recorded against U.S. foreign tax credit
carryforwards.

OUTLOOK

Sales in 2007 totated 3.4 billion pounds of copper, 2.3 million ounces of
gold and 52 million pounds of melybdenum, compared with 1.2 billion
pounds of copper and 1.7 millicn ounces of gold in 2006. Sales for 2007
included sales from the Phelps Dodge mines from March 20, 2007,
through December 31, 2007, totaling 2.2 billion pounds of copper, 0.1
miltion ounces of gold and 52 million pounds of molybdenum. At the
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Grasberg open-pit mine, the sequencing in mining areas with varying ore
grades causes fluctuations in the timing of ore production resulting in
varying quarterly and annual sales of copper and gold. PT Freeport
Indonesta’s 2007 sales volumes were fower than 2006 sales volumes
because of mining in a refatively low-grade section of the Grasberg open
pit during the second half of 2007, partly offset by mining higher are
grade material during the first haff of 2007 and higher recovery rates. The
increase in gold sales for 2007, compared to 2006, is refated to higher
grades and recovery rates. ‘

Current projected consolidated sales volumes for 2008 and projected
average annual consolidated sales volumes aver the three-year period
from 2008 through 2010 follow:

Projected Congolidated Sales

Average Annual

2008 2008 — 2010
Copper (illions of recoverable pounds} 43 45
Gold {millions of recoverable ounces) 1.3 1.9

Malybdenum {millions of recoverable pounds) 75 85

Because of mine sequencing at Grasberg and the ramp-up of production
at the Safford mine, second-half 2008 preduction is expected to be
higher than the first half of 2008. Approximately 56 percent of projected
2008 copper sales and 72 percent of projected 2008 gold sales are
expected in the second half of the year. The achievement of these sales
estimates will depend on the achievement of targeted mining rates

and expansion plans, the successful operation of production facllities, the
impact of weather conditions and other factors. Additionally, sales
volumes may vary from these estimates depending on the areas being
mined within the Grasberg open pit, with quarterly sales volumes
expected to vary significantly.

Consolidated revenues and net income vary significantly with
fluctuations in the market prices of copper, gold and molybdenum, sales
volumes and other factors. Based on projected consolidated sales
volumes (excluding purchased copper and molybdenum) for the next two
years and assuming an average price of $3.00 per pound of copper,
$800 per ounce of gold and $25 per pound of molybdenum, the impact on
our annual cash flow would approximate $575 mitlion for each $0.20
per pound change in copper prices, $50 million for each $50 per ounce
change in gold prices and $100 million for each $2 per pound change
in molybdenum prices. Additionally, the impact on our annual et income
would approximate $490 million for each $0.20 per pound change in
copper prices, $45 million for each $50 per ounce change in gold prices .
and $100 million for each $2 per pound change in molybdenum prices.
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CONSOLIDATED RESULYS

Years Ended December 31, 2007 - 2006 2005
Revenues $16,939° $ 5791 $ 4,179
Operating income : ’ B,555" 2,869° 2177
Income from continuing operations applicable ta common stock? 2,734b2 1,3968 9359
Net income applicable to common stock? 2,769 1,3065! 9359
Diluted net income per share of common stock:

Continuing operations $ 7.4 $ 6.63 § 467

Discontinued operations 0.09 -

Dituted net income per share of common stock $ 7500 g 6.63% § 467
Sales from Mines, excluding sales of purchased metal
Copper

Consolidated share {millions of recoverable pounds) 3,357 1,201 1,457

Average realized price per pound § 328 $ 313 $ 185
Gold

Consolidaied share {thousands ot recoverable ounces) 2,298 1,736 2,790

Average realized price per ounce $682.20 $566.51° $456.27
Molybdenum

Congolidated share (millions of recoverable pounds) 52 N/A WA

Average realized price per pound $ 26.81 N/A N/A
4. Inchdes the operations of Phelps Dodge beginning March 20, 2007. A summary of the key components contributing (o the consoscated restits for the year ended December 31, 2007, folows:

Income from
Operating Continuing
Revenues Income: Qperations

FCX, excluding Phelps Dodge $ 6,034 $ 3055 5 B4
Pneips Dodge results 10,785 4,756 2,503
Purchase accounting impacts:

Inventories (including mill and leach stockpiles} - 737 (464)

Property, plant and equipment - (6595} (375)

Intangible assetsiabilities 120 76 54
Consolidated $ 16939 $ 6555 § 2,942

b, Includes charges to revenues for mark-to-market accounting adjustments on the 2007 copper price protection program totaling $175 million (§106 million 1o net income or $0.27 per share) and a reduction in

average realized copper prices of $0.05 per pound.

. Includes losses on redemption of our Gold-Denominated Preferred Stock, Series I, and Silver-Denominatec Preferred Stock totaking $82 million (344 million to net income or $0.20 per share). The loss on the

redemption of our Gold-Denominated Preferred Stock, Series 1), also resulted in a reduction in averags realized gold prices of $39.85 per ounce.
d. After dividends on preferred stock,

g Includes net losses on early extinguishmant of debt totating $173 million ($132 million to net incoms or $0.33 per share) primarily related to premiums paid and the accelerated recognition of deferred financing costs

associated with prepayments of debt.

f. Includes losses on early extinguishment and conversion cf debt totaling $32 million {$30 million to net income or $0.14 per share) primarily refated to the completion of a lender offer and privately negotiated

transactions 1o induce conversion of our 7% Convertible Senior Notes into FCX common stock and open-market purchases of our 10 /8% Senior Notes.

g Includes losses on early extinguishment and converson of debt totaling $52 million ($40 million to net income or $0.18 per share) primarlly refated to open-market purchases of our 10 /5% Senior Notes and privatety

negotlated transactions 1o Induce conversion of our 7% Convertibla Senlor Notes Inte FCX common stock.

h.  On March 19, 2007, we issued 136.9 million common shares to acquire Phetps Dodge. On March 28, 2007, we sold an additional 47.15 milkon common shares. Common shares umswdlng at December 31, 2007,

totaled 382 miflion shares. Assuming conversion of all our convertible Instruments, total potential common shares outstanding would be 445 milfion shares at Decernber 31, 2007.

Revenues occeurred primarily because PT Fregport Indonesia mined lower-grade ore
Consolidated revenues include PT Freeport indonesia’s sale of copper during the second half of 2007 (refer to “Indonesian Mining” for further
concentrates, which also contain significant quantities of gold and silver, discussion of PT Freeport Indonesia sales volumes).

the sale by Atlantic Copper of copper anodes, copper cathodes, and gold Consolidated revenues of $5.8 billion for 2006 were approximately
in anpdes and slimes, and, beginning March 20, 2007, the sales of copper, 39 percent higher than consolidated revenues for 2005 reflecting

gold, molybdenum and other metals and metal-related products by substantially higher copper and gold prices in 2006, partly offset by lower
Phelps Dodge. Excluding additional revenues associated with Phelps Dodge’s PT Freeport indonesia sales volumes. PT Freeport Indonesia mined
operations ($10.9 billign), revenues for 2007 were approximately four lower-grade ore and reported lower production and sales volumes in

percent higher than 2006 reflecting higher copper and gold prices, partly 20086, compared with 2005 (refer to “Indonesian Mining” for further

offset by lower copper sales volumes in 2007. Lower sales volumes discussion of PT Freeport Indonesia sales volumes).
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Approximately two-thirds of our copper is seld in concentrate and
cathodes and the remaining one-third is sold primarily as rod (principally
from our North Amarica operations). Substantially all of our concentrate
sales contracts and some of our cathode sales contracts provide final
copper pricing in a specified future pericd {generally one to four months
from the shipment date) based on quoted LME or COMEX prices. We
ultimately receive market prices based on prices in the specified future
period; however, the accounting rules applied to these sales result in
changes recorded to ravenues until the specified future period. We record
revenues and invoice customers at the time of shipment based on then-
current LME or COMEX prices, which results in an embedded derivative
on our provisional priced concentrate and cathode sales that is adjusted
to fair value through earnings each period until the date of final pricing.
To the extent final prices are higher or lower than what was recorded on a
provisional basis, an increase or decrease to revenues is recorded each
reporting period until the date of final pricing. Accordingly, in times of
rising copper prices, our revenues during a quarter benefit from higher
prices received for contracts priced at current market rates and also from
an increase related to the final pricing of provisionally priced contracts
entered into in prior perieds; in times of falfing copper prices, the opposite
occurs. Consolidated revenues for 2007 include net additions for
adjustments to the fair value of embedded copper derivatives in concentrate
and cathode sales contracts of $115 million (net of an adjustment of
$43 million related to the final pricing of sales entered inta in the prior year),
compared with net additions of $158 million in 2006 (including an
adjustment of $132 million refated to the final pricing of sales entered into
in the prior year) and $176 million in 2005 (including an adjustment of
$10 million related to the final pricing of sales entered into in the prior year).

At December 31, 2007, our copper sales included 402 million pounds
of copper (net of minority interests) priced at an average of $3.02 per
pound and subject to final pricing over the next several months. We
estimate that each $0.05 change in the price realized from the December
31, 2007, price would impact our 2008 consolidated revenues by $27
million ($14 million to net income).

On limited past occasions, in response to market conditions, we have
entered into copper and gold price protection contracts for a portion of our
expected future ming production to mitigate the risk of adverse price
fluctuations. Also, in connection with the acquisition of Phelps Dodge, FCX
assumed the 2007 copper price protection program, which resulted in
charges to revenues totaling $175 million {3106 million to net income or
$0.27 per share) from March 20, 2007, through December 31, 2007. in
January 2008, we paid $598 million to settle the 2007 copper price
protection program, which matured on December 31, 2007. FCX does not
currently intend to enter inte similar hedging programs in the future. Refer
to “Hedging Activities” and Note 17 for further discussion of the 2007
copper price protection program.

In February 2006, we redeemed our Gold-Denominated Preferred
Stock, Series II, which resulted in a charge to revenues of $69 mitlion
{$37 million to net income or $0.17 per share); and in August 2006, the
final scheduled redemption of our Silver-Denominated Preferred Stock
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resulted in a charge to revenues of $13 million {$7 million to net income
or $0.03 per share).

Production and Delivery Costs

Excluding amounts associated with the Phelps Dodge operations ($6.0
billien, which included $781 million related to purchase accounting
impacts for higher values of metal inventories and stockpiles and also the
amortization of intangible assets acquired in the acquisition), production
and delivery costs for 2007 increased by $21 million compared with
2008. This increase primarily reflects higher production costs at PT
Freeport indonesia resulting from higher energy costs and costs of other
consumables. Also impacting production and delivery costs in 2007
were higher costs of concentrate purchases at Atlantic Copper reflecting
higher copper and gold prices.

Production and delivery costs for 2006 were $887 milion higher than
2005 primarily because of higher costs of concentrate purchases at
Attantic Copper caused by rising metals prices and partly because of
higher production costs at PT Freeport Indonesia primarily resulting from
higher energy and other input costs. Additignally, the adoption of
Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 04-6, "Accounting for Stripping
Costs Incurred during Production in the Mining Industry” (EITF 04-6)
also resulted in higher 2006 costs (refer to Note 1 for further discussion
of EITF 04-6).

Energy Costs. Energy, including electricity, diese! fuel, coal and natural
gas, is a significant portion of our production costs, representing
approximately 20 percent of production costs for our North American,
South Amerigan and Indonesian mining operations in 2007. Because
energy is a significant portion of our production costs, we couid be
negatively impacted by future energy availability issues and/or increases
in energy prices.

In addition, we own a one-third interest in the Luna Energy Facility
(Luna) located near Deming, New Mexico, which became operational in
April 2006. Public Service Company of New Mexico (PNM), a subsidiary
of PNM Resources, and Tucson Electric Power, a subsidiary of Unisource
Energy Corporation, partnered in the purchase of Luna, each owning
a one-third interest and each responsible for one-third of the costs and
expenses. PNM is the operating pariner of the plant. Approximately 190
megawatts, or one-third of the plant’s electricity, is available to satisfy
a significant portion of the electricity demands of our New Mexico and
Arizona operations. Electricity in excess of our demand is sold on the
wholesale market. Our interest in this efficient, low-cost plant is expected
to continue to stabilize our southwest North American mining operations’
energy costs and increase the reliability of our energy supply.

Cost Structure. We continue to experience increases in our worldwide
copper production costs. Costs have been affected by the prices of
commodity input costs, equipment consumed or used in our operations
and labor costs. Our cost structure in certain of our North American
operations is highaer than that of some mines located outside the U.S.
primarity because of lower ore grades, higher labor costs and, in some
cases, siricter regulatory reguirements.
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Additionally, we are developing large-scale underground operations in
Indonesia that are more sensitive to labor costs than cur large-scale open
pit and process operations. increasing labor costs without corresponding
productivity gains will adversely impact our current and future
underground development and operations,

Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization

Excluding amounts associated with the Phelps Dodge operations ($1.0 billion,
which included $595 million related to purchase accounting impacts

for the increase in the carrying value of acquired property, plant and
equipment), depreciation, depletion and amortization expense for 2007
increased $17 million compared with 2006 primarily because of higher
unit-of-production rates for the Grasberg open-pit mine resulting from
changes in reserve estimates.

Bepreciation, depletion and amortization expense for 2006 was $23
milfion lower than 2005 primarily because of lower copper safes volumes
at PT Freeport Indonesia during 2006, which resulted in lower expense
under the unit-of-production method.

Projected depreciation, depletion and amortization expense for 2008,
including the impacts of purchase accounting fair value adjustments, is
expected to approximate $1.9 billion, compared with $1.2 billion for 2007,
primarily because of higher projected copper sales volumes for 2008,
as well as the incremental amounts associated with a full year of expense
for the acquired Phelps Dodge operations.

Exploration and Research Expenses

Consolidated exploration and research expenses totaled $145 milfion for
2007, $12 million for 2006 and $ million for 2005. The increase in
expenditures for 2007 primarily reflects $127 million of exploration and
research expenses associated with our acquired operations, including
$94 million for exploration efforts in North America, South American and
Africa. Refer to “Exploration Activities” for further discussion.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Consolidated selling, general and administrative expenses totaled $466
million for 2007, $157 million for 2006 and $104 million for 2005. The
increase of $309 million in 2007, compared with 2006, primarily reflects
the additional amounts associated with Pheips Dodge {$272 mitlion)

and higher stock-based compensation costs ($39 million) primarily related
to second-quarter 2007 stock option grants.

The increase of $53 miilion in 2006, compared with 2005, primarily
reflected higher incentive compensation costs associated with stronger
financial performance, higher stock-based compensation following
adoption of SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” {SFAS
123R) on January 1, 2006 (refer to Note 1 for further discussion), and
higher legal fees.

interest Expense, Net

Total consolidated interest expense (before capitalization) totated $660
million in 2007, $87 million in 2006 and $136 million in 2005. The $573
miliion increase in interest expense in 2007, compared with 2006,
primarily relates to the debt incurred in connection with the acquisition of

Phelps Dodge. Refer to Note 11 and “Capital Resources and Liquidity —
Financing Activities” for further discussion of the debt incurred in
connection with the acquisition.

The $49 million decrease in interest expense in 2006, compared with
2005, is primarily because of significant debt reductions during 2005 and
2006, including redemptions of mandatorily redeemable preferred stock.

Capitalized interest totaled $147 million in 2007, $11 million in
2006 and $4 million in 2005. The significant increase in capitalized
interest in 2007 primarily refates to the development projects at Safford
and Tenke Fungurume.

Losses on Early Extinguishment and Conversion of Debt, Net
During 2007, we recorded net charges totaling $173 million ($132 million
to net income or $0.33 per share) for early extinguishment of debt
primarily related to the accelerated recognition of deferred financing costs
associated with early repayment of amounts under the $11.5 billion
senior credit facility, Also included is $17 million {310 million to net
income or $0.02 per share) related to premiums paid and the accelerated
recognition of deferred financing costs associated with the May 2007
redemption of our 10 /8% Senior Notes.

During 2006, we recorded net charges totaling $32 miilion ($30
million to net income or $0.14 per share) for early extinguishment and
conversion of debt primarily associated with the completion of a
tender offer and privately negotiated transactions to induce conversion
of our 7% Convertible Senior Notes into FCX comman stock, and
also included charges associated with open-market purchases of our
10 /a% Senior Notes.

During 2005, net losses on early extinguishment and conversion of
debt totaled $52 million ($40 million to net income or $0.18 per sharg)
primarily related to open-market purchases of our 10 /8% Senior Notes
and privately negotiated transactions to induce conversion of our 7%
Convertible Senigr Notes into FCX common stock.

Gains on Sales of Assets

Gains on sales of assets totaled $85 million ($52 million to net income

or $0.13 per sharg) in 2007 primarily associated with sales of marketable
securities. During 2006, gains on sales of assets totaled $30 million

($31 million to net income or $0.13 per share} primarily associated with
the disposition of land and certain royalty rights at Attantic Copper. During
2005, gains on sales of assets totaled $7 million ($5 million to net
income or $0.02 per share) refated to the sale of land held by a joint
venture in which we own a 50 percent interest.

Other Income, Net

Other income, net, totaled $157 million in 2007, compared with $28
million in 2006 and 2005. The $129 million increase in 2007, compared
with 2006, primarily relates to higher interest income totaling $141 million
in 2007, $31 million in 2006 and $17 million in 2005. The increases in
interest income primarily relate to higher cash balances and interest rates.
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Provision for Income Taxes
Qur 2007 income tax provision from continuing operations resulted from
taxes on international operations ($2.2 billion) and U.S. taxes ($215
million). The difference between FCX's consolidated effective income tax
rate of approximately 39 percent for 2007 and the U.S. federal statutory
rate of 35 percent primarily was attributable to (i) withholding taxes
related to eamings from Indonesian and South American mining
operations, (i) a U.S. foreign tax credit limitation and {ii) an adjustment
associated with the reversal of the Phelps Dodge APB Opinion No. 23,
“Accounting for Income Taxes — Special Areas,” indefinite reinvestment
assertion on certain eamings in South America, partly offset by a U.S.
benefit for percentage depletion and an international tax rate differential.
For 2008, we expect a consolidated effective tax rate of approximately
34 percent. The lower projected consolidated effective tax rate for 2008
primarily relates to the expected geecgraphic sources of pre-tax income.
A summary of the approximate amounts in the calculation of our

consolidated provision for income taxes for 2007 follows:

Effective  Provision
Tax  for Income

income?  Rate Tax

North America

Ingome before taxes and minority interests $1875 30% § 568

Purchase accounting adjustments (895} 39% (353}

Subtotal 980 215
South America

Income before taxes and minority interests 2,623 33% 868

Purchase accounting adjustments (369) 34% {126)

Subtotal 2,254 742
Indonesia

Income before taxes and minority interests 2878 46% 1,326
Other

Income before taxes and minority interests 21 29% 6

Adjustment® NIA - NIA 111

Consolidated totals $6,133 39% $2,400

. Represents income from continuing operations.

. Represents an adjustment for 2 pna-time charge associated with the: reversal of the Phelps Dodge
APE Opindon Mo. 23 indefinite retnvestment assertion on certain eamings in South America, This
adiustment was fully offset by a reduction in minorily interests” share of fet income.

[= ]

FCX's income tax provision for 2006 ($1.2 billion) and for 2005
($915 million) primarily reflected taxes on PT Freeport Indonesia’s
earnings. The difference between FCX's effective income tax rate
of approximately 43 percent for 2006 and 45 percent for 2005 and
PT Freeport Indonesia’s Contract of Work rate of 35 percent primarily
was attributable to withholding taxes related to earnings from
Indonesian mining operations and income taxes incurred by PT
Indocopper Investama.

A summary of the approximate amounts in the calculation of our
consolidated provision for income taxes for 2006 and 2005 follows:
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Years Enged December 31, 2006 2005
Indonesian mining operating income? $2.809 $2321
Indonesian mining interest expense, net (20) (22}
Intercompany operating profit recognized (deferred) 32 {145}
Income before taxes 2,821 2,154
Indonesian mining Contract of Work rate 35% 35%
Indonesian mining income taxes 987 754
indonesian mining net income 1,834 1,400
Withholding tax on FCX's equity share 9.064% 9.064%
Withholding taxes 166 127
PT Indocepper Investama corporate income taxes 48 ¥
Other, net - 3
FCX consolidated provision for income taxes $1.200 § 915
FCX consolidated effective tax rate 43% 45%

a. Excludes charges for the in-the- monay vafue of FCX stock opticn exercises, which are eliminated in
consolidation, totaling $88 million in 2006 and $64 miflion in 2005.

Refer to Note 14 for further discussion of income taxes.

Minority Interests in Net Income of Consolidated Subsidiaries
Minarity interests in net income of consolidated subsidiaries totaled $791
million in 2007, $168 mitlion in 2006 and $127 million in 2005, The
increase of $623 million in 2007, compared with 2008, was attributable to
amounts associated with our South American mining operations ($603
million) and an increase related to higher eamings at PT Freeport indonesia
($20 millien). The increase of $41 million in 2008, compared with 2005,
primarily was because of higher earmings at PT Freeport Indongsia,

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Following the acquisition of Phelps Dodge, our business consists of three
primary operating divisions — North American mining, South American
mining and Indonesian mining. Refer to “Mining Operations™ for further
discussion of the operations associated with these divisions. A summary
of revenues by division for 2007, 2006 and 2005, follows:

Years Ended December 31, 20072 2006 2005
North American mining™

Unaffiliated customers $86a¢ § - & -
Intersegment 9 - -
8,650 - -
South American mining®:
Unaffiliated customers 2,265 - -
Intersegment 1,580 — —
3,845 - -
Indonesian mining:
Unaffiliated customers 3640 3543 2810
Intersegment 1,168 852 758

4,808 4395 3568

Atlantic Copper smelting & refining:
Unaffiliated customers ) 2,388 2,242 1,363
2,388 2,242 1,383

Carporate, other & eliminations:

Unaffiliated customers 5 6 B

Intersegment (2,757) (852) (758)
(2,752} (B46) (752)
Consolidated revenues $16,939 $5791 $4179
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. Includes the results of Phelps Dodge beginning March 20, 2007.
. Includes our operating mines at Morenci, Bagdad, Sierita, Safford, Chine and Tyrone, and also
includes our Rod and Refining and Molybdenum operations (refer to Note 18).
¢. Includes charges for mark-to-market accounting adjustments on the 2007 copper price protection
program totaling $175 million.
. Inchudes our operating mines at Cemm Verde, Candelaria, {jos del Salado and E) Abra {refer to Note 18).

[~

Intersegment sales by the Indonesian and South American mines are
based on similar arms-length transactions with third parties at the time of
the sale. Intersegment sales of any individual mine may not be reflective
of the actual prices ultimately realized because of a variety of factors,
including additional processing, timing of sales to unaffiliated customers
and transportation premiums. _

A summary of operating income {loss) by operating division, which
inctudes the results of Phelps Dodge beginning March 20, 2007, follows:

Years Ended December 31, 2007 2006 2005

North American mining 17y 8 - 8 -
South American mining 2,190 - -
Indonesian mining 3,033 2,7 2,257
Atlantic Copper smelting & refining 3 74 35
Corporate, other & eliminations (388) 74 {115)

$6,555* $2.869

a. Operating income Includes purchase accounting adjustments totating $1.3 billion in 2007, which
primarily relate to the Impacts of increases in the carrying values of acquired metal inventories
{inchuding milt and leach stockptles) and property, plant and equipment.

Consolidated operating income $2.177

MINING OPERATIONS

North American Mining

Our North American mining operations include copper operations from
mining through rod production, molybdenum operations from mining
through conversion to chemical and metallurgical products, and the
marketing and sale of both product lines. We have six opérating copper
mines in North America — Morenci, Bagdad, Sierrita, Safford, Chino and
Tyrone, and one operating molybdenum mine — Henderson.

The North American mining division includes one reportable copper
ming (Morenci), and alse includes Rod and Refining operations and
Molybdenum operations as reportable segments. Following is further
discussion of these reportable segments, as well as other operations
included in the North American mining division.

Morenci. The Morenci open-pit mine, located in southeastem Arizona,
primarily produces copper cathodes and copper concentrates. In addition
to copper, Morenci produces molybdenum concentrates as a by-product.
We own an 85 percent undivided interest in Morenct, The remaining
15 percent is owned by Sumitomo Metal Mining Arizona, Inc. {Sumitomo),
a jointly owned subsidiary of Sumitomo Metal Mining Co., Ltd. and
Sumitomo Corporation. Each partner takes in kind its share of production.

The concentrate-ieach, direct-electrowinning facility at Morenci is
ramping up production following commissioning in third-quarter 2007,
This project uses FCX's proprietary medium-temperature, pressure-
ieaching and direct-electrowinning technology, which will enhance cost
savings by processing concentrates on-site instead of shipping
concentrates to smelters for treatment and by providing acid for leaching

operations. The project also included the restart of 2 mill. Mill throughput
adds 115 million pounds of copper per year and is aperating near
capacity of 49,000 metric tons per day. The overall project required a total
capital investment of approximately $250 miilion. :

Rod and Refining. The Rod and Refining segment consists of copper
conversion facilities, including a refinery, rod mills and a speciaity copper
products facility. This segment processes copper produced at our North
American mines and purchased copper into copper anode, cathode, rod
and custom copper shapes. At times this segment refines copper and
produces copper rod and shapes for customers on a toll basis. Toli
arrangements require the tolling customer to deliver. appropriate copper-
bearing material to our facilities for processing into a product that is
returned to the customer, who pays us for processing their material into
the specified products.

Molybdenum. The Molybdenum segment includes our wholly owned
Henderson and Climax molybdenum mines in Colorado, related

- conversion facilities and a technology center. This segment is an integrated

producer of molybdenum, with mining, roasting and processing facilities
that produce high-purity, molybdenum-based chemicals, molybdenum
metal powder and metallurgical products, which are sold to customers
around the world. The Molybdenum segment also includes a sales
company that purchases molybdenum from our Henderson mine and our
North American and South American copper mines and sells it to third
parties. In addition, at times this segment roasts and/or processes
material on a toll basis. Toll arrangements require the tolling customer to
deliver appropriate molybdenum-bearing material to our facilities for
processing into a product that is returned to the customer, who pays us
for processing their material inte the specified products. This segment
also includes a technology center whose primary activity is developing
new engineered products and applications.

The Henderson underground mine produces high-purity, chemical-
grade molybdenum concentrates, which are further processed into
value-added molybdenum chemical products.

in December 2007, our Board of Directors approved the restart of the
Climax molybdenum mine near Leadville, Colorado, which has been
on careg-and-maintenance status since 1995, Climax is believed to be
the largest, highest-grade and lowest-cost undeveloped molybdenum
ore body in the world. The initial project involves the restart of open-pit
mining and the construction of new milling facilities. Annual production
is expected to appraximate 30 million pounds of molybdenum beginning
in 2010 at estimated cash costs approximating $3.50 per pound.

Capital cost estimates for the initial project are expected to
approximate $500 million. Orders for cerain long-lead time items have
been placed, and work on the project commenced in fourth-quarter
2007. Major construction activities are expected to begin in second-
quarter 2608. The project is designed to enable the consideration of
a further large-scale expansion of the Climax mine. We plan to evaluate
a second phase of the Climax project, which could potentially double
future annual molybdenum production to approximately 60 million pounds,
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We also plan to increase our annual molybdenum processing
capacity by 20 million pounds through the conversion of our copper
concentrate leach facility at Bagdad, Arizona, to a molybdenum
concentrate leach facility by 2010.

Other North American mining operations. Other North American
mining operations include our other southwestern U.S. copper mines —
Bagdad, Slerrita, Safford, Chino, Tyrone, Miami, Cobre, Bisbee and Tohono.
In addition to copper, the Bagdad, Sierrita and Chino mines produce
molybdenum, gold and silver, and the Sierrita mine also produces
rhenium. Other North American mining operations also include the Miami
smelter (which is the most significant source of sulfuric acid for the
various North American leaching operations), a sales company (which
functions as an agent to purchase and sell copper from the North
American mines and from the Rod and Refining segment and aiso sells
any copper not seld by our Seuth American mines to third parties) and
other ancillary operations.

The Safford copper mine, which began preduction in December 2007,
will produce ore from two open-pit mines located in southeastern
Arizona and includes a solution extraction/electrowinning (SX/EW)
facility. The Safford mine is expected to ramp up to full production of
approximately 240 million pounds per year in the first half of 2008, The
tota| capitat investment for this project is approximately $675 million,
with over 85 percent incurred as of December 31, 2007 (including
amounts incurred prior to the acquisition of Phelps Dodge).

During January 2008, we announced plans to restart the Miami copper
mine in Arizona for an approximate five-year period. We expect full rates
of production of approximately 100 million pounds of copper per year by
2010. The capital investment for this project is expected to total
approximately $100 million, brimarily for mining equipment.

North American mining added $8.7 billion in revenues and $1.7 billien
of operating income to our results for the period March 20, 2007, through
December 31, 2007, net of charges to revenues for mark-to-market
accounting adjustments on the 2007 copper price protection program
totaling $175 million. Refer to “Hedging Activities" and Note 17 for further
discussion of the 2007 copper price protection program.

The following discussion of eur North American mining operations
covers the full twelve month periods ended December 31, 2007, 2006
and 2005, including periods prior to our acquisition of these operations:
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North American Mining Operating Results (Pro Forma)

Years Ended December 31, 2007 2006 2005

Consolidated Operating Data, Net of Joint Venture Interest
Copper {millions of recoverable pounds)

Production 1,320 1,305 1,365
Sales® 1,332 1,303 1,383
Average realized price per pound,
excluding hedging $ 326 $ 303 §187
Average realized price per pound,
including hedging® $ 3.12 $22% § 149
Molybdenum
(millions of recoverable pounds)
Production 69 68 62
Sales 69 69 60
Average realized price per pound $25.87 $21.87  $25.89
100% Operating Data, Including Joint Venture Interest
SX/EW operations
Leach ore placed in stockpiles
(metric tons per day) 798,200 801,200 778,500
Average copper ore grade (percent) 0.23 0.30 0.26
Copper prodection
(millions of recoverable pounds) 940 1,013 1,066
Milt operations
Ore milled (metric tons per day) 223800 199,300 194,800
Average ore grade (percent)
Copper (.35 0.33 0.33
Molybdenum 0.02 0.02 0.03
Production
(millions of recoverable pounds)
Copper 501 414 419
Molybdenum (by-product) 30 K 30
Molybdenum eperations (Henderson)
Ore milled {metric tons per day) 24,000 22,200 20,300
Average molybdenum ore grade
(percent) 0.23 0.23 0.22
Moiybdenum production
(millions of recoverable pounds} 39 .37 32

[

. Excludes sales of purchased copper,
b. includes the impact of hedging losses related to copper price protection programs.

2007 Compared with 2006 (Pro Forma). During 2007, average realized
copper prices, excluding hedging impacts, for the North American mining
operations improved by $0.23 per pound to an average of $3.26 per
pound, compared with $3.03 per pound in 2006. Additionally, average
realized molybdenum prices improved by $4.00 per pound to an average
of $25.87 per pound in 2007, compared with $21.87 per pound in 2006.
Consolidated copper sales from North American operations totaled
approximately 1.3 billion pounds in both 2007 and 2006. The slight
increase in North American copper sales volumes for 2007 primarily
related to higher production from mill operations resulting from higher ore
grades and the incremental production from the Morenci mill because of
a full year of concentrator activity. These increases were partly offset by
lower production from SX/EW operations resulting from lower ore grades.
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Consolidated copper sales volumes from our North American mining
operations are expected to increase to approximately 1.6 billion pounds
in 2008 primarily reflecting additional copper production from the
Safford mine,

Consolidated molybdenum sales volumes totated 69 million pounds
in both 2007 and 2006. Molybdenum ore grades for 2007 were
similar to 2006. Consolidated molybdenum sales volumes are expected
to approximate 75 million pounds in 2008. The increase in projected
malybdenum sates for 2008 primarily reflects additional production
expected from the expanded Cerro Verde mill operations. Approximately
85 percent of our expected 2008 molybdenum production is committed
for sate throughout the world pursuant to annual or guarterly agreements
based primarily on prevailing market prices one month prior to the time
of sale.

The molybdenum sates company functions as an agent to purchase
and self molybdenum from the Henderson mine as weli as our North
American and Sputh American copper mines that produce molybdenum
as a by-product. We defer recognizing profits on intercompany
molybdenum sales from these operations to the molybdenum sales
company until the final sales to third parties occur. Changes in these net
deferrals resulted in reductions to operating income totaling $360 million
($220 million to net income or $0.55 per share} in 2007. Assuming
average molybdenum prices of $30 per pound for 2008, we estimate
that the net change in the deferred profits will not have a material impact
on first-quarter 2008 net income. The actuai change in deferred
intercompany profits may differ substantially from this estimate because
of changes in molybdenum prices.

2006 Compared with 2005 (Pro Forma). During 2006, average
realized copper prices, excluding hedging impacts, for the North
American mining operaticns improved by $1.36 per pound to an average
of $3.03 per pound, compared with $1.67 per pound in 2005. Average
realized molybdenum prices decreased by $4.02 per pound to an
average of $21.87 per pound in 2006 from $25,89 per pound in 2005.

Consolidated copper sales from North American operations totaled
approximately 1.3 billion pounds in 20086, compared with 1.4 billion
pounds in 2005. The reduction in sales volumes in 2006, compared with
2005, primarily refated to lower production at Bagdad because of lower
ore grades and at Chino and Tyrone because of reductions in leached ore.

Consolidated molybdenum sales volumes totated 69 million
pounds in 2006 and 60 million pounds in 2005. Higher molybdenum sales
volumes in 2006, compared with 2005, were primarily because of
higher process rates.

Unit Net Cash Costs (Pro Forma), Unit net cash costs per pound of
copper and molybdenum are measures intended to provide investors
with information about the cash-generating capacity of our mining
operations expressed on a basis relating to the primary metal product for
our respective operations. We use this measure for the same purpose
and for monitoring operating performance by our mining operations. This
information ditfers from measures of performance determined in
accordance with U.S. GAAP and should not be considered in isolation or

as a substitute for measures of performance determined in accordance
with 1.5, GAAP. This measure is presented by other mining companies,
although our measures may not be comparable to simitarly titled
measures reported by other companies.

The following tables summarize the pro forma unit net cash costs at
the North American copper mines for the full tweive-month periods
ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005. Henderson, a molybdenum
ming, is not included in these tables — see “Henderson Unit Net Cash
Costs.” For a reconciliation of pro forma unit net cash costs per pound to
production and delivery costs applicable to sales reported in FCX's
pro forma consolidated financial results, refer to “Product Revenues and
Production Costs.”

Gross Profit per Pound of Copper and Molybdenum (Pro Forma)

By-Product 00 Product Metiod

Year Ended December 31, 2007 Method Copper  Molybdesum®
Revenues, after adjustments shown below $322 §$ 322 §$29.31
Site production and delivery, before net noncash

and nonrecurring costs shown below 1.43 1.22 10.58
By-product credits? {0.66} - -
Treatment charges 0.09 (.09 -

Unit net cash costs 0.86 1.31 10.58
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 0.15 0.12 0.87
Noncash and nonrecurring costs, net 0.02 0.02 0.03

Total unit costs 1.03 1.45 11.48
Revenue adjusiments, primarlly for pricing on

prior period open sales and hedging {0.1G) (0.70) -
Idte facility and other non-inventoriable costs {0.05) {0.05) (0.02)

Gross profit
Consolidated sales (millions of recoverable pounds)

$204 $ 162 81781

Copper 1,316 + 1,316
Molybdenum 30
By-Product Co-Product Method

Year Ended December 31, 2006 Method Copper  Molybdanum?
Revenues, after adjustments shown befow $319 3319 $2485
Site production and delivery, before net noncash

and nonrecurring costs shown below 1.14 0.93 9.37
By-product credits® (0.60) - -
Treatment charges 0.07 0.06 —

Unit net cash costs 0.61 0.99 8937
Depreciation, deptetion and amortization 0.1 0.09 0.77
Noncash and nonrecurring costs, net 0.02 0.02 0.03

Total unit costs 0.74 1.10 10.17
Revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing on

prior period open sales and hedging {0.93) {0.93) -
Idle facility and other non-inventoriable costs 0.03)  {0.03) —

Gross profit $149 $ 113 5146
Consolidated sales (millions of recoverable pounds)

Copper 1,292 1,292

Maolybdenum 31

a. Mohbdenum by-product credits reflect volumes produced at market-based pricing, and also inclisde
tolling revenues at Siemta.
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By-Produet  _Co-Product ethod
—

vear Ended December 31, 2005 Method Copper  Motybdenum®
Revenues, after adjustments shown below $163 $ 163 $32.47
Site production and delivery, before net noncash

and nonregurring costs shown below 097 0.77 9.72
By-product credits® {0.70) - -
Treatment charges 0.07 0.07 -

Unit net cash costs 0.34 0.84 9.72
Depseciation, depletion and amortization 0.10 0.08 1.00
Noncash and nonrecurring costs, net 0.01 0.01 0.03

Total unit costs 0.45 093 1075
Revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing on

prior period open sales and hedging {014) (0,14 -
fdle {acility and other non-inventoriable costs {0.02)  (0.02) -

Gross profit $102 $ 054 $2.72
Censolidated sales (millions of recoverable pounds)

Copper 1,378 1378 .

Molybdenum 30

a. Molybdenum by-product credits reflect volumes produced at market-based pricing, and also include
tolling revenues at Slemita.

2007 Compared with 2006 (Pra Forma}. The North American mining
operations have experienced production cost increases in recent years
primarily as a result of higher energy costs and costs of other
consumables, higher mining costs and milling rates, labor costs and other
factors. Higher unit site production and delivery costs in 2007, compared
with 2006, primarily reflected higher labor, maintenance, operating
supplies and energy costs, and also included higher costs assaciated with
the ramp up of the Morenci mill operations.

Molybdenum credits were higher in 2007, compared with 2006,
reflecting higher average molybdenum prices during 2007.

Assuming average prices of $3.00 per pound of copper and $30 per
pound of molybdenum for 2008 and achievement of current 2008 sales
estimates, we estimate that the 2008 average unit net cash costs for our
North American mines, including molybdenum credits, would approximate
$1.00 per pound of copper.

2008 Compared with 2005 (Pro Forma). North American mining’s
unit net cash costs for 2006 were higher than in 2005 primarily
because of higher labor, maintenance, operating supplies and other input
costs mostty from the restart of Morenci's milt operations and because
of lower molybdenum credits resulting from lower average realized
molybdenum prices.

Henderson Unit Net Cash Costs (Pro Forma). The following table
summarizes the pro forma unit net cash costs at the Henderson mine
for the full twelve-month periods ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and
2005. For a reconciliation of pro forma unit net cash costs per pound
to production and delivery costs applicable to sales reported in FCX’s
pro forma consolidated financiat results, refer to “Product Revenues and
Production Costs.” '
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Henderson Gross Profit per Pound of Molybdenum (Pro Forma)

Years Endeg December 31, 2007 2006 2005
Revenues $26.10 $22.14 $27.63
Site production and delivery, before net .
noncash and nonrecurring costs shown below  4.32 3.71 3.69
Unit net cash costs 4,32 n 3.65
Depreciation and amortization .00 0.89 0.88
Noncash and nonrecurring costs, net 0.02 (.02 0.01
Total unit costs 5.34 4.62 4,54
Gross profit® $2076 $17.52 $23.09
Consolidated molybdenum sales
{millions of recoverable pounds) 39 37 32

a. Grass profit reflects sales of Henderson products based on volumes produced at market-based
pricing. On a consolidated basis, the Motybdenum segment Inciudes profits on sales as they are
rade to third parties and realizations based on actual contract terms.

2007 Compared with 2006 (Pro Forma). Henderson's higher unit net
cash costs per pound of molybdenum for 2007, compared with 2006,
primarily were associated with higher input costs, including labor, supplies
and service costs, and higher taxes. These higher costs were partly offset
by lower energy costs resutting from energy credits received in 2007.

Assuming an average price of $30 per pound of molybdenum for 2008
and achievement of current 2008 sales estimates, we estimate that the
2008 average unit net cash costs for Henderson would approximate
$4.50 per pound of molybdenum.

2006 Compared with 2005 (Pro Forma). Henderson's higher unit net
cash costs per pound of molybdenum for 2006, compared with 2005,
primarily reflected higher input costs, including labor, supplies and service
costs and higher taxes.

South American Mining

We have four operating copper mines in South America - Cerro Verde in
Peru, and Candelaria, Ojos del Salado and El Abra in Chile. These operations
include open-pit and underground mining, sulfide ore concentrating,
leaching and SX/EW.

Our South American mining operations have labor agreements
covering certain employees; the agreements at our Cerro Verde and El
Abra operations expire and will be renegotiated during 2008.

The Scuth American mining division includes one reportable segment
(Cervo Verde). Following is further discussion of this reportable segment, as
well as other operations included in the South American mining division.

Cerro Verde. The Cerro Verde open-pit mine, located near Arequipa,
Peru, produces copper cathodes and copper concentrates. In addition to
copper, the Cerro Verde mine produces molybdenum and silver. We own a
53.56 percent interest in Cerro Verde. The remaining 46.44 percent is
held by SMM Cerro Verde Netherlands B.V., Compaiiia de Minas
Bugnaventura S.A.A. and other shareholders, certain of whose shares are
publicly traded on the Lima Stock Exchange.

In mid-2007, the recently expanded mill at Cerro Verde reached design
capacity of 108,000 metric tons of ore per day and averaged 105,500
metric tuns per day during the second half of 2007. The expansion enables
Cerro Verde to produce approximately 650 million pounds of copper per
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year (approximately 348 million pounds per year for our share) and
approximately 8 million pounds of molybdenum per year (approximately
4 million pounds per year for our share) for the next several years.

Other South American Mining Operations. Other South American
mining operations include our other South American copper mines -
Candelaria, Ojos del Salado and El Abra — which include open-pit and
underground mining, sulfide ore concentrating, leaching, and SX/EW
operations, In addition to copper, the Candelaria and Ojos del Salado mines
produce gold and silver. We own an 80 percent interest in both the Candelaria
and Ojos del Salado mines, and own a 51 percent interest in the El Abra mine.

At the end of 2006, a feasibifity study was completed to evaluate the
development of a large sulfide deposit at €1 Abra. This project would extend
the mine life by over 10 years. Initial production from the sulfides is
expected to begin in 2010, and is expected to average approximately 325
million pounds of copper per year beginning in 2012. The existing facilities
at E) Abra will be used to process the additional reserves, minimizing capita!
spending reguirements. We estimate tota! capital for this project to
approximate $450 million, the majority of which will be spent between 2008
and 2011. We are currently working with Chilean autharities on finalizing an
environmental impact study associated with this project,

South American mining added $3.8 billion in revenues and $2.2 billion
of operating income to our results for the period March 20, 2007, through
December 31, 2007.

The following discussion of our South American mining operations
covers the full twelve-month periods ended December 31, 2007, 2008
and 2005, including periods prior to our acquisition of these operations:

South American Mining Operating Results (Pro Forma)

Years Ended December 31, 2007 2006 2005
Capper (millions of recoverable pounds)
Production 1,413 1,133 1,081
Sales 1,399 1,126 1,093
Average realized price per pound,
exciuding hedging $ 325 § 303 % 175

Average realized price per pound,

including hedging? $ 325 §$ 303 $ 163
Gold (thousands of recoverable ounces)
Production 116 12 17
Sales 114 11 17
Average realized price per ounce $70081  $551.70 $425.32
Molybdenum {millions of recoverable pounds)
Production 1 - -
SX/EW operations
Leach ore placed in stockpiles
(metric tons per day) 289,100 257,400 264,600
Average copper ore grade (percent) 0.43 0.45 0.46
Copper production
(millions of recoverable pounds) 569 695 670
Mill operations
Ore milled (metric tons per day) 167,900 68,500 68,700
Average copper ore grade (percent) 0.74 0.87 0.84
Production (miflions of recoverable pounds)
Copper 844 438 421
Molybdenum 1 - -

a. Includes the impact of hedging ksses related to El Abea's 2005 copper price protection program.

2007 Gompared with 2006 {Pro Forma}. During 2007, average realized
copper prices for the South American mining operations improved by $0.22
per pound to an average of $3.25 per pound, compared with $3.03 per
pound in 2006.

Consolidated copper sales fram South American operations increased
to approximatety 1.4 billion pounds in 2007, compared with 1.1 billion
pounds in 2006, primarily reflecting higher production from Cerro Verde
resulting from the new concentrator, which reached design capacity in
mid-2007. This increase was partly offset by lower production at El Abra
resulting from lower ore grades.

Consolidated copper sales volumes from our South American mining
operations are expected to increase to approximately 1.5 billion pounds
in 2008 reflecting additional production from the new concentrator at
Cerro Verde.

2006 Compared with 2005 (Pro Farma). During 2006, average
realized copper prices for the South American mining operations improved
by $1.28 per pound to an average of $3.03 per pound, compared with
$1.75 per pound in 2005, which excluded the hedging impact related to
El Abra's 2005 copper price protection program.

Consolidated copper sales from South American operations totaled
approximately 1.1 billion pounds in both 2006 and 2005. The slight
increase in sales for 2006 primarily refiected an increase in production at
El Abra and expanded production from the new concentrator at Cerro
Verde, which began processing sulfide ore in fourth-quarter 20086.

Unit Net Cash Costs (Pro Forma). Unit net cash costs per pound of
copper, calculated under the by-product method, is a measure intended to
provide investors with information about the cash-generating capacity
of our mining operations expressed on a basis relating to the primary
metal product for our respective operations. We use this measure for the
same purpose and for monitoring operating performance by our mining
operations. This information differs from measures of performance
determined in accordance with U.S. GAAP and should not be considered
in isolation or as a substitute for measures of performance determined in
accordance with U.S. GAAP. This measure is presented by other mining
companies, although our measures may not be comparable to similarly
titled measures reported by other companies.

The following tables summarize the pro forma unit net cash costs at
the South American copper mines for the fulf twelve-month periods ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005. The below tables reflect pro forma
unit net cash costs per pound of copper under the by-product and
co-product methods as the South American mines also had small amounts
of gold and silver sales. For a reconciliation of pro forma unit net cash
costs per pound to production and delivery costs applicable to sales
reported in FCX’s pro forma consolidated financial results, refer to “Product
Revenues and Production Costs.”
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Gross Profit per Pound of Copper (Pro Forma)

By-Product Co-Product

Year Ended December 31, 2007 Method Method
Revenues, after adjustments shown below $325 $325
Site production and delivery, before net noncash

and nonrecurring costs shown befow 0.91 0.87
By-product credits {0.09% -
Treatment charges 0.20 0.20

Unit net cash costs 1.02 1.07
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 0.14 0.14
Noncash and nonrecurring costs, net - -

Tota! unit costs 1.16 1.21
Revenue adjustments, primarily fer pricing en

prior period open sales and hedging 0.01 0.01
Other non-inventoriable costs {0.02) {0.02)
Gross profit $208 $203
Consolidated sales

Copper {millions of recoverable pounds) 1,399 1,399

By-Proguct  Co-Product

Year Ended December 31, 2006 Method Method
Revenues, after adjustments shown below $314 5314
Site production and delivery, before net noncash

and nonrecursing costs shawn below 0.82 0.79
By-product credits {0.08} -
Treatment charges 0.17 0.17

Unit net cash costs 0 0.96
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 017 0.17
Noncash and nonrecuering costs, net — -

Totat unit costs 1.08 1.13
Revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing on

prior period open sales and hedging {0.02) 0.01)
Other non-inventoriable costs {0.02) 0.02
Gross profit $202 $198
Consolidated sales

Copper {mitlions of recoverable pounds) 1,126 1,126

By-Product  Co-Product

Year Ended December 31, 2005 Method Method
Revenues, after adjustments shown below £1.70 $1.70
Site production and delivery, before net noncash .

and nonrecurring costs shown below 0.68 0.65
By-product credits {0.06) -
Treatment charges 0.10 0.09

Unit net cash costs n72 0.74
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 0.17 017
Noncash and nonrecutring costs, aet - -

Total unit ¢costs 0.89 0.91
Revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing on prior

period cpen sales and hedging {0.09) {0.09)
Other non-inventoriable ¢osts {0.01) {0.01)
Gross profit $071 $069
Consolidated sales

Copper {millions of recoverable pounds) 1,093 1,093
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2007 Compared with 2006. Because of the fixed nature of a large
portion of our South American mining costs, unit costs vary significantly
from period to period depending on volumes of copper sold during the
period. The South American mining operations have also experienced
production cost increases in recent years primarily as a result of higher
energy costs and costs of other consumables, higher mining costs and
milling rates, labor costs and other factors. Higher unit site production and
delivery costs in 2007, compared with 2006, primarily reflected higher
costs at El Abra because of lower copper sales. In addition, higher unit net
cash costs reflected the impact of Cerro Verde's voiuntary contribution
programs, including the liability associated with local mining fund
contributions (refer to “Other Mining Matters” for further discussion of the
Cerro Verde local mining fund contributions). These higher costs were
partially offset by fower overall costs at Cerro Verde associated with
significantly higher production resulting from the new concentrator.
Agsuming average prices of $3.00 per pound of copper and
achievement of current 2008 sales estimates, we estimate that 2008
average unit net cash costs for our South American mines, including gold
and molybdenum credits, would approximate $1.05 per pound of copper.
2006 Compared with 2005 (Pro Forma). South American unit net
cash costs for 2006 were higher than in 2005 primarily because of higher
operating costs at Candelaria and El Abra associated with maintenance,
labor and other input costs. Additionally, higher unit net cash costs in
2006 reflected higher smelting and refining costs at Candelaria and higher
costs at Cerro Verde associated with voluntary contribution programs.

Indonesian Mining

PT Freeport indonesia operates under an agreement, called a Contract of
Work, with the Government of Indonesia. The Contract of Work allows us
to conduct exploration, mining and production activities in a 24,700-acre
area, referred to as Block A, located in Papua, Indonesia. Under the
Contract of Work, PT Freeport Indonesia also conducts exploration activities
{which had been suspended, but resumed in 2007) in an approximate
500,000-acre area, referred to as Block B, in Papua. Al of PT Freeport
Indonesia’s proven and probable mineral reserves and current mining
operations are located in Block A.

We own 90.64 percent of PT Freeport indonesia, including 9.36 percent
through our wholly owned subsidiary, PT Indocopper Investama, and the
Government of Indonesia owns the remaining 9.36 percent. In July 2004,
we received a request from the Indonesian Department of Energy and
Mineral Resources that we offer to seli shares in PT Indocopper Investama
to Indonesian nationals at fair market vatue. In response to this request
and in view of the potential benefits of having additional Indonesian
ownership in our operations, we agreed, at that time, to consider a potential
sale of an interest in PT Indocopper Investama at fair market value.
Neither our Contract of Work nor Indonesian law requires us to divest any
portion of our ownership interest in PT Freeport Indonesia or PT
Indocopper Investama.
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PT Freeport Indonesia has a labor agreement covering its hourly paid
indonesian employees, the key provisions of which are renegoliated
biannually. In July 2007, PT Freeport indonesia and its workers agreed to
terms for a new two-year labor agreement, which expires in September
2009, The estimated annual increase in wages under the new fabor
agreement totals approximately $40 million. PT Freeport Indonesia's
relations with the workers' union generally have been satisfactory.

Joint Ventures with Rio Tinto plc (Rio Tinto). In 1996, we
established joint ventures with Rio Tinto, an international mining company
with headquarters in London, England. One joint venture covers PT
Freeport Indonesia’s mining operations in Block A and gives Rio Tinto,
through 2021, a 40 percent interest in certain assets and future
production exceeding specified annual amounts of copper, gold and silver
in Block A, and, after 2021, a 40 percent interest in all production from
Block A.

Operating, nonexpansion capital and administrative costs are shared
proportionately between PT Freeport Indonesia and Rio Tinto based on the
ratio of (a) the incremental revenues from production from our expansion
completed in 1998 to (b) total revenues from Block A, including production
from PT Freeport Indonesia’s previously existing reserves. PT Freeport
Indonesia receives 100 percent of the cash flow from specified annual
amounts of copper, gold and silver through 2021, calculated by reference
to its proven and probable reserves as of December 31, 1994, and 60
percent of all remaining cash flow. PT Freeport Indenesia records its joint
venture interest using the proportionate consolidation method.

The joint venture agreement provides for adjustments to the specified
annual metal sharing amounts upon the occurrence of certain events
that cause an extended interruption in production to occur, including
events such as the fourth-quarter 2003 Grasberg open-pit slippage and
debris flow. As a result of the Grasberg slippage and debris flow events,
the 2004 specified amounts attributable 100 percent to PT Freeport
Indonesia were reduced by 172 million recoverable pounds of copper and
272,000 recoverable ounces of gold. Pursuant to the agreements
in 2005 and early 2006 with Rio Tinto, these reductions were offset by
increases in the specified amounts attributable 100 percent to T Freeport
Indonesia totaling 62 million recoverable pounds of copper and 170,000
recoverable ounces of gold in 2005, and 110 million recoverable pounds
of copper and 102,000 recoverable ounces of gold in 2021.

The following discussion of our Indenesian mining operations covers
the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005.

Indonesian Mining Operating Results

Years Ended December 31, 2007 2006 2005

Consolidated Operating Data, Net of Rio Tinto's Joint Venture Interest
Copper (millions of recoverable pounds)

Production 1,151 1,201 1,456

Sales 113 1,201 1,457

Average realized price per pound $ 332 $ 2313 § 185
Gold (thousands of recoverable ounces)

Production 2,198 1,732 2,789

Sales 2,185 1,736 2,790

Average realized price per ounce $680.74 $566.517 $456.27
100% Operating Data, Including Rio Tinto’s Joint Venture Interest
Ore milled {metric tons per day}

Grasberg open pit? 159,100 184,200 174,200

Deep Ore Zone (DOZ) underground ming® 53,500 45,200 42,000

Total 212,600 229,400 216,200

Average ore grade

Copper (percent) 0.82 0.85 113

Gold {grams per metric ton) 1.24 0.85 1.65
Recovery rates {percent)

Copper 90.5 86.1 89.2

Gold 86.2 80.9 831
Production (recoverable)

Copper (millions of pounds) 121 1,300 1,689

Gold {thousands of ounces) 2,608 1,824 3,440

a. Amount was approximately $606 per ounce before a loss resulting from redemption of FCX's Gotd-
Denomirated Preferred Stock, Series II.

b.  Amounits represent the approximate average daily throughput processed at PT Freeport Indonesia’s
mifl faclities from each producing mine.

Indonesian Mining Revenues. A summary of changes in PT freeport
Indonesia’s revenues follows:

2007 2006 20056

PT Freeport Indonesia revenugs — prior year $4,395 $3568 $1,747
Price realizations:
Copper 219 1,931 706
Gold 250 191 123
Sales volumes:
Copper {220) (473) 636
Gold 254 (481) 585
Adjustments, primarily for copper pricing
on prior year open sales (173) 195 0]
Treatment charges, royaities and other 83 {i36) {198}
PT Freeport Indonesia revenues — current year  $4,808  $4,395  $3,568

2007 Compared with 2006, During 2007, realized copper prices at PT
Freeport Indonesia improved by $0.19 per pound to an average of $3.32
per pound, compared with $3.13 per pound in 2006. Additionally, realized
gold prices improved by $114.23 per ounce in 2007 to an average of
$680.74 per cunce, compared with $566.51 per ounce in 2006, which
included a reduction of $39.85 per ounce for revenug adjustments
associated with the first-quarter 2006 redemption of our Gold-Denominated
Preferred Stock, Series .
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PT Freeport indonesia’s share of sales totaled 1.1 billion pounds of
copper and 2.2 million ounces of gold for 2007, compared with 1.2 billion
pounds of copper and 1.7 mitlion ounces of gold for 2006. At the Grasberg
mine, the sequencing in mining areas with varying ore grades causes
fluctuations in the timing of ore production, resulting in varying guarterly
and annual sales of copper and gold. Copper sales volumes for 2007
decreased, compared to 2006, primarily because of mining in a relatively
low-grade section of the Grasberg open pit during the second half of
2007, partly offset by mining higher ore grades during the first half of
2007 and higher recovery rates. The increase in gold sales for 2007,
compared to 2006, was related to higher ore grades and recovery rates.

Consolidated sales from PT Freeport Indonesia are expected to
approximate 1.2 billion pounds of copper and 1.2 million ounces of gold
in 2008. PT Freeport Indonesia expects to continue mining in a relatively
low-grade section of the Grasberg apen pit in the first half of 2008
and a higher-grade section in the second half of 2008. Approximately
65 percent of projected 2008 copper saieg and 75 percent of
projected gold sales for PT Freeport Indonesia are expected in the
second half of the year.

Treatment charges vary with the volume of metals sold and the price
of copper, and royalties vary with the volume of metals sold and the
prices of copper and gold. Royalties in 2007 increased to $133 miilion,
compared with $126 million in 2006, primarily reflecting higher metal
prices; partly offset by lower copper sales volumes. Assuming average
prices of $3.00 per pound of copper and $800 per ounce of gold and
achievement of current 2008 sales estimates for PT Freeport Indonesia,
royalty costs would total approximately $120 million ($0.10 per pound of
copper} in 2008.

PT Freeport Indonesia provides approximately 60 percent of Atlantic
Copper's copper concentrate requirements at market prices and nearty all
of PT Smelting's copper concentrate reguirements. Under the PT Smelting
contract, for the first 15 years of PT Smelting's operations beginning
December 1998, the treatment and refining charges on the majority of the
concentrate PT Freeport Indonesia provides witl not fall below specified
minimum rates, subject to renegotiation in 2008. The rate was $0.23 per
pound during the period from the commencement of PT Smelting's
operations in 1998 until April 2004, when it declined to a minimum of
$0.21 per pound. PT Smelting’s rate for 2007 was $0.38 per pound and Is
atso expected to exceed the minimum rate of $0.21 per pound in 2008.

2006 Gompared with 2005. During 2006, realized copper prices at
PT Freeport Indonesia improved by $1.28 per pound to an average of
$3.13 per pound, compared with $1.85 per pound in 2005. Additionally,
realized gold prices at PT Freeport Indonesia improved by $110.24 per
ounce in 2006 to an average of $566.51 per ounce {(which included a
reduction of $39.85 per ounce for revenue adjustments associated with
the redemption of our Gold-Denominated Preferred Stock, Series II),
compared with $456.27 per ounce in 2005.

PT Freeport Indonesia’s share of sales decreased to 1.2 billion pounds
of copper and 1.7 million ounces of gold for 2006, compared with 1.5
billion pounds of copper and 2.8 million ounces of gold for 2005 primarily
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because of mining lower ore grades in 2006 compared to the higher-
grade material mined in 2005,

Royalties in 2006 increased to $126 million, compared with $104
million in 2005, primarily reflecting higher metal prices partly offset by
lower sales volumes.

Indonesian Development Projects. During second-quarter 2007, PT
Freeport Indonesia completed the expansion of the capacity of the DOZ
underground operation to allow a sustained rate of 50,000 metric tons per
day. Total cost for this expansion was $64 million, with PT Freeport
Indonesia’s 60 percent share totaling $38 million. PT Freeport tndonesia’s
further expansion of the DOZ mine to 80,000 metric tons of are per day
is under way with completion targeted by 2010. The capital cost for this
further expansion is expected to approximate $100 million, with PT
Freeport Indonesia's 60 percent share totaling approximately $60 million.
Management believes that the success of the development of the DOZ
mine, one of the world's largest underground mines, provides confidence
in the future development of PT Freeport Indonesia’s large-scale
undeveloped underground ore bodies,

In 2004, PT Freeport Indonesia commenced its “Common
Infrastructure” project, which will provide access to its large undeveloped
underground ore bodies located in the Grasberg minerals district through
a tunnel system located approximately 400 meters deeper than its
existing underground tunne! system. In addition to providing access to our
underground ore bodies, the tunnel system will enable PT Freeport
Indonesia to conduct future exploration in prospective areas associated
with currently identified ore bodies. The Common Infrastructure project is
progressing according to plan. PT Freeport Indonesia also has advanced
development of the Grasberg spur and, as of December 31, 2007, has
completed more than 96 percent of the tunneling required to reach the
Grasberg underground ore body. PT Freeport Indonesia expects to initiate
multi-year mine development activities in the first half of 2008. To date,
approximately $76 million ($56 million for PT Freeport Indonesia’s share)
has been incurred for the Common Infrastructure project. In addition,

PT Freeport Indonesia’s share of capital expenditures totaled $58 million
in 2007 for infrastructure required for development of the underground
Grasherg ore body.

The Big Gossan underground mine is a high-grade deposit located near
the existing milling complex. The Big Gossan mine is being developed as an
open-stope mine with backfill consisting of mill tailings and cement, an
established mining methodology expected to be higher-cost than the block-
cave method used at the DOZ mine. Production is expected to ramp up
to full roduction of 7,000 metric tons per day in late 2010 (average annual
aggregaté incrementa! production of 125 million pounds of copper and
65,000 cunces of gold, with PT Freeport Indonesia receiving 60 percent of
these amounts). As a result of higher costs and scoping changes associated
with this project, we have updated our capital cost estimate to approximately
$480 million, Capital expenditures incurred to date on this project total $184
million ($168 million for PT Freeport Indonesia’s share). Recent increases
in tabor costs, currency exchange rates and other construction costs, along
with changes in scope, have resulted in spending above previous estimates.
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Unit Net Cash Costs. Unit net cash costs per pound of copper is a
measure intended to provide investors with information about the cash-
generating capacity of our mining operations expressed on a basis
relating to the primary metal product for our respective operations. We
use this measure for the same purpose and for monitoring operating
performance by eur mining operations. This information differs from
measures of performance determined in accordance with U.S. GAAP and
should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for measures of
performance determined in accordance with U.S. GAAP. This measure is

Gross Profit per Pound of Copper/per Ounce of Gold and Silver

presented by other mining companies, although our measures may not
be comparable to similarly titted measures reported by other companies.

The following tables summarize the unit net cash costs at our

Indonesian mining operations for the years ended December 31, 2007,
2006 and 2005. For a reconciliation of unit net cash costs per pound to

production and delivery costs applicable to sales reported in FCX's

consolidated financial statements, refer to “Production Revenues and

Production Costs.”

By-Product Co-Product Method

Year Ended December 31, 2007 Method Copper Gold Sitver
Revenues, after adjustments shown below $ 332 $ 332 $680.74 $13.31
Site production and defivery, before net noncash and nonrecurring costs shown below 119 0.85 172.23 3.37
Gold and silver credits 1.36) - - -
Treatment charges 0.34 0.24 49.45 0.97
Royalty on metals 0.12 0.08 17.05 0,33

Unit net cash costs 0.29 - 117 238.73 4.67
Depreciation and amortization 017 0.12 25.54 0.50
Noncash and nonrecwiring costs, net 0.04 0.03 5.90 0.12

Totat unit costs 0.50 1.32 27017 529
Revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing on prior period open sales 0.03 0.03 1.07 0.03
PT Smelting intercompany profit recognized 0.1 0.1 1.71 0.03
Gross profit $ 286 $ 2.04 $413.35 $ 8.08
Congofidated sales

Capper (millions of recoverable pounds) 1,131 1,131

Gold (thousands of recoverable ounces) 2,185

Silver (thousands of recoverable ounces) 3.593

By-Product Co-Product Method

Year Ended December 31, 2006 Method Copper Gold Siver
Revenues, after adjustments shown below $ 3.13 $ 3.13 $566.51° § 859
Site production and defivery, before net noncash and nonrecurring costs shown below 1.03 0.79 156.24 an
Gold and silver credits (0.93) - - -
Treatment charges 0.40 0.31 60.41 1.20
Royalty on metals 0.10 0.08 15.94 0.32

Unit net cash costs 0.60 1.18 232.59 463
Depreciation and amortization 0.15 0.12 23.25 0.46
Noncash and nonrecurring costs, net 0.04 0.03 5.60 0.11

Tota! unit costs 0.79 1.33 261.44 520
Revenue adjustments, primarity for pricing on prior period open sales 0.10° 0.17 11.53 022
PT Smelting intercompany profit eliminated — - (0.37) {0.01)
Gross profit $ 2.44 $ 1.97 $316.23 $ 3.60
Consolidated sales

Copper (millions of recoverable pounds) 1,201 1,201

Gold {thousands of recoverable ounces) 1,736

Silver (thousands of recoverable ounces) 3,806

a. Amount was approximately $606 per cunce betore a loss resulting {rom redemption of our Gold-Denorninated Preferred Stock, Series U,

e

. Amount was approximately $12 per ounce before a loss resutting from redemption of our Sitver-Denominated Preferred Stock.

¢. Includes a $0.06 per pound loss on the redemption of our Gotd-Denominated Prefered Stock, Series U, and a $0.01 per pound boss on the redemption of our Siver-Denominated Prefered Stocikc
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Bnyroduct Co-Product Method

Year Ended December 31, 2005 Methed Copper Gold Silver
Revenues, after adjustments shown below $1.85 $ 1.85 $456.27 5 6.36%
Site production and delivery, before net noncash and nonrecurring costs shown below 0.65° 0.44¢ 107.71° 1.76°
Gold and silver credits {0.89) - - -
Treatment charges 0.24 0.16 39.75 0.65
Royalty on metals 0.07 (.05 11.77 0,19

Unit net cash costs 0.07 0.65 159.23 260
Depreciation and amortization 0.14 0.10 23.79 0.39
Nancash and nonrecurring costs, net - — 0.52 0.01

Total unit costs 0.21 0.75 183.54 3.00
Revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing on prior period open sales 0.01¢ 0.02 (1.14) 0.02
PT Smelting intercompany profit eliminated {0.01) 0.01) (2.67) (0.04)

Gross profit

Consolidated sales
Copper (millions of recoverable pounds)
Gold (thousands of recoverable ounces)
Silver (thousands of recoverable ounces)

en o

2007 Compared with 2006. Because of the fixed nature of a large
portion of PT Freeport Indonesia’s costs, unit costs vary significantly from
period to period depending on volumes of copper and gold sold during the
period. Higher unit site production and delivery costs in 2007, compared
with 2006, primarily reflected increases in production costs and lower
copper sales volumes resutting from mine sequencing in the Grasberg
open pit, which resutted from mining in a refatively low-grade section
during the second halt of 2007. Offsetting these factors in the by-product
calculation were higher gold credits reflecting higher overall gold sales
volumes and average realized gold prices in 2007.

PT Freeport indonesia has also experienced significant increases in
production costs in recent years primarily as a result of higher energy
costs and costs of other consumables, higher mining costs and milling
rates, laber costs and other factors. Aggregate energy costs, which
approximate 20 percent of PT Freeport Indonesia’s production costs,
primarily include purchases of approximately 100 million gallons of diesel
fuel per year and approximately 700,000 metric tong of coal per year.
Diesel prices have almost tripled and our coal costs are approximately 45
percent higher since the baginning of 2003. The costs of other consumables,
including steel and reagents, aiso have increased. Additionally, as
approximately 15 percent of PT Freeport Indonesia’s production costs are
denominated in Australian dollars, our Indonesian mining costs have
been affected by the stronger Australian dollar against the U.S. dollar
(refer to “Foreign Currency Exchange Risk” for further discussion).

Unit treatment charges vary with the price of copper, and unit royalty
costs vary with prices of copper and gold. Market rates for treatment
charges have decreased since 2006 and will vary based on PT Freeport
Indonesia’s customer mix. The copper royalty rate payable by PT Freeport
Indonesia under its Contract of Work varies from 1.5 percent of copper
net revenue at a copper price of $0.90 or fess per pound to 3.5 percent at
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$ 1.64 $ 1.1 $268.92 $ 3.94

1,457 1,457
2,790 -
4,735

Amount was approximately $7 per ource befera a loss resuiting from redemption of our Silver-Denominated Preferred Stock.

Net of deferred mining costs of $0.05 per pound. Following the adoption of EITF 04-6 on January 1, 20086, stripping costs are no longer deferred {refer to Note 1 for further discussion).
Net of deferred mining costs of $0.03 per pound of copper, $7.37 per ounce of gold and $8.12 per cunce of siker (See note b above).

Includes less than a $0.01 per pound loss on the redemption of our Silver-Denominatet Preferret Stock.

a copper price of $1.10 or more per pound. The Contract of Work royalty
rate for gold and silver sales is 1.0 percent.

In connection with our fourth concentrator mill expansion completed
in 1998, PT Freeport Indonesia agreed to pay the Government of
Indonesta additional royalties {royatties not required by the Contract of
Work} to provide further support to the local gevernments and the people
of the indonesian province of Papua (refer to Note 16 for further
discussion). The additienal royalties are paid on production exceeding
specified annual amounts of copper, gold and silver expected to be
generated when PT Freeport Indongsia’s milling facilities operate above
200,000 metric tons of ore per day. PT Freeport Indonesia’s royalty
rate on copper net revenues from production above the agreed levels is
double the Contract of Work royalty rate, and the royalty rates on gold
and silver sales from production above the agreed levels are triple the
Contract of Work royalty rates.

As a resutt of the lower copper production and sales volumes in 2007,
compared with 2006, PT Freeport Indonesia’s unit depreciation rate
increased in 2007. Because certain assets are depreciated on a straight-
line basis, the unit rate varies with the level of copper production and
sales. Additionally, changes to the long-range mine plan that impacts
Grasberg open-pit reserves will impact unit rates,

Assuming average copper prices of $3.00 per pound and average
gold prices of $800 per ounce for 2008 and achievement of current
2008 sales estimates, PT Freeport Indonesia estimates that its annual
2008 unit net cash costs, including gold and silver credits, would
approximate $0.80 per pound. Because the majority of PT Freeport
Indonesia’s costs are fixed, unit costs vary with the volumes sold
and the price of gold, and are therefore currently‘projected to be higher
during 2008, compared with 2007, primarily because of lower
projected gold sales volumes.
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2006 GCompared with 2005. Higher unit site production and delivery
costs in 2006, compared with 2005, primarily reflected lower sales
volumes resulting from mine sequencing in the Grasberg open pit, higher
input costs (including energy) and the impact of adopting EITF 04-6
(refer to Note 1 for further discussion of EITF 04-6). For 2005,
unit costs benefited from the deferral of stripping costs totaling $0.05
per pound.

Gold and silver credits increased in 2006, compared with 2005,
primarily reflecting fower copper sales volumes and higher average realized
gold prices. Additionally, PT Freeport Indonesia had higher treatment
charges in 2006, compared with 2005, primarily because of higher market
rates and higher copper prices, including the effects of price participation
under our concentrate sales agreements, and higher royalties because of
higher copper and gold prices.

Other Mining Matters

Africa. We hold an effective 57.75 percent interest in the Tenke
Fungurume copper/cobalt mining concessions in the Katanga province of
the DRC and are the operator of the project. FCX is responsible for funding
70 percent of project development costs and, at our joint venture partner’s
election, is also responsible for financing our partner's share of project
overruns of more than 25 percent of the feasibility study cost estimates.

The total capital investment for this project is currently estimated at
approximately $900 million, with approximately 35 percent incurred as of
December 31, 2007 (including amounts incurred prior to the acquisition
of Phelps Dodge). Capital cost estimates will continue to be reviewed as
engineering and construction activities progress.

The initial project at Tenke Fungurume is based on initial ore reserve
estimates of approximately 100 milfion metric tons with ore grades of 2.3
percent copper and 0.3 percent cobalt. Operations are expected to
commence during 2009, with average annual production of approximately
250 million pounds of copper and approximately 18 million pounds of cobalt,
In February 2008, we received a letter from the Ministry of Mines,
Government of the DRC, seeking our comment on proposed material
modifications to our mining contract for the Tenke Fungurume concession,
including the amount of transfer payments payable to the government, the
government's percentage ownership and involvement in the management
of the mine, regularization of certain matters under Congolese law and
the implementation of social pfans. Our mining contract was negotiated
transparently and approved by the Government of the DRC following
extended negotiations, and we believe it complies with Congolese law and
is enforceable without modifications. We are currently working
cooperatively with the Ministry of Mines to resolve these matters while
continuing with our project development activities.

Gerro Verde. In June 2004, the executive branch of the Peruvian
government approved legisfation incorporating a royalty on mining
activities, which would be assessed at a graduated rate of up to three
percent on the value of Cerro Verde's sales, net of certain refated
expenses. tn June 2006, an amendment to the royalty law was approved
by the Peruvian Congress, which granted the Peruvian tax authorities
the right to levy mining royalties on all mining companies operating in

-

Peru, including those with stability agreements. This amendment was
subsequently rejected by the executive branch on the grounds that the
government cannot modify stability agreements entered into with mining
companies without their consent. However, the government has
requested that all mining companies make additional payments to local
communities where they operate during times of high metal prices to
partially offset proceeds that would have otherwise come from the royafty.
Cerro Verde has provided a variety of community support projects
over the years. During 2006, as a result of discussions with local mayors
in the Arequipa region, Cerro Verde agreed to design domestic water
and sewage treatment plants for the benefit of the region. These facilities
are being designed in a modular fashion so that initial installations can
be readily expanded in the future. The cost associated with the construction
of these facilities is currently under review; however, the costs associated
with the first phase of construction of the facilities will be split evenly
between Cerro Verde and the local municipalities and is currently
estimated at $80 million (340 million for Cerro Verde's share, which has
been recorded as a current liability in our consolidated balance sheets).
During 2006, the Peruvian government announced that all mining
companies operating in Peru will make annual contributions to locat
development funds for a five-year period. The contribution is equal to 3.75
percent of after-tax profits, of which 2.75 percent is contributed to
a local mining fund and 1.00 percent to a regional mining fund. As the
contribution program was being established, Cerro Verde negotiated an
agreement that allowed a credit against contributions to the local mining
fund for Cerro Verde’s contributions made to the Arequipa region for
construction of locat water and sewage treatment facilities. During third-
quarter 2007, the agreement with the government was modified
to exclude this credit. Accordingly, we recorded a $33 million charge to
production and delivery costs in third-quarter 2007, which included the
additional liability associated with the local mining fund contributions.
At December 31, 2007, Cerro Verde's liability associated with the local
mining fund contributions totaled $49 million, which is recorded as a
current liability in our consolidated balance sheets.

PROVEN AND PROBABLE RESERVES

Recoverable proven and probable reserves are estimated metal quantities
from which we expect to be paid after application of estimated
metaliurgical recovery rates and smelter recovery rates, where applicable.
Recoverable reserves are that part of 4 minera! deposit which we
estimate ¢an be economically and legally extracted or produced at the
time of the reserve determination. FCX's estimated consolidaied
recoverable reserves include 93.2 billion pounds of copper, 41.0 million
ounces of gold, 2.0 billion pounds of molybdenum, 230.9 million ounces of
silver and 0.6 billion pounds of cobalt. Estimated recoverable reserves
were assessed using long-term average prices of $1.20 per pound for
copper, $450 per ounce for gold and $56.50 per pound for molybdenum,
compared with our 2006 assumptions of $1.00 per pound for copper and
$400 per ounce for gold, and Phelps Dodge’s 2006 assumptions of $1.05
per pound for copper and $5.00 per pound for molybdenum. The London
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spot metal prices for the past three years averaged $2.65 per pound for
copper and $582 per ounce for gold, and the Metals Week Molybdenum

Dealer Oxide price averaged $28.90 per pound for molybdenum.

Following provides a summary, by geographic region, of our estimated
recoverable proven and probable copper, gold and molybdenum reserves

at December 31, 2007:

Copper Gold Molybdenum
(hillion {miflion {billion
pounds) ounces) pounds)
North America 258 0.2 1.8
South America 26.0 14 0.2
indonesia 371 39.4 -
Africa 4,3 - —
Consolidated basis? 932 41.0 20
Net equity interest? 77.0 370 1.9

d. Consolicated basis reserves represent estimated metal quantities after reductions for joint venture
partner interests at tha Morancl mine in North America and at the Grasberg mining complex in
Indonesta.

b Net equity interest represents our net ownership interest {i.e., estimated consolidated reserves
further retuced for minority interests).

Net additions to recoverable copper reserves totaled approximately 2.3
billion pounds at our Narth American mines and approximately 1.8 billion
pounds at our South American mines primarily because of higher price

assumptions, partly offset by increased costs. These additions were partly .

offset by reductions of approximately 0.7 billion pounds at our Indonesian
mining operations primarily because the Dom ore body was reclassified
as mineralized material following an updated risk assessment of the
Dom's proximity to the mill complex and updates to the long-term mine
plans for the underground cre body. Following provides a rellforward

of the changes in our estimated recoverable proven and probable copper,
gold and molybdenum reserves for 2007:

exploration is ongoing in and around the Cerro Verde, Candelaria and Ojos
del Salado deposits. In Africa, we are actively pursuing targets outside

of the area of initial development at Tenke Fungurume, The number of drilt
rigs operating on these and other programs near our mine sites has
increased from 26 at the end of March 2007 to 55 at year end 2007.

PT Freeport indonesia’s exploration efforts in Indonesia include testing
extensions of the Deep Grasberg and Kucing Liar mine complex and
evaluating targets in the area between the Ertsberg East and Grasberg
mineral systems from the new Common Infrastructure tunnels. Initial drill
results from the Common Infrastructure tunne! are positive and additional
drilling is in process. We continue efforts to resume exploration activities
in certain prospective areas in Papua, outside Block A {the Grasberg
contract area).

ATLANTIC COPPER SMELTING & REFINING

Our investment in smelters serves an important role in our concentrate
marketing strategy. PT Freeport Indonesia generally sells, under long-term
contracts, approximately one-half of its concentrate production to its
affiliated smelters, Atlantic Copper and PT Smelting, and the remainder to
other customers. Treatment charges for smetting and refining copper
concentrates represent a cost to PT Freeport Indonesia and income to
Atlantic Copper and PT Smelting, Through downstream integration, we are
assured placement of a significant portion of PT Freeport Indonesia’s
concentrate production. Smelting and refining charges consist of a base
rate and, in certain contracts, price participation based on copper prices.
Higher treatment and refining charges benefit our smeiter operations

at Atlantic Copper and adversely affect our mining operations in Indonesia
and South America. North American mining operations are not
significantly affected by changes in treatment and refining charges
because these operations are fully integrated.

Atantic Copper has a iabor contract covering certain employees, which
expired in December 2007. The contract has been provisionally extended
and is currently being renegotiated.

The tollowing discussion of Atlantic Copper’s operations covers the
years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005:

Gopper Gold Mutybdenufn
{hillion (million (hillion
pounds) ounces) poungs)
Reserves at December 31, 20062 93.6 425 20
Net additiong/revisions 35 0.8 0.1
Production (3.9) 2.3) 0.1)
Reserves at December 31, 2007 . 932 41.0 2.0

a. Includes Phelps Dodge reserves prior 1o the acquisition,
Refer to Note 19 for further details of estimated recoverable reserves.

EXPLORATION ACTIVITIES

We are conducting exploration activities near our existing mines and in
other high potentia! areas around the world. Aggregate exploration
expenditures in 2007 totaled $119 million, and are expected to approximate
$175 million in 2008.

Our exploration efforts in North America include drilling of the Lone
Star deposit located approximately four miles from the ore body within
the Safford district, as welf as targets in the Morenci and Bagdad districts,
and near the Henderson molybdenum ore body. In South America,
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Years Ended December 31, 2007 2006 2005
Gross profit $ 23 & 90 $ 46
Add depreciation and amortization expense 36 33 24
Gther 1 - 3

Cash margin $ 60 $123 §$ 78
Operating income $ 3 $ 74 § 3
Concentraie and scrap treated (thousands

of metric tons) 952 954 975
Anodes production (millions of pounds) 565 581 627
Treatment rates per pound $027  $033 $0.23
Cathodes sates {millions of pounds) 555 529 549
Gold sales in anodes and slimes

{thousands of ounces) 663 667 543
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2007 Compared with 20086. In June 2007, Atlantic Copper successfully
completed a scheduled 23-day maintenance turnaround, which had a $26
million impact on production and delivery costs in 2007, including the
impact of lower volumes. Major maintenance turnarounds typically occur
every 12 years for Atlantic Copper, with significantly shorter term
maintenance turnarounds in the interim. The next maintenance activity at
Atlantic Copper is scheduled for 2011,

Atlantic Copper's operating cash margin was $60 miflion in 2007,
compared with $123 million in 2006, and operating income was $3 million
in 2007, compared with $74 million in 2006. The reduction in Attantic
Copper's operating cash margin and operating income in 2007 reflected
(i) the impact of the scheduted maintenance tumaround completed in June
2007, (i} lower treatment rates and (jii) higher operating costs resulting
trom a stronger Euro and increased energy costs.

Atlantic Copper's treatment charges, including price participation,
which are what PT Freeport Indonesia and third parties pay Atlantic
Copper to smelt and refine concentrates, averaged $0.27 per pound in
2007, compared with $0.33 per pound for 2006, Market treatment rates
have been volatile in recent years. After experiencing increases in prior
years, rates began declining in 2006 as a result of limited concentrate
availability. Assuming average copper prices of $3.00 per pound for 2008,
we expect these rates to average approximately $0.19 per pound in 2008.

We defer recognizing profits on PT Freeport Indonesia’s sales to
Atlantic Copper and on 25 percent of PT Freeport Indonesia’s sales to PT
Smelting until the final sales to third parties occur. Changes in these net
deferrals resulted in an addition to operating income totaling $15 million
{58 million to net income or $0.02 per share) in 2007, compared with
$32 million {$17 million to net income or $0.08 per share) in 2006. At
December 31, 2007, our net deferred profits on PT Freeport Indonesia
concentrate inventories at Atlantic Copper and PT Smelting to be
recognized in future periods’ net income after taxes and minority interests
totaled $93 miltion. Assuming average copper prices of $3.00 per pound
and gold prices of $800 per ounce for 2008 and current shipping schedules,
we estimate the net change in deferred profits on intercompany sales will
result in an increase to net income of approximately $40 million in first-
quarter 2008, The actual change in deferred intercompany profits may differ
substantially from this estimate because of changes in the timing of
shipments to affiliated smelters and metal prices.

2006 Compared with 2005. Atlantic Copper’s operating cash margin
was $123 million in 2006, compared with $78 million in 2005, and
operating income was $74 million in 2006, compared with $35 million in
2005. The positive results in 2006 primarily reflected higher treatment
charges, partially offset by higher unit costs.

Atlantic Copper’s treatment charges averaged $0.33 per pound in
2006, compared with $0.23 per pound in 2005, reflecting higher market
rates and price participation under the terms of Atlantic Copper’s
concentrate purchase and sales agreements.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
On Octaber 31, 2007, we completed the sale of PDIC, our international
wire and cable business, for $7:35 million. Income from discontinued
operations totaled $35 million in 2007, after taxes and transaction costs
related to the sale. The transaction generated after-tax proceeds of
approximately $650 million (net proceeds of $597 million after taxes,
transaction-related costs and PDIC cash). As a resutt of the sale, the
operating results of PDIC have been removed from continuing operations
and reported as discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of
income. Although not separately identified in the consolidated statements
of cash flows, operating cash flows from discontinued operations for the
period March 20, 2007, through December 31, 2007, totaled $48 million.
The absence of PDIC cash flows is not expected to have a material
impact on operating results or cash flows in future periods.

Refer to Note 4 for further discussion of discontinued operations.

CAPITAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY
Our operating cash flows vary with prices realized from copper, gold and
molybdenum sales, our production levels, production costs, cash
paymenté for income taxes and interest, other working capital changes
and other factors. Based on current ming plans and subject to future
copper, gold and molybdenum prices, we expect to generate cash flows
during 2008 significantly greater than our budgeted capital expenditures,
scheduled debt maturities, minority interest distributions, dividends and
other cash requirements. i

Following the significant increase in our debt associated with the
acquisition of Phelps Dodge, we placed a high priority on debt reduction
and achieved meaningful debt reductions since the acquisition. During
2007, we fully repaid the original $10.0 billion in term loan borrowings
under the $11.5 billion senior credit facility using a combination of
equity proceeds and internally generated cash flows (refer to “Financing
Activities” for further discussion).

Cash and Cash Equivalents k

At December 31, 2007, we had consolidated cash and cash equivalents
of $1.6 billion. The following table reflects the U.S. and international
components of consolidated cash and cash equivalents for the years
ended December 31, 2007 and 2008 {in billions):

December 31, 2007 2006
Cash from 1.S. operations $0.1 $ -
Cash from international operations 1.5 0.9
Total consolidated cash and cash equivalents 16 0.9
Less:; minority interests’ share 0.3) -
Cash, net of minority interests’ share 1.3 0.9
Withholding taxes if distributed® {0.2) (0.1)
Net cash available to FCX $1.1 $08

a. Cash at our international operations is subject to foreign withholding taxes of up to 22 percent upon
repatriation into the U.S.
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Operaling Activities

We generated operating cash flows totaling $6.2 billion for 2007, including
$1.1 billion from working capital sources, compared with $1.9 billion for
2006, net of $114 million used for working capital. Operating cash flows
for 2007 included $4.1 billion of additional cash flows from Phelps
Dodge’s operations beginning March 20, 2007, and also benefited from
higher metals prices.

Net cash provided by operating activities totaled $1.9 billion for 2006,
net of $114 million used for working capital, compared with $1.6 billion for
2005, including $179 million from working capital sources. Operating
cash flows for 2006 benefited from higher net income primarily associated
with higher metals prices.

Operating activities are expected to generate positive cash flows for the
foreseeable future based on anticipated operating results and metal
prices. Based on estimated sales volumes for 2008 (refer to “Outlook”} and
assuming average prices of $3.00 per pound of copper, $800 per ounce
of gold and $30 per pound of molybdenum for 2008, operating cash flows
would approximate $5 billion, which is net of approximately $800 milfion
for working capital uses, including the $598 million payment made in
January 2008 to settle the 2007 copper price protection program. In the
first half of 2008, we will use a portion of our $1.5 billion revolving credit
facilities primarily because of significant working capital requirements,
which we expect to repay in the second half of 2008. Using fiat pricing
assumptions for the year, second-half 2008 operating cash flows would be
significantly higher than the first half.

Investing Activities

On March 19, 2007, we issued 136.9 million shares of common stock
and paid $13.9 billion {net of cash acquired) to acquire Phelps Dodge (refer
to Note 2 for further discussion).

Capital expenditures, including capitalized interest, totaled $1.8 billion
for 2007, compared with $251 million for 2006 and $143 million for 2005.
The increase in capital expenditures for 2007, compared with 2006 and
2005, primarily resulted from the addition of Phelps Dodge capital spending
beginning March 20, 2007. For the period March 20, 2007, through
December 31, 2007, capital expenditures from Phelps Dodge's operations
totaled $1.3 billion, including $345 million associated with the Safford
project in Arizona and $218 million associated with the Tenke Fungurume
project in the DRC. Also included in capital expenditures for 2007 was
$101 million for development expenditures at Big Gossan and $58 million
for infrastructure required for the development of the underground
Grasberg are body.

During 2006, capital expenditures in Indonesia included $56 million for
Big Gossan, $23 million for the Grasberg underground ore body, $17
million for the DOZ expansion and $9 million for the Common Infrastructure
project. During 2005, capital expenditures included $19 million for the
Comman infrastructure project and $16 million for the DOZ expansion.

Capital expenditures, including $1.3 billion for major projects, are
expected to approximate $2.4 billion for 2008, and average $1.8 billion
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per year over the next three years. Following is a summary of expected
capital expenditures in 2008 associated with major projects:

Tenke Fungurume mine development $ 500
Climax molybdernum mine restart 250
Incremental expansions? 185
Big Gossan mine development 160
El Abra sulfide mine 70
Other major projects 135

$1,300

a. We are continuing to evaluate expansion opportunities associated with existing ere bodies. As an
initial step, we are pursuing incremental expansions at Morenci, Siernita, Bagdad and Cerro Verde.
The projects will require a capital investment of approximately $400 million and are expecied to
provide incremental production ramping up to over 200 million pounds of copper and 7 million
pounds of molybdenum by 201 1. Detailed engineering for these projects is under way.

Capital costs have been affected by the prices of input costs, including
energy, equipment, materials and supplies, and jabor. We wilt continue
te review and update our capital cost estimates as engineering and
construction activities progress on our major projects.

During 2007, we received net proceeds of $597 million associated
with the sale of PDIC (refer to Note 4 for further discussion), and also
received proceeds from the sales of assets totaling $260 miltion primarily
related to sales of marketable securities.

Financing Activities
At December 31, 2007, we had $7.2 billion in debt, including $6.0 billion
in acquisition debt, $0.8 billion of debt assumed in the Phelps Dodge
acquisition and $0.4 billion of previously existing debt. in connection with
financing the acquisition of Phelps Dodge, we used $2.5 billion of
available cash (including cash acquired from Phelps Dodge) and funded
the remainder with term loan borrowings totaling $10.0 billion under
a new $11.5 biliion senior credit facility and from the offering of $6.0
billion in senior notes {which generated net proceeds of $5.9 billion).

Following the close of the acquisition and in accordance with our plan
to reduce debt, during 2007, we fully repaid the $10.0 billion in term loans
(including incremental borrowings and payments of approximately $2.5
billion) using a combination of equity proceeds and internally generated
cash flows, The equity transactions included the sale of 47.15 million shares
of common stock at $61.25 per share for net proceeds of $2.8 billion and
28.75 million shares of 6 3/4% Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock for
net proceeds of $2.8 billion. In addition to repaying the term loans, we had
net repayments of other debt totaling $325 milfion in 2007.

During 2006, we had a net reduction to debt of $576 million, including
the following transactions:

« $317 million for the completion of a tender offer and privately
negotiated transactions to induce conversion of our 7% Convertible
Senior Notes into FCX common stock.

+ $167 million for the mandatory redemption of our Gold-Denominated
Preferred Stock, Series 1.

= $13 million for the final mandatory redemption of our Silver-
Denominated Preferred Stock.

« $11 million for open-market purchases of our 10 1/8% Senior Notes.

L
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During 2005, we had a net reduction to debt of $696 million, including
the following transactions:

« $251 million for privately negotiated transactions to induce conversion
of a portion of our 7% Convertible Senior Notes into FCX common
stock.

« 3231 million for open-market purchases, including (i) $216 million of
our 10 /8% Senior Notes, (i) $11 million of our 7.50% Senior Notes
and (jii) $4 million of our 7.20% Senior Notes.

+ $187 million to prepay certain bank debt.

« The partial mandatory redemption of $13 million of our Silver-
Denominated Preferred Stock.

Following the debt repayments during 2007, we have $31 million
in debt maturities for 2008 and $212 million for the three-year period of
2009 through 2011,

in February 2008, we purchased, in an open market transaction, $33
million of the 9 /2% Senicr Notes for $46 million, which will result in a net
charge of $6 million ($5 million to net income} in first-quarter 2008,

We have $1.5 billion in revolving credit facilities due in March 2012. The
revolving credit facilities are composed of (i) a $1.0 billion revolving credit
facility avaifable to FCX and {ii) a $0.5 billion revolving credit facility
available to both FCX and PT Freeport Indonesia. The fagility avaitable to FCX
and PT Freeport Indonesia represents an amendment to the FCX and PT
Freeport Indonesia revalver that was scheduled to mature in 2009. Effective
February 19, 2008, interest on the revolving credit facilities accrues at the
London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus 0.75 percent, subject to an
increase or decrease in the interest rate margin based on the credit ratings
assigned by Standard and Poor's Rating Services and Moody's Investor
Services. At December 31, 2007, no amounts were outstanding under the
revolving credit facilities; however, we have drawn on these facilities in
2008 to cover certain working capital requirements, which we expect to
repay in the second half of 2008. At February 22, 2008, we had $471 million
of borrowings and $62 million of letters of credit issued under the facilities,
resulting in total availability of $967 million under the facilities,

In December 2007, our Board of Directors approved a new open market
share purchase program for up to 20 million shares. As of February 22, 2008,
no shares have been purchased under this program. The timing of future
purchases of our common stack is dependent on many factors, including
the price of our common shares, our operating results, cash flows and
financial position, copper, gold and molybdenum prices, and general
economic and market conditions. This program replaces our previous open
market share purchase program that was approved in 2003 for up to
20 million shares and under which we acquired 2.0 million shares for $100
million ($49.94 per share average) in 2006 and 2.4 million shares for
$80 million ($33.83 per share average) in 2005.

In February 2003, our Board of Directors authorized an annual cash
dividend on our common stock of $0.36 per share, and authorized
increases in the annual cash dividend in Qctober 2003 to $0.80 per share,
in October 2004 to $1.00 per share and in November 2005 to $1.25 per

share. In December 2007, our Board of Directors increased our annual
cash dividend on our common stock to its current rate of $1.75 per share,
which is declared and paid at a quarterly rate of $0.4375 per share
beginning in February 2008.

Additionally, since December 2004, we have paid eight supplemental
dividends totaling $995 million ($5.25 per share). In 2007, common stock
dividends paid totaled $421 miltion {$1.25 per share). In 2006, common
stock dividends paid totaled $916 million ($4.75 per share), including four
supplemnental dividends totaling $678 million {$3.50 per share). In 2005,
common stock dividends paid totaled $453 million ($2.50 per share), including
three supplemental dividends totaling $272 million ($1.50 per share).

Based on outstanding common shares on December 31, 2007, our
annual common stock dividend totals approximately $670 million. On
December 27, 2007, FCX declared a regular quarterly dividend, which
was paid on February 1, 2008, to common shareholders of record at
the close of business on January 15, 2008. The declaration and payment
of dividends is at the discretion of our Board of Directors. The amount
of our current quarterly cash dividend on our common stock and possible
payment of additional future supplemental cash dividends will be
dependent upon our financial results, cash requirements, future prospects
and other factors deemed relevant by our Board of Directors.

In 2007, preferred stock dividends paid totaled $175 million representing
dividends on our 5 /2% Convertible Perpetual Preferred Stock and
6 3/4% Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock. In both 2006 and 2005,
preferred stock dividends totaled approximately $61 million representing
dividends on our 5 /2% Convertible Perpetual Preferred Stock.

Each share of our 5 /2% Convertible Perpetual Preferred Stock
was initially convertible into 18.8019 shares of our common stock. The
conversion rate is adjustable upon the occurrence of certain events,
including any quarter that our common stock dividend exceeds $0.20 per
share. As a resuft of the quarterly and supplemental common stock
dividends paid through February 1, 2008, each share of preferred stock is
now convertible into 21.2924 shares of FCX commaon stock, or an aggregate
of approximately 23.4 million shares of FCX comman stock, Beginning
March 30, 2009, we may redeem shares of the 5 /2% Convertible Perpetual
Preferred Stock by paying cash, our common stock or any combination
thereof for $1,000 per share plus unpald dividerds, but only if our common
stock has exceeded 130 percent of the conversion price for at least 20
trading days within a period of 30 consecutive trading days immediately
preceding the notice of redemption. On December 27, 2007, FCX declared a
regular quarterly dividend of $13.75 per share of FCX’s 5 /2% Convertible
Perpetual Preferred Stock, which was paid on February 1, 2008, to
shareholders of record at the close of business on January 15, 2008.

In March 2007, we sold 28.75 million shares of 6 /4% Mandatory
Convertible Preferred Stock, which wilt automaticalty convert on May 1, 2010,
into between approximately 39 million and 47 miliion shares of FCX
cemmon stock. The conversion rate Is adjustable upon the ocourrence of
certain events, including any quarter that our common stock dividend
exceeds $0.3125 per share, However, adjustments that do not exceed one
percent are carried forward and must be made no later than August of each

Financial & Operating Information §3




FREEPORT-McMoRAN COPPER & GOLD INC.
2007 Annual Report

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

vear, For this reason, no adjustment was required to be made as a resutt of
the quarterty common stock dividend paid on February 1, 2008. Holders

may elect to convert at any time prior to May 1, 2010, at a conversion rate
equal to 1.3605 shares of common stock for each share of 6 %/4% Mandatory
Convertible Preferred Stock. On December 27, 2007, FCX declared a regular
quarterly dividend of $1.6875 per share of FCX's 6 /4% Mandatory
Convertible Preferred Stock, which was paid on February 1, 2008, to
shareholders of record at the close of business on January 15, 2008.

Annual preferred stock dividends on our 5 /2% Convertible Perpetual
Preferred Stock and 6 3/4% Mandatory Coavertible Preferred Stock total
approximately $255 million.

Cash dividends paid to minority interests in 2007 totaled $967 million
reflecting dividends paid to the minority interest owners of PT Freeport
Indonesia and our South America mines, inctuding $288 million for the
minority pariners' share of the dividend paid by Cerro Verde in December

2007 Cash dividends of $161 million in 2006 and $125 million in
2005 primarily reflect dividends paid to the minority interest owners of
PT Freeport tndonesia.

We have restricted payment covenants in our $1.5 billion senior
revolving credit facilities and the $6.0 billion in senior notes used to
finance the acquisition of Phelps Dodge, and aiso in our 6 /8% Senior
Notes. The amount available for dividend payments, purchases of qur
common stock and other restricted payments as of December 31, 2007,
was approximately $5.1 billion under the $1.5 billion senior revolving
credit facilities, approximately $8.4 billion under the $6.0 billion in senior
notes and approximately $7.4 billion under the 6 7/8% Senior Notes.

DEBT MATURITIES AND OTHER GONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS
Below is a summary of our total debt maturities at December 31, 2007:

2008 2009 2010 201 212 Thereafter
Equipment [oans and other $31 $49 $22 $ 22 $74 $ 8
Senior Notes - - - 119 - 6,800
§3 $49 $22 $14 $74 $6,894

In addition to debt maturities shown above, we have other contractual
obligations, which we expect to fund with projected operating cash flows,

available credit facilities or future financing transactions, if necessary.
A summary of these various obligations at December 31, 2007, follows:

Less Than Years Years

Total 1 Year 2-3 4-5 Thereafter
Scheduled interest payment obligations® $ 5,399 $ 580 $1,158 $1,138 $ 2523
Reclamation and environmental obligations® 8,826 249 533 421 7,623
Take-or-pay contracts”® 2,286 1,536 542 184 24
Operating lease obligations 103 26 45 30 2
Atlantic Capper obligation to insurance company® 95 11 21 x| 42
PT Freeport Indonesia mine closure and reclamation fund® 19 1 1 1 16
Total contractual cash obligations* $16,728 $2,403 $2,300 $1,795 $10,230

a. Scheduled Interast payment obligations were calculated using stated coupon rates for fixed-rate debt and interest rates applicable al December 31, 2007, for variable-rate debt.

b.

C.

Represents estimated cash payments, on an escalated basis, associated with reclamation and environmental activities. The timing and the amount of these payments could change as a result of changes in regulatory
requirements, changes in scope and costs of reclamation activities and as actual spending occurs. Refer to Nota 15 for additional discussion of environmental and reclamation matters.

Represents contractual obligations lor purchases of goods or services that are defined by us as agreements that are enforceadle and lepally binding and that specify all significant terms. Take-or-pay contracts peimarily
poeprisa the procurement of copper concentrales and cathodes ($1.7 billion} and transportation (3270 million). Some of our take-or-pay contracts are settied based on the prevailing markat rate for the service oF
commodity purchased, and in some cases, the amount of the actual obligation may change over time becausa of market conditions. Obligations for copper concentrates and cathodes provide for deliveries of specified
volumes, at market-based prices, 1o Atlantic Copper and the North American mining sales company. Transportation obligations are primarity for South American contracted ocean freight rates and for North American
natural gas transporiation.

1n August 2002, Atlantic Copper complied with Spanish legistation by agreeing to fund 7.2 million euros annually for 15 years to an approved insurance company for an estimated 72 million euro contractual obligation to
supplement amounts paic 1o certain retired empioyees. Atlantic Copper had $72 million recorded for this obligation at December 31, 2007.

Represents PT Freeport Indonesia’s commitments ta contributa amounts to & cash fund designed to accumulate at least $100 million by the end of our Indonssian mining activities to pay tor mine closure and
reclamation.

This table exchdes cestain other obtigations in our consolidated balance sheets, incuding estimated funding for pension obligations as the funding may vary from year-io-year based on changes in the fair valve of ptan
assets and actuarial assumptions and Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB} Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in income Taxes — an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109° (RN 48), liabilities
totating $115 milion that relate to unrecognized tax benefits where the timing of settiement is not determinatie. This table also extludes purchase orders for the purchase of invertory and other goads and Sefvices that
represent contractual obligations, as purchase orders typically represent authorizations 1o purchase rather than binding agreements.
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In addition to the debt maturities and other contractual obligations
shown above, we have other commitments, which we expect to fund
with projected operating cash flows, available credit facilities or future
financing transactions, if necessary. These include (i} PT Freeport
Indonesia’s commitment to provide one percent of its annual revenue
for development of the local people in its area of operations through the
Freeport Partnership Fund for Community Development, i) Cerro
Verde’s local mining fund contributions equal to 3.75 percent of after-
tax profits and (iii} ather commercial commitments, including standby
letters of credit, surety bonds and guarantees (refer to Notes 15 and 16
for further discussion).

HEDGING ACTIVITIES

In connection with the acquisition of Phelps Dodge, we acquired

certain derivative instruments entered into by Phelps Dodge. The most
significant of these derivatives are the 2007 zero-premium copper
collars (consisting of both put and call options) and copper put options
that matured on December 31, 2007 (refer to Note 17). These derivative
instruments did not qualify for hedge accounting and were adjusted to
fair market value based on the forward price curve and implied volatility
as of the last day of the respective reporting period, with the gain or
loss recorded in revenues.

The zero-premium copper collars covered approximately 486 million
pounds of 2007 copper sales. Mark-to-market accounting adjustments on
these contracts resulted in charges to revenues totaling $175 million
{$106 millicn to net income or $0.27 per share) from March 20, 2007,
through December 31, 2007. The 2007 zero-premium copper collar price
protection program matured on December 31, 2007, and in January 2008,
we paid $598 miilion to seftle the program. We also had in place
copper put options at a strike price of $0.95 per pound for approximately
730 million pounds of 2007 copper sales, which expired on December 31,
2007, without setttement. FCX does not curently intend to enter into similar
hedging programs in the future.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND RECLAMATION MATTERS
Environmental
In the U.S., we are subject to stringent federal, state and local
environmental laws and regulations that govern emissions of air pollutants;
discharges of water pollutants; and generation, handling, storage and
disposal of hazardous substances, hazardous wastes and other
toxic materials. We also are subject to potentia! liabilities arising under
CERCLA or similar state faws that impose responsibility on persons
who arranged for the disposal of hazardous substances, and on current
and previous owners and operators of a facility for the clean up of
hazardous substances released from the facility into the environment,
including damages to natural resources.

Phelps Dodge and many of its affiliates and predecessor companies
have been involved in mining, milting and manufacturing in the L.S. for
more than a century, Activities that occurred in the late 19th century and

the 20th century prior to the advent of modern environmental laws were
not subject to environmental regufation and were conducted before
American industrial companies understood the long-term effects of their
operations on the surrounding environment. With the passage of CERCLA
in 1980, companies like Phelps Dodge became legally responsible for
environmental remediation on properties previously owned or operated by
them, irrespective of when the damage to the environment occurred or
who caused it. That liability often is shared on a joint and several basis
with all other owners and operators, meaning that each owner or operator
of the property is fully responsible for the clean up, atthough in many
cases, some or all other historical owners or operators no longer exist, do
not have the financiai ability to respond or cannot be found. As a resutt,
because of our acquisition of Phelps Dodge, many of the subsidiary
companies we now own are responsible for a wide variety of environmenta
remediation projects throughout the U.S., and we expect to spend
substantial sums annually for many years to address those remediation
issues. Various of our subsidiaries previously have been advised by the
U.S. Environmenta! Protection Agency, the Department of the Interior, the
Department of Agriculture and several state agencies that, under CERCLA
or similar state laws and regulations, they may be liable for costs of
responding to environmental conditions at a number of sites that have
been or are being investigated to determine whether releases of
hazardous substances have occurred and, if so, to develop and implement
remedial actions to address environmental concerns.

At the acquisition date, Phelps Dodge's historical environmental
obligations of $385 million were based on accounting guidance provided
by SFAS No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies,” and American [nstitute
of Certified Public Accauntants Statement of Position (SOP) 96-1,
“Environmental Remediation Liabilities,” which require that an estimateg
loss be recorded for a loss contingency if, prior to the issuance of the
financial statements, it is probable that a liability had been incumred and
the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. Amounts recorded
under this guidance are generally not considered fair value. FCX has an
environmental and legal group dedicated to the ongoing review and
monitoring of environmental remediation sites. At the acquisition date, the
largest environmental remediation sites assumed were undergoing
studies to evaluate the extent of the environmental damage and the
available remedies. Advancement of these studies and consideration of
alternative remedies and cost sharing arrangements resulted in our
calculation of the estimated fair values being approximately $900 miilion
greater than the historical Phelps Dodge estimates. In accordance with
the purchase method of accounting, we have recorded the assumed
environmental obligations at their estimated fair values of approximately
$1.3 biltion. Significant work is expected to be completed in the next
several years to remediate these sites. After the allocation of the purchase
price associated with the Phelps Dodge acquisition is finalized in
first-quarter 2008, future estimates of environmental obligations will be
recorded in accordance with SFAS No. 5 and SOP 96-1. Significant
adjustments to these reserves could occur in the future, '
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In 2005, PT Freeport Indonesia agreed to participate in the Government
of Indonesia’s PROPER program. In March 2006, the indonesian Ministry of
Environment announced the preliminary results of its PROPER
environmental management audit, acknowledging the effectiveness of PT
Freeport Indonesia’s environmental management practices in some areas
while making several suggestions for improvement in others. We are
working with the Ministry of Environment to address the issues raised as
we complete the audit process. ‘

In connection with obtaining our envircnmental approvals from
the Indonesian government, we committed to perform a one-time
environmental risk assessment on the impacts of our tailings
management plan. We completed this extensive environmental risk
assessment with more than 90 scientific studies conducted over
four years and submitted it to the Indonesian government in December
2002. We developed the risk assessment study with input from an
independent review panel, which included representatives from the
Indonesian government, academia and non-governmental organizations.
The risks that we identified during this process were in line with our
impact projections of the tailings management program contained in our
environmental approval documents.

The cost of complying with environmental laws is a fundamental cost
of our business. In 2007, we incurred aggregate environmental capital
expenditures and other environmental costs (including our joint venture
partners’ shares) of $320 million, including $228 million incurred since
March 20, 2007, related to the acquired Phelps Dodge operations, for
programs to comply with applicable environmentat laws and regulations
that affect our operations. Aggregate environmental capital expenditures
and other environmental costs totaled $63 miltion in 2006 and $44
million in 2005. In 2008, we expect to incur approximately $520 million
of aggregate environmental capital expenditures and other
environmental costs, which are part of our overall 2008 operating
budget. The increase in projected 2008 amounts, compared with 2007,
primarily relates to ongoing environmental compliance and related
capital costs, plus increased expenditures on accelerated reclamation
and remediation activities.

Refer to Note 15 for additional information on significant envirenmentat
matters.

Asset Retirement Obligations
We recognize asset retirement obligations (AROs) as liabilities when
incurred, with the initial measurement at fair value. These liabilities are
accreted to full value over time through charges to income. Reclamation
costs for future disturbances are recorded as an ARQ in the period of
disturbance. Our cost estimates are reflected on a third-party cost basis
and comply with our legal obligation to retire tangible, long-lived
assets as defined by SFAS No. 143. Refer to Note 1 for further discussion
of our accounting policy for reclamation and closure costs.

At December 31, 2007, we had $728 million recorded for AROs
in current and long-term liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets.
ARO costs may increase or decrease significantly in the future as a .
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result of changes in regulations, engineering designs and technology,
permit modifications or updates, ming plans, cost of inflation or other
factors and as actual reclamation spending occurs. ARQ activities and
expenditures generally are made over an extended period of time
commencing near the end of the mine life; however, certain reclamation
activities could be accelerated if required, or if they are determined to
be economically beneficial.

Legal requirements in New Mexico, Arizona and Colorado require
financial assurance to be provided for the estimated costs of
reclamation and closure, including groungdwater quality protection
programs. We have satisfied financial assurance requirements by using
a variety of mechanisms, such as third-party performance guarantees,
financial capability demonstrations, trust funds, surety bonds, letters of
credit and collateral. The applicable regulatory requirements provide
financial strength tests to support third-party performance guarantees
and financial capability demonstrations, which are designed to
confirm a company’s or third-party guaranter's financial capability to
fund future estimated reclamation and closure costs. The amount of
financial assurance FCX is required to provide will vary with changes in
laws, regulations and reclamation and closure cost estimates. Al
December 31, 2007, we had trust assets totaling $544 million that are
designated for funding global reclamation and remediation activities,
of which $106 million is legally restricted to fund a portion of our AROs
for Chino, Tyrone and Cobre as required by New Mexico regulatory
authorities.

Additionally, in 1996, PT Freeport Indanesia began contributing to a
cash fund ($10 million batance at December 31, 2007) designed to
accumulate at least $100 mitlion (including interest) by the end of our
Indonesian mining activities. We plan to use this fund, including accrued
interest, to pay mine closure and reclamation costs. Any costs in
excess of the $100 million fund would be funded by operational cash
flow or other sources.

Refer to Note 15 for additional information on asset retirement
obligations.

DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISKS

Commodity Price Risk

Our consolidated revenues include (i) PT Freepor! Indonesia’s sale of
copper concentrates, which alse contain significant quantities of gold
and silver, (i) Atlantic Copper’s sale of copper anodes, copper cathodes
and gold in ancdes and stimes, and, (ii{) beginning March 20, 2007, the
sale of copper, gold, molybdenum and other metals and metal-related
products by Phelps Dedge. Consolidated revenues, net income and cash
flows vary significantly with fluctuations in the market prices of copper,
gold and molybdenum, sales volumes and other factors. Based on
projected sales volumes {excluding purchased copper and molybdenum)
for the next two years and assuming an average price of $3.00 per
pound of copper, $800 per ounce of gold and $25 per pound of
molybdenum, the impact on our annual cash flow would approximate
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$575 million for each $0.20 per pound change in copper prices, $50
million for each $50 per ounce change in gold prices and $100 million
for each $2 per pound change in molybdenum prices, Additionally,

the impact on our annual net income would approximate $490 million
for each $0.20 per pound change in copper prices, $45 million for
each $50 per ounce change in gold prices and $100 million for each $2
per pound change in molybdenum prices.

Approximately two-thirds of our copper is sold in concentrate and
cathodes and the remaining one-third is sold primarily as rod
(principally from our North American operations). Substantially all of our
concentrate sales contracts and some of our cathode sales contracts
provide final copper pricing in a specified future period (generally one to
four months from the shipment date) based on quoted LME or COMEX
prices. We ultimately receive market prices based on prices in the
specified future period; however, the accounting rules applied to these
sales result in changes recorded to revenues until the specified future
period. We record revenues and invoice customers at the time of
shipment based on then-current LME or COMEX prices, which results in
an embedded derivative on our provisional priced concentrate and
cathode sales that are adjusted to fair value through earnings each
period until the date of final pricing. To the extent final prices are higher
or lower than what was recorded on a provisional basis, an increase or
decrease to revenues is recorded each reporting period unti! the date of
final pricing. Accordingty, in times of rising copper prices, our revenues
during a quarter will benefit from higher prices received for contracts
priced at current market rates and also from an increase related to the
final pricing of provisionally priced contracts entered into in prior
periods; in times of falling copper prices, the opposite occurs.
Consolidated revenues for 2007 include net additions for adjustments to
the fair value of embedded copper derivatives in concentrate and
cathode sales contracts of $115 million (net of an adjustment of $43
million related to the final pricing of sales entered into in the prior year),
compared with net additions of $158 million in 2006 (including an
adjustment of $132 million related to the final pricing of sales entered
into in the prior year) and $176 million in 2005 (including an adjustment
of $10 million related to the final pricing of sales entered into in the
prior year).

At December 31, 2007, we had provisionally priced copper sales
totaling 402 million pounds {net of minority interests) recorded at an
average price of $3.02 per pound, subject to final pricing over the
next several months. We estimate that each $0.05 change in the price
realized from the December 31, 2007, pricing would have an
approximate $27 million impact on our 2008 consolidated revenues
($14 million impact to consolidated net income).

On limited past occasions, in response to market conditions, we have
entered into copper and gold price protection contracts for a portion
of our expected future mine production to mitigate the risk of adverse
price fluctuations. In connection with the acquisition of Phelps Dodge,
we assumed the 2007 copper price protection program, which matured

on December 31, 2007, and settled in January 2008 (refer to “Hedging
Activities” and Note 17 for further discussion). FCX does not currently
intend to enter into similar hedging programs in the future.

Foreign Gurrency Exchange Risk

The functional currency for most of our operations is the U.S. doflar.
All of our revenues and a significant portion of our costs are
denominated in U.S. dollars; however, some costs and certain assets
and liability accounts are denominated in local currencies, including
Indonesian rupiah, Australian doliars, Chilean pesos, Peruvian nuevo
soles and euros. Generally, our results are positive'ly affected when
the U.S. dollar strengthens in relation to those foreign currencies and
adversely affected when the U.S. dollar weakens in relation to those
foreign currencies.

PT Freeport Indonesia’s labor costs are mostly rupiah denominated.
One U.S. doliar was equivalent to 9,390 rupiah at December 31, 2007,
8,989 rupiah at December 31, 2006, and 9,825 rupiah at December
31, 2005. Based on estimated annual payments of 2.1 trillion rupiah for
operating costs and an exchange rate of 9,390 rupiah to one U.S.
dollar, a one-thousand-rupiah increase in the exchange rate would
result in an approximate 22 million decrease in aggregate annual
operating costs; and a one-thousand-rupiah decrease in the exchange
rate would result in an approximate $27 million increase in annual
operating costs.

Approximately 15 percent of PT Freeport Indonesia's projected
purchases of materials, supplies and services for 2008 are derominated
in Australian dollars. One Australian dollar was equivalent to $0.88 at
December 31, 2007, $0.79 at December 31, 2006, and $0.73 at
December 31, 2005. Based on estimated annual payments of 270 million
Australian dollars and an exchange rate of $0.88 to one Australian dollar,
a $0.01 increase or decrease in the exchange rate would resultin an
approximate $3 million change in annuat operating costs.

The majority of Atlantic Copper’s revenues are denominated in U.S.
doltars; however, operating costs, other than concentrate purchases,
and certain asset and liability accounts are denominated in euros. Atlantic
Copper's estimated annual euro payments total approximatety 100 million
euros. One euro was equivalent to $1.47 at December 31, 2007, $1.32 at
December 31, 2006, and $1.18 at December 31, 2005. Based on
estimated annual payments of approximately 100 million euros and an
exchange rate of $1.47 to one euro, a $0.05 increase or decrease in
the exchange rate would result in an approximate $5 million change in
annual operating costs.

At our South American mining operations, tabor costs and local supply
costs are mostly denominated in the local currencies. One U.S. dollar
was equivalent to 498 Chilean pesos and 3.05 Peruvian nuevo soles at
December 31, 2007, 532 Chilean pesos and 3.20 Peruvian nuevo soles
at December 31, 2006, and 514 Chifean pesos and 3.43 Peruvian nuevo
soles at December 31, 2005. Based on estimated annual payments of
215 billion Chilean pesos for operating costs and an exchange rate of 498
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Chilean pesos to one U.S. dollar, a ten-peso increase or decrease in the
exchange rate would result in an approximate $9 million change in
aggregate annual operating costs. Based on estimated annual payments
of 425 million Peruvian nuevo soles for operating costs and an exchange
rate of 3.05 Peruvian nuevo soles to one U.S. dollar, a 0.10 nuevo sol
increase or decrease in the exchange rate would resutt in an approximate
$5 million change in aggregate annual operating costs.

Interest Rate Risk

At December 31, 2007, we had total debt of $7.2 billion, of which
approximately 18 percent was variable-rate debt with interest rates
based on LIBOR or the Euro Interbank Offered Rate (EURIBOR). The table
below presents average interest rates for our scheduled maturities of
principal for our outstanding debt and the related fair values at
December 31, 2007:

2008 2009 2010 201 2012 Thereafter Fair Value
Fixed-rate debt $ - 5 - $ - $119 $ - $5,809 $6,373
Average interest rate - - - 8.7% - 8.2% 8.2%
Variable-rate debt 3K $49 $22 $ 22 $74 $1,085 $1,222
Average interest rate 6.8% 5.3% 6.9% 7.3% 6.1% 7.9% 7.6%

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Fair Value Measurements. In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS
No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements,” which provides enhanced
guidance for using fair value to measure assets and liabilities. SFAS
No. 157 does not require any new fair value measurements under U.S.
GAAP; rather this statement establishes a common definition of fair
value, provides a framework for measuring fair value under U.S. GAAP
and expands disclosure requirements about fair value measurements.
On February 12, 2008, the FASB issued FSP FAS 157-2, which delays the
effective date of SFAS No. 157 for nonfinancial assets or fiabilities that
are not required or permitied to be measured at fair value on a recurring
basis to fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008, and interim
periods within those years. We are currently evaluating the impact, if
any, the adoption of SFAS No. 157 will have on our financial reporting
and disclosures.

Fair Value Gption for Financial Assets and Liabilities. In February
2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for
Financial Assets and Liabilities — Including an amendment of FASB
Statement No, 115,” which permits entities to cheose to measure many
financial instruments and certain other items at fair value that are
not currently required to be measured at fair value. SFAS No. 159 is
effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, We do not
believe the adoption of SFAS No. 159 will have a material impact on
our financial reporting and disclosures.

Business Combinations. In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS
No. 141 (revised 2007), “Business Combinations” (SFAS No. 141R).
Under SFAS No. 141R, all business combinations will be accounted for
under the acquisition method. SFAS No. 141R makes certain other
changes to the accounting for business combinations, with the most
significant changes as follows: (i) whether all or a partial interest is
acquired, the acquirer will recognize the full value of assets acquired,
liabilities assumed and noncontrolling interests; (ii) direct costs of a
business combination will be charged to expense if they are not
associated with issuing debt or equity securities; (jii) any contingent
consideration will be recognized and measured at fair value on the
acquisition date, with subseguent changes to the fair value recognized
in earnings; and (iv) equity issued in consideration for a business
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combination will be measured at fair value as of the acquisition date.
SFAS No. 141R applies prospectively to business combinations for
which the acquisition date is on or after fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2008. Early adoption is prohibited.

Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements.
In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, “Noncontrolling
Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements — an amendment of
ARB No. 51,” which clarifies that noncontrolling interests (minority
interests) are to be treated as a separate component of equity and any
changes in the ownership interest (in which control is retained)
are to be accounted for as capital transactions. However, a change in
ownership of a consolidated subsidiary that results in a loss of
control would be considered a significant event that triggers gain or loss
recognition, with the establishment of a new fair value basis in any
remaining ownership interests. SFAS No. 160 also provides additional
disclosure requirements for each reporting period. SFAS No. 160 applies
to fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2008, with early
adoption prohibited. This statement is required to be adopted
prospectively, except for the following provisions, which are expected to
he applied retrospectively: (i) the reclassification of noncontrolling
interests to equity in the consolidated balance sheets and (i) the
adjustment to consolidated net income to include net income attributable
to both the controlling and noncontrolling interests.

PRODUCT REVEMUES AND PRODUCTION COSTS

Unit net cash cost per pound of copper and molybdenum are measures
intended to provide investors with information about the cash-
generating capacity of our mining operations expressed on a basis
relating to the primary metal product for the respective operations.

We use this measure for the same purpose and for monitoring operating
performance by our mining operations, This information differs from
measures of performance determined in accordance with U.S. GAAP
and should not be considered in isotation or as a substitute for
measures of performance determined in accordance with U.S. GAAP.
This measure is presented by other mining companies, although our
measures may not be comparable to similarly titled measures reported by
other companies.
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We present gross profit per pound of copper using both a “by-
product” method and a “co-product™ method. We use the by-product
method in our presentation of gross profit per pound of copper because
(i} the majority of our revenues are copper revenues, (i) we mine ore,
which contains copper, gold, molybdenum and other metals, (iii) it is not
possible to specifically assign all of our costs to revenues from the
copper, gold, and molybdenum and other metals we produce, (iv) it is
the method used to compare mining operations in certain industry
publications and (v} it is the method used by our management and
Board of Directors to monitor operations. In the ¢o-product method
presentation below, costs are allocated to the different products based
on their refative revenue values, which will vary to the extent our metals
sales volumes and realized prices change.

In both the by-product and the co-product method calculations
below, we show adjustmenis to copper revenues for prior period open

North American Mining Product Revenues and Production Gosts {Pro Forma)

sales as separate line items. Because the copper pricing adjustments
do not result from current period sales, we have reflected these
separately from revenues on current period sates. Noncash and
nonrecurring costs consist of items such as stock-based compensation
costs, write-offs of equipment or unusual charges. They are removed
from site production and delivery costs in the calculation of unit

net cash costs. In addition, impacts of purchase accounting fair value
adjustments are removed. As discussed above, gold, malybdenum and
other metal revenues, exciuding any impacts from redemption of the
gold- and silver-denominated preferred stocks, are reflected as
credits against site production and delivery costs in the by-product
method. Presentations under both methods are shown below together
with reconciliations to amounts reported in our consolidated financial
statements or pro forma consolidated financial results.

Co-Product Method
By-Product
Year Ended December 31, 2007 Method Copper Motybdenum? Other® Total
Revenues, after adjustments shown below 54,242 $4,242 $866 $£60 $5,168
Site production and delivery, before net noncash and nonrecurring cosis shown below 1,883 1,609 312 23 1,944
By-product credits® (865) - - - -
Treatment charges 119 116 - 3 119
Net cash costs 1137 1,725 312 26 2,083
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 192 165 26 1 192
Noncash and nonrecurring costs, net 22 21 1 ' - 22
Total costs 1,351 1,91 339 27 2,277

Revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing on prior period open sales and hedging {139 (139) - - (139
idle facility and other non-inventoriable costs {65) (64) (1) - {65)
Gross profit $2,687 $2,128 $526 $33 $2,687
Reconciliation to Amounts Reported

Production Depletion and

Revenues and Delivery  Amortization

Totals presented above $ 5,168 $1,944 $ 192
Net noncash and nonrecurring costs per above N/A 22 N/A
Treatment charges per above N/A 119 N/A
Revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing an prior period open sales and hedging per above (139 N/A NfA
Purchase accounting impact 120 851 762
Eliminations and other 14,084 6,874 556
As reported in FCX's pro forma consolidated financial results $19,233 $9.810 $1.510

8. Moybdenum by-product credits reflect volumes produced at market-based pricing and also includa tolling revenues at Sierrita.

b. Includes gold and silver product revenues and production costs.
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North American Mining Product Revenues and Production Costs (Pro Forma)

Co-Product Methed
By-Product
Year Ended December 31, 2006 Method Copper Molybdenum? Other™ Total
Revenues, after adjusiments shown below $4,121 $4121 $772 $44 $4,937
Site production and delivery, before net noncash and nenrecurring costs shown below 1,472 1,188 291 25 1515
By-product credits? 773 - - - -
Treatment charges 87 83 - 4 87
Net cash costs 786 1,282 29 29 1,602
"Depreciation, depletion and amgrtization 147 122 23 2 147
Noncash and nonrecurring costs, net 20 19 1 - 20
Total costs 953 1,423 36 K]l 1,769
Revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing on prior period open sales and hedging (1,205) {1,205) - - {1,209)
Idle facllity and other non-inventoriable costs (36) (36) - - {36)
Gross profit $1,927 $1,457 $ 457 $13 $1,927
Reconciliation to Amounts Reported
Depreciation,
Production Depletion and
Revenues and Delivery  Amortization
Totals presented above $ 4937 $1,515 $ 147
Net noncash and nonrecurring costs per above N/A 20 NfA
Treatment charges per above N/A 87 N/A
Revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing on prior period open sales and hedging per above (1,209) N/A N/A
Purchase accounting impact 120 1,526 722
Eliminations and other 12,801 8,652 515
As reported in FCX's pro forma consolidated financial statements $16,653 $9,800 $1,384
By-Product Co-Proguct Method
Year Ended December 31, 2005 Methed Copper Molybdenum? Other” Total
Revenues, after adjustments shown below $2,247 $2,247 $978 $26 $3,251
Site production and delivery, before net noncash and nonrecurring costs shown below 1,330 1,061 293 15 1,369
By-procuct credits® {965) - - - -
Treatment charges 92 a0 - 2 a2
Net ¢ash costs 457 1,151 293 17 1,461
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 143 112 30 1 143
Noncash and nonrecurring costs, net 16 15 1 - 16
Total costs " B16 1,278 324 18 1,620
Revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing on prior period open sales and hedging (187) {187) - - (187)
ldle facility and other non-inventoriable cosis (34) {34) - - (34}
Gross profit $1,410 $ 748 $654 $8 $1,410
Reconciliation to Amounts Reported
Depreciation,
Production Depletion and
Revenues and Deltvery ~ Amortization
Totals presented above $3,251 $1,369 $143
Net noncash and nonrecurring costs per above N/A i6 N/A
Treatment charges per above N/A 92 N/A
Revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing on prior period open sales and hedging per above (187} . N/A N/A
Eliminations and other 5,223 3,805 299
As reported in Phelps Dodge consolidated financial statements® $8,287 $5,282 $442

a. Molybdenum by-product credits reflect volumes produced at market-based pricing, and also includes tolling revenues at Sierrita,
b. Includes go'c and silver product revenues and production costs.
¢. Obtained from the Phelps Dodge Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005,
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Henderson Product Revenues and Production Gosts (Pro Forma)

Years Ended December 31, 2007 2008 2005
Revenues $1,029 $820 $890
Site production and delivery, before net noncash and nonrecurring costs shown below 171 137 118
Net cash cosis 171 137 18
Depreciation and amortization 39 33 28
Noncash and nonrecurring costs, net 1 1 -
Total costs 211 171 146
Gross profit? $ 818 $649 $744
Reconciliation to Amounts Reported

Depreciation,
Production Depletion and
Revenues and Delivery ~ Amortization

Year Ended December 31, 2007
Totals presented above $ 1,029 $ 1M $ 39
Purchase accounting impact 120 851 762
Eliminations and other 18,084 8,788 709
As reported in FCX's pro forma consolidated financial results $15,233 $9.810 $1.510

Year Ended December 31, 2006
Totals presented above $ 820 $ 137 $ 33
Purchase accounting impact 120 1,526 722
Eliminations and other . 15,713 8,137 629
Ag reported in FCX's pro forma consolidated financial results $16,653 $9,800 $i,384

Year Ended December 31, 2005
Totals presented above $ 890 $ 118 $ 28
Eliminations and other 7,397 5,164 414
As reported in Phelps Dodge consolidated financial results® $ 8,287 $5,282 $ 442

a. Gross profit reflects sales of Henderson products based on volumes produced at market-based pricing. On a consolidated basis, the Molybdenum segment inciudes profits
on sales as they are made to third parties and realizations based on actual contract terms.
b. Obtained frem the Phelps Dodge Ferm 30-K for the year ended December 31, 2005.
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South American Mining Product Revenues and Production Costs (Pro Forma)

Co-Product Method
By-Product
Year Ended December 31, 2007 Method Copper Other? Total
Revenues, after adjustments shown below $4,552 $4,552 $140 $4,692
Site production and delivery, before net noncash nonrecurring costs shown below 1,268 1,221 61 1,282
By-product credits {126) - - -
Treatment charges 286 278 8 286
Net cash costs 1,428 1,499 69 1,568
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 200 196 4 200
Noncash and nenrecurring costs, net 3 3 - 3
Total costs 1,631 1,698 73 1,711
Revenue adjusiments, primarily for pricing on prior period open sales and hedging 18 19 {1) 18
Other non-inventoriable costs {34) (32) {2) (34)
Gross profit $2,905 $2.841 $ 64 $2.905
Reconciliation 1o Amounts Reported
Depreciation,
Production  Depletion and
Revenues and Delivery ~ Amartization
Totals presented above $ 4,692 $1,282 $ 200
Net noncash and nonrecurring costs per above N/A 3 N/A,
Less: Treatment charges per above (286) N/A N/A
Revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing on prior period open sales and hedging per above i8 N/A N/A
Purchased metal 218 218 N/A
Purchase accounting impact 120 851 762
Eliminations and other 14,471 7,456 548
As reported in FCX's pro forma consolidated financial resu'ts $18,233 $9.810 $1.510
By-Product Co-Product Method
Year Ended December 31, 2006 Method Copper Other® Totat
Revenues, after adjustments shown below $3,530 $3,530 $91 $3,621
Site production and delivery, before net noneash and nonrecurring costs shown below 918 891 27 918
By-product credits 91 - - -
Treatment charges 198 192 ] 198
Net cash costs 1,025 1,083 33 1,116
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 193 180 3 193
Noncash and nonrecurring costs, net 2 2 — 2
Total costs 1,220 1,275 36 1,311
Revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing on pricr period open sales and hedging (18 9 9 (18)
Other non-inventoriable casts (22) {21) (1) (22}
Gross profit $2,270 $2,225 $45 $2,270
Reconciliation to Amounts Reported
Depreciation,
Production  Depletion and
Revenues and Delivery  Amortization
Totals presented above $ 3,621 $ 918 $ 193
Net nencash and nonrecurring costs per above N/A 2 N/A
Less: Treatment charges per above (198) N/A N/A
Revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing on prior period open sales and hedging per above (18) N/A N/A
Purchased metal 213 . 213 N/A
Purchase accounting impact 120 1,526 722
Eliminations and other 12,915 7,141 469
As reparted in FCX's pro forma consolidated financial results $16,653 $9,800 $1,384

a. Includes gold and siiver product revenues and production costs.
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South American Mining Product Revenues and Production Costs (Pro Forma)

Co-Product Method
By-Product

Year Ended December 31, 2005 Method Copper Other? Total
Revenues, after adjustments shown below $1,862 $1,862 $62 $1,924
Site production and delivery, before net noncash and nonrecurring costs shown below 743 7 26 743
By-product credits {62) - - -
Treatment charges 104 96 8 104
Net cash costs 785 813 34 847
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 187 184 3 187
Noncash and nonrecurring costs, net 2 2 - 2
Total costs 974 999 -7 1,036
Revenue adjustments, primartly for pricing on prior period open sales and hedging (105) (101 4 (105)
Other non-inventoriable costs (10} (9) (1) {10)
Gross profit $ 773 $ 753 $20 $ 773

Reconciliation to Amounts Reported

Depreciation,
Production  Depletion and
Revenues and Defivery  Amortization
Totals presented above $1.924 $ 743 $187
Net noncash and nonrecurring costs per above N/A 2 /A
Less: Treatment charges per above (104} N/A N/A
Revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing on prior period open sales and hedging per above (105} N/A N/A
Purchased metal 144 144 N/A
Eliminations and other 6,428 4,393 255
As reported In Phelps Dodge consolidated financial restlts® $8,287 $5,282 $442

a. Inchudes gold and silver product revenues and production costs.
b. Qbtained from the Phetps Dodge Form 10-K for the year enided December 31, 2005,
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Indonesian Mining Product Revenues and Production Costs
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Co-Product Method
By-Product
Year Ended Decernber 31, 2007 Method Copper Gold Sitver Total
Revenues, after adjustments shown below §3777 $3,777 $1.490 $48 $5,315
Site production and delivery, before net noncash and nenrecurring costs shown below 1,342 954 376 i2 1,342
Gold and silver credits {1,538) - - - -
Treatment charges 385 274 108 3 385
Royalty on metals 133 94 38 1 133
Net cash costs 322 1,322 522 16 1,860
Depreciation and amortization 199 4 56 2 199
Noncash and nonrécurring costs, net 46 33 12 1 46
Total costs 567 1,496 580 19 2,105
Revenue adjustments, primarlly for pricing on prior period open sales 1 11 - - 1
PT Smelting intercompany profit recognized 13 10 3 - 13
Gross profit $3.234 $2.302 $ 903 $29 $3,234
Recanciliation to Amounis Reported
Production Depletion and
Revenues and Delivery ~ Amortization
Totals presented above $ 5315 $1.342 $ 199
_ Net noncash and nonrecurring costs per above N/A 46 N/A
Less: Treatment charges per above (389) N/A N/A
Less: Royalty per above {133) N/A N/A
Revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing on prior period open saies per above 11 N/A N/A
Total Indonesian mining operations 4,808 1,368 195
North American mining cperations 8,650 6,292 611
South American mining operations 3,845 1,278 377
Attantic Copper smelting & refining 2,388 2329 36
Corporate, other & eliminations (2,752} {2,760) 23
As reported in FCX's consolidated financiat statements $16,939 $8,527 $1.246
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Indonesian Mining Product Revenues and Preduction Costs

Co-Product Method
By-Product
Year Ended December 31, 2006 Method Copper Gold Silver Total
Revenues, after adjustments shown betow $ 3,764 $3,764 $1,072 $47 $4.883
Site production and delivery, befare net noncash and nonrecurring costs shown below 1,235 952 27 12 1,235
Gold and silver credits {1,119 - - - -
Treatment charges 477 368 104 5 477
Rovyalty on metals 126 97 28 1 126
Net cash costs 719 1,417 403 18 1,838
Depreciation and amortization 184 142 40 2 184
Moncash and nenrecurring costs, net 44 34 10 - 44
Totat costs 947 1,593 453 20 2,066
Revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing on prior period open sales and gold/silver hedging 1152 197 69) (+3) 115
PT Smeiting intercompany profit elimination (3 {2) {1) - 3
Gross profit $2929 $2,366 $ 549 $14 $2,929
Reconciliation to Amounts Reported
Depreciation,
Production  Depletion ang
Revenues and Delivery ~ Amortization
Totals presented above $4,883 $1.235 $184
Net noncash and nonrecurring costs per above NiA 44 N/A
Less: Treatment charges per above 477 A N/A
Less: Royalty per above {126) N7A N/A
Revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing on prior period open sales and hedging per above 115 N/A Nf&
Total Indonesian mining operations 4,385 1,279 184
Atlantic Copper smelting & refining 2,242 2,119 33
Corporation, other & eliminations (846) __ (873 11
As reported in FCX's consolidated financial statements $5.791 $2,525 $228

a. Inciudes 2 $69 milfion loss on the redamption of FCX's Gold-Denominated Preferred Stock, Series I, and a $13 milfion loss on the redemption of FCX's Silver-Denominated Prefered Stock.
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indonesian Mining Product Revenues and Production Gosts

Co-Product Mathod

By-Product
Year Ended December 31, 2005 Method Gopper Gold Silver Total
Revenues, after adjustments shown below $2.707 $2,707 $1,270 $35 $4,012
Site production and delivery, before net noncash and nonrecurring costs shown below 9492 641° 300 gt 949
Gold and silver credits (1,308) .- - - -
Treatment charges 350 236 in 3 350
Royalty on metals 104 70 33 1 104
Net cash costs 98 947 444 12 1,403
Depreciation and amortization 210 142 66 2 210
Noncash and nonrectirring costs, net 5 3 2 - 5
Total costs 313 1,092 512 14 1618
Revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing on prior pericd open sales and silver hedging 10¢ 15 - 5} 10
PT Smelting intercompany profit elimination {23) (16) @) - {23}
Gross profit $2,381 $1.614 $ 7™ $16 $2,381
Reconciliation to Amounts Reported
Depreciation,
Production  Depletion and
Revenues and Delivery  Amortization
Tota's presanted above $4,012 $ 049 $210
Net noncash and nonrecurring costs per above N/A 5 N/A
Less: Treatment charges per above (350) N/A N/A
Less: Royalty per above {104) N/A NA
Revenue adjustments, primarily for pricing on prior peried open sales and hedging per above 10 N/A N/A
Total Indonesian mining operations 3,568 954 210
Atlantic Copper smelting & refining 1,363 1,288 29
Corporation, other & eliminations {752) (604) 12
As reported in FCX's consolidated financial statements $4,179 $1,638 $251

. Met of deterred mining costs totaling $65 milfien. Following the adoption of EITF 04-6 on January 1, 2008,

stripping ¢osts are no longer deferred (refer to Note 1 for further discussion).

b. et oi deferred mining cosis totaling $44 milllon for copper, $21 million for gold and $1 millon for sitver {see note a abave).

c. Includes a $5 million loss on the redemption of our Silver-Denominated Preferme Stock.

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT

Qur discussion and analysis contains forward-looking statements in which
we discuss our expectations regarding future performance. Forward-
looking statements are ali statements other than historical facts, such as
those regarding anticipated sales volumes, ore grades and milling rates,
commadity prices, selling, general and administrative expenses, unit net
cash costs, operating cash flows, royalty costs, capital expenditures,
rectamation and closure costs, environmental expenditures, the impact of
copper, gold and mofybdenum price changes, the impact of changes in
deferred intercompany profits on earnings, treatment charge rates,
exploration efforts and resutts, dividend payments, liquidity and other
financial commitments. We caution readers that these statements are not
guarantees of future performance, and our actual results may differ
materially from those projected, anticipated or assumed in the forward-
looking statements. Important factors that can cause our actual results to
differ materially from those anticipated in the forward-tooking statements
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include mine sequencing, production rates, industry risks, regulatory
changes, commodity prices, political risks, weather-related risks, iahor
retations, enviranmental risks, litigation results, currency translation
risks and other factors described in more detail under the heading “Risk
Factors” in our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007.




Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND STOCKHOLDERS OF
FREEPORT-McMoRan COPPER & GOLD INC.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of
Freepaort-McMoRan Copper & Gold Inc. as of December 31, 2007 and
2006, and the related consolidated statements of income, stockhoiders’
equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2007. These financial statements are the responsibility of
the Cormpany’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion,

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly,
in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Freeport-
McMoRan Copper & Gold Inc. at December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the
consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2007, in conformity with
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements,
effective January 1, 2007, the Company adopted FASB Interpretation
No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in tncome Taxes — an interpretation of
FASB Statement No. 109,” and effective January 1, 2006, the Company
adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 123
{revised 2004}, “Share-Based Payment,” and effective January 1, 2006,
the Company adopted Emerqging Issues Task Force Issue No. 04-6,
“Accounting for Stripping Costs Incurred during Production in the Mining
Industry”, and effective December 31, 2006, the Company adopted
SFAS No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and
Other Postretirement Plans — an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87,
88, 106 and 132R."

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), Freeport-
McMoRan Copper & Gold Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal
Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated
February 29, 2008, expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Phoenix, Arizona
February 29, 2008
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Management’s Repert on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Freeport-McMoRan Copper & Gold Inc.’s (the Company's) management is
responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control
over financial reporting. Interna! control over financial reporting is defined
in Rule 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
as a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the Company’s
principal executive and principal financia! officers and effected by

the Company’s Board of Directors, management and other personnel, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and includes
those policies and procedures that:

« Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the
Company's assets;

+ Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and

+ Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection
of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal contro! over financial
reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk
that controis may become inadequate because of changes in conditions,
or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures
may deteriorate.
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Our management, including our principal executive officer and
principal financial officer, assessed the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting as of the end of the fiscal year covered
by this annual report on Form 10-K. (n making this assessment, our
management used the criteria set forth in Internal Control-Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission (C0S0). Based on our management's
assessment, management concluded that, as of December 31, 2007,
our Company's internal control over financial reporting is effective
based on the COSQ criteria.

Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm,
who audited the Company's consolidated financial statements included
in this Form 10-K, has issued an attestation report on the Company's
internal control over financial reporting, which is included herein.

~
%M { Ui s
Kathleen L. Quirk

Executive Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

Richard C. Adkerson
President and
Chief Executive Officer




Repert of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND STOCKHOLDERS OF
FREEPORT-McMoRan COPPER & GOLD INC.

We have audited Freeport-McMoRan Copper & Gold Inc.'s internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria
established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the
COS0 criteria). Freeport-McMoRan Copper & Gold Inc.’s management is
responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management's
Report on internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on the company's internal control over financial
reporting based on our audit.

We canducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board {United States). Those stardards
require that we ptan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective intemal control over financial reporting
was maintained in al material respects. Qur audit inciuded obtaining
an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the
risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design
and operating effectiveness of internal controt based on the assessed risk,
and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in
the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis
for our opinion.

A company’s internal centrol over financial reporting is a process
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting anid the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principtes.

A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (1} pertain to the maintenance of records
that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions

and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the
company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial
reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk
that controls may be inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Freeport-McMoRan Copper & Gold Inc. maintained, in all
material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2007, based on the COS0 criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consalidated
balance sheets of Freeport-McMoRan Copper & Gold Inc. as of December
31, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated statéments of income,
stockholders' equity and cash flows for each of the three yvears in the
period ended December 31, 2007, and our report dated February 29, 2008
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Phoenix, Arizona
February 29, 2008
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Consolidated Statements of Income

Years Ended December 31, : 2007 2006 2005
{n Milfors, Except Per Share Amounts)
Revenues $16,939 $ 5,791 $4,179
Cost of sales:

Production and delivery 8,527 2,525 1,638

Depreciation, depletion and amortization 1,246 228 251

Total cost of sales - 9,773 2,753 1,889
Exploration and research expenses 145 12 9
Selling, general and administrative expenses 468 157 104
Total costs and expenses 10,384 2,922 2,002

Operating income 6,555 2,869 2177
interest expense, net 513 {76} (132)
Losses on early extinguishment and corwersion of debi, net ‘ (173) (32) (52)
Gains on sales of assets 85 3t 7
(ther income, net 157 28 28
Equity in affiliated companies’ net earnings 22 6 9
Income from continuing operations before income taxes and minority interests 6,133 2826 2,037
Provision for income taxes (2.400) {1,201} {915)
Minority interests in net income of consolidated subsidiaries (791) {168) (127}
Income from continuing operations 2.942 . 1457 885
Incame from discontinued operations, net of taxes 35 — -
Net income 2,977 1,457 995
Preferred dividends (208} 61) {60)
Net income applicable to common stock $ 2,769 $ 1,396 - $ 935
Basic net income per share of common stock:

Continuing operations 5 802 § 732 $ 518

Discontinued operations 0.10 — -

Basic net income per share of common stock § 812 $ 7.32 $ 5.18
Diluted net income per share of common stock:

Continuing aperations $ 7.4 $ 663 $ 4.67

Discontinued operations 0.09 - -

Diluted net income per share of comman stock § 750 $ 563 $ 467
Average common shares outstanding:

Basic 341 191 180

Diluted 397 221 220
Dividends declared per share of commeon siock $ 1.375 $5.0625 $ 2.50

The accompartyirg Notes to Gonsolidated Financial Statements 2re an integral part of thesa financial statements,
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

|
|
|
Years Ended December 31, 2007 2006 2005
{in Millions)
Cash flow from operating activities:
Net income $ 2977 $ 1,457 $ 995
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation, depletion and amortization ’ 1,264 228 251
Minority interests in net income of consolidated subsidiaries 802 168 127
Noncash compensation and benefits 214 85 29
Unrealized fosses on copper price protection program 175 - -
Losses on early extinguishment and conversion of debt, net 173 2 52
Deferred income taxes {288) 16 (32)
Gains on sales of assets (85) (31 N
Other, net (65) . 25 42)
(ncreases) decreases in working capital, excluding amounts acquired from Phelps Dodge:
Accounts receivable 428 196 (253)
Inventories 272 (146} (108)
Prepaid expenses and other 21 27) -
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 313 15 282
' Accrued income taxes 24 (152) 258
Net cash provided by operating activities 6,225 1,866 1,552
Cash flow from investing activities:
. Acquisition of Phelps Dodge, net of cash acquired (13,910 5 -
| Phelps Dodge capital expenditures (1,333) - -
| PT Freeport Indonesia capital expenditures (368) (234) (129)
Other capital expenditures (54) (N (14)
Net proceeds from the sale of Phelps Dodge Interational Corporation 597 - -
Proceeds from the sales of assets 260 34 7
QOther, net (53} {2) 2
Net cash used in investing activities (14,861) (224) (134)
Cash flow from financing activities:
Proceeds from term loans under bank credit facility 12,450 - -
Repayments of term loans under bank eredit facility (12,450) - -
et proceeds from sales of senior notes 5,880 - -
Net proceeds from sale of common stock 2,816 - -
Net proceeds from sate of 6 3/+% Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock 2,803 - -
Proceeds from other debt 744 103 66
Repayments of other debt and redemption of preferred stock (1,069) {394} 5569
Purchases of FCX common shares - {100) (B0}
Cash dividends paid:
Common stock 421 (916) {453
Preferred stock {(175) 61 {60)
Minarity interests (967) (161) {125)
Net {payments for) proceeds from exercised stock options {14) 15 5
Excass tax benefit from exercised stock options 16 21 -
Bank credit facilities fees and other, net (258) (6) —
Net cash provided by {used in) financing activities 9,355 {1,499) {1,206}
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 719 143 212
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 907 764 552
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 1626 $ 907 764
Interest paid $ 504 $ 80 140
Income taxes paid $ 2,660 $ 1,288 570

The accompartying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31, 2007 2006
fin Millions, Excent Par Values)

ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,626 $ 907
Trade accounts receivable + 1,009 420
Other accounts receivable 196 66

Inventories;
Product 1,360 384
Materials and supplies, net 818 340
Mill and leach stockpiles 707 -
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 97 34
Total current assets 5903 2,151
Praperty, plant, equipment and development costs, net 25715 3,099
Goodwil 6,105 -
Long-term mill and leach stockpiles 1,106 -
Trust assets 606 -
Inangible assets, net 472 -
Qther assets and deferred charges 754 140
Total assets $40.661 $5,390

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOQLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued fiabilities $ 2,345 $ 776
Copper price protection program 538 -
Accrued income taxes ' 420 165
Dividends payable ne 13
Current portion of reciamation and erwirenmentai obligations 263 -
Current portion of long-term debt and short-term borrowings 31 19
Total current liabilities 3,869 73
Long-term debt, less current portion:
Senior notes 6,928 620
Project financing, equipment loans and other 252 41
Total long-term debt, less current portien 7,180 661
Deferred income taxes 7,300 800
Reclamation and environmental obligations, less current portion 1,733 30
Other liabilities 1,106 268
Total liabilities 21,188 2,732
Minarity interests in consolidated subsidiaries 1,239 213
Stockholders' equity:
5 1/2% Convertible Perpetual Preferred Stock, 1 shares issued and outstanding 1;100 1,100
6 %% Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock, 29 shares issued and outstanding 2,875 -
Common stock, par value $0.10, 497 shares and 310 shares issued, respectively 30 3
Capital in excess of par value 13,407 2,668
Retained earnings 3,601 1,415
Accumidated other comprehensive income (lnss) 42 (20}
Commaon stock held in treasury — 114 shares and 113 shares, at cost, respectively (2.841) (2,749)
Total stockholders’ equity 18,234 2,445
Total liabilities and stockholgers’ equity $40,661 $5,390

The accompanying Notes to Consofidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these financiat statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Stockholders® Equity

Convertible Perpetul  Mandatory Comertibia Accumated Other  Common Stock
Prefesmed Stock Prefermed Stock Cormman Steck Caprtal in Comorehensive Held in Treasury
Mumoerof  AIPw  Mumberot  AtPar  Numberod AtPa Excess of Retaired  Icome  Nomber Stocknolders'
Shaes  Vae  Sharss Vahe Shares  Vaue Par Vau Eamings  fLoss)  ofSheres  ACost Equy
{in Milligns)
Balance at January 1, 2005 1 $1,100 - % - 285 $29 $183 $ 605 $11 w06 $(2434 % 1,164
Conversions of 7% Convertible Senior Notes - - - - 8 1 246 - - - - 247
Exercised stock options, issued restricted
stock and other - - - - 4 - 95 - - - - 95
Tax benefit for stock option exercises - - - - - - 18 - - - - 18
Tender of shares for exercised stock
options and restricted stock - - - - - - - - - 2 {82) (82)
Shares purchased - - - - - - - - - 2 (80) (80)
Dividends on common stock - - - - - - - (454) - - - {454)
Dividends on preferred stock - - - - - - - 60} - - - (60}
Comprehensive income (Joss):
Net income - - - - - - - g95 - - - 985
Other comprehensive income (loss}, net of taxes:
Change in unreatized derivatives’ fair value - - - - - - - - - - - -
Reclassificatien to samings - - - - - - - - = - - _=
Other comprehensive income - - -~ - - - -~ - _= - - =
Total comprehensive income — - - - — — ~ - - - - 985
Balance at December 31, 2005 1 $1,100 - % - 297 $3¢ $2212 $1086 $11 110 $(2596) $ 1,843
Conversions of 7% Convertible Senior Notes - - - - 10 1 3 - - - - 32
Exercised stock options, issued restricted stock
and other . - - - - 3 - 93 - - - - 33
Stock-based compensation costs - - - - - - 28 - - - - 28
Tax benefit for stock option exercises - - - - - - 24 - - - - 24
Tender of shares for exercised stock options
and restricted stock - - - - - - - - - 1 (53) {53)
Shares purchased - - - - - - - - - 2 {100} (100)
Cumulative effect adjustment to initially
apply EITF 04-6 - - - - - - - (149 - - - (149)
Dividends on common stock - - - - - - - e - - - 918)
Dividends on preferred stock - - - - - - - {61) - - - (61
Comprehensive income {loss):
Nat income - - - - - - - 1,457 - - - 1,457
Other comprehensive income (loss}, net of taxes:
Change in unrealized derivatives' fair value - - - - - - - - 1] - - {9
Reclassification to eaings - - - - - - - - _4 - - 4
Other comprehensive income (oss) - - - - - - - - _ - - {5
Total comprehensive income - - - - - - - - - - - 1.452
Adjustment for adoption of SFAS No. 158 - - - - - - - - (28 - - (26)
Balance at December 31, 2006 1 $1,100 - $ - 310 831 $2668 $1.415 SR 113 $(2,749 $ 2445
Sale of 6 3/+% Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock - - 29 2875 - - (72) - - - - 2803
Common stock issued to acquire Phelps Dodge - - - - 13 14 7.767 - - - - 7,781
Sale of common stock - - - - 47 5 2811 - - - - 2816
Conversion of 7% Convertible Senior Notes - - - - - - 6 - - - - 6
Exercised stock options, issued restricted stock and other  — - - - 3 - 131 - - - - 131
Stock-based compensalion costs - - - - - - 86 - - - - 86
Tax benefit for stock option exercises - - - - - - 10 - - - - 10
Tender of shares for exercised stock options and
restricted stock - - - - - - - - - 1 92) 82)
Cumulative effect adjustment to initialty apply AN 48 - - - - - - - 4 - - - 4
Dividends on common stock - - - - - - - {587) - - - {587)
Dividends on preferred stock - - - - - - - {208) - - - {208)
Comprehensive income (Joss):
Net income - - - - - - - 2977 - - - 2,977
Other comprenensive income (loss), net of taxes:
Unrealizad gain on securities - - - - - - - - 2 - - 2
Translation adjustmant - - - - - - - - 3) - = 3
Change in unrealized derivatives’ fair vakie - - - - - - - - {3) - - {3
Reclassification to earnings : - - - - - - - - 7 - - 7
Defined benefit pension plans:
et gain during period - - - - - - - - 33 - - 53
Amartization of unrecogrized amounts - - - - - - - - _B - - 6
Other comprehensiva income - - - - - - - - 62 - - 62
Total comprehensive income — - - - - - - - — - - 3.039
Balance at December 31, 20607 1 $1.100 29 497  $50 513407  $3601  $42 114 5(2.840)  $18.234

The accompanying Notes to Consofidated Financial Statements are an integral past of thesa financial statements,
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation. The consolidated financial statements of Freeport-
McMoRan Copper & Gold Inc. (FCX) include the accounts of those
subsidiaries where FCX directly or indirectly has more than S0 percent of
the voting rights and has the right to contro! significant management
decisions. The most significant entities that FCX consolidates include its
90.64 percent-owned subsidiary PT Freeport Indonesia and its whoily
owned subsidiaries, Phelps Dodge Corpoeration {Phelps Dodge) and Atlantic
Capper, S.A. (Atlantic Copper). FCX acquired Phelps Dodge on March 19, 2007.
FCX's results of operations include Phelps Dodge's results beginning

March 20, 2007 (see Note 2). FCX's unincorporated joint ventures with Rio
Tinto plc (Rio Tinto) and Sumitomo Metal Mining Arizona, Inc. {(Sumitomo)
are reflected using the proportionate consolidation method (see Note 3). All
significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated. Dollar amounts
in tables are stated in millions, except per share amounts.

Investments in unconsolidated companies owned 20 percent or more
are recorded using the equity method. Investments in companies owned
less than 20 percent, and for which FCX does not exercise significant
influence, are carried at cost.

Use of Estimates. The preparation of FCX's financial statements in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States (U.S.) requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the amounts reported in these financial statements and
accompanying notes. The more significant areas requiring the use of
management estimates include fair values of assets acquired and liabilities
assumed in the acquisition of Phelps Dodge; mineral reserve estimation;
useful asset lives for depreciation, depletion and amortization; reclamation
and closure costs; environmental obligations; estimates of recoverable
copper in mill and leach stockpiles; pension, postretirement, postemployment
and other employee benefits; deferred taxes and valuation allowances;
reserves for contingencies and litigation; future cash flows associated with
assets; and the estimated average ratio of overburden removed to ore
mined gver the life of the open-pit mine {through December 31, 2005).
Actual results could ditfer from those estimates.

Foreign Currencies. For foreign subsidiaries whose functional currency
is the local currency, assets and liabilities are translated at current
exchange rates, while revenues and expenses are translated at average
rates in effect for the period. The related translation gains and losses
are included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) within
stockholders' equity.

For foreign subsidiaries whose functiona! currency is the U.S. dollar,
assets receivable and liabilities payable in cash are translated at current
exchange rates, and inventories and other non-monetary assets and
liabilities are translated at historical rates. Gains and losses resulting from
translation of such account balances are included in operating results, as
are gains and losses from foreign currency transactions.

Cash Equivalents. Highly liquid investments purchased with
maturities of three months or less are considered cash equivalents.
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Inventories. As shown in Note 5, the largest components in inventories
include finished goods (cancentrates and cathodes) at mining operations,
concentrates and work-in-process at Atlantic Copper's smefting and
refining operations, and materials and supplies inventories. nventories of
materials and supplies, as well as salable products, are stated at the

lower of weighted average cost or market. Costs of finished goods and

work-in-process (i.e., not materials and supplies) inventories include labor
and benefits, supplies, energy, depreciation, depletion, amortization, site
overhead costs, and other necessary costs associated with the extraction
and processing of ore, including, depending on the process, mining,
haulage, milling, concentrating, smetting, leaching, solution extraction,
refining, roasting and chemica! processing. General and administrative
costs for corporate offices are not included in inventory costs.

Work-in-Process. In-process inventories represent materials that are
currently in the process of being converted to a salable product. Conversion
processes for mining operations vary depending on the nature of the
copper ore and the specific mining operation. For sulfide ores, processing
includes milling and concentrating and results in the production of copper
and molybdenum concenirates or, alternatively, copper cathode by
concentrate leaching. For oxide ores and certain secondary sulfide ores,
processing includes leaching of stockpiles, solution extraction and
electrowinning and results in the production of copper cathodes. In-process
material is measured based on assays of the material included in these
processes and projected recoveries. In-process inventories are valued
based on the costs incurred to various points in the process, including
depreciation relating to associated process facilities. For Atlantic Copper,
in-process inventories represent copper concentrates at various stages of
conversion into anodes and cathodes. Atlantic Copper’s in-process
inventories are valued at the weighted average cost of the material fed to
the smelting and refining process plus in-process conversion costs.

Finished Goods. Finished goods include salable products (e.g., copper
and molybdenum concentrates, copper anodes, copper cathodes, copper
rod, copper wire, molybdenum oxide, high-purity molybdenum chemicals
and other metallurgical praducts). Finished goods are valued based
on the weighted average cost of source material plus applicable conversion
costs relating to associated process facilities.

tn November 2004, the Financiai Accounting Standards Board (FASE)
issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 151,
“Inventory Costs, an amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4.” SFAS No. 151
clarifies that abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, freight handling
costs and wasted materials (spoilage} should be recognized as current-
period charges and requires the allocation of fixed production overheads
to inventory based on the normal capacity of the production facilities. FCX
adopted SFAS No. 151 on January 1, 2006, which did not have a
material impact on its accounting for inventory costs.

Mill and Leach Stockpiles. Milt and leach stackpiles are stated at the
lower of weighted average cost or market.




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Both mill and leach stockpiles generally contain fower-grade ores that
have been extracted from the ore body and are avaitable for copper
recovery. For mill stockpiles, recovery is through milling, concentrating,
smelting and refining or, alternatively, by concentrate leaching. For leach
stockpiles, recovery is through exposure to acidic solutions that dissolve
contained copper and deliver it in solution to extraction processing
facilities. The recorded cost of mill and leach stockpiles includes mining
and haulage costs incurred to deliver ore to stockpiles, depreciation,
depletion, amortization and site overhead costs.

Because it is generally impracticable to determine copper contained in
milf and leach stockpiles by physical count, reasonable estimation
methods are employed. The quantity of material delivered to mill and
leach stockpiles is based on surveyed volumes of mined material and
daily production records. Sampling and assaying of blasthole cuttings
determine the estimated copper grade of the material delivered to mil)
and leach stockpiles.

Expected copper recovery rates for mill stockpiles are determined
by metallurgical testing. The recoverable copper in mill stockpiles, once
entered into the production process, can be produced into copper
concentrate almost immediately.

Expected copper recavery rates for leach stockpiles are determined
using small-scale laboratory tests, small- to large-scale column testing
{which simulates the production-scale process), historical trends and
ather factors, including mineralogy of the ore and rock type. Ultimate
recovery of copper contained in leach stockpiles can vary significantly
from a low percentage to more than 90 percent depending on several
variables, including type of copper recovery, mineralogy and particle size
of the rock. For newly placed material on active stockpiles, as much as 70
percent of the copper ultimately recoverable may be extracted during the
first year, and the remaining copper may be recovered over many years.

Processes and recovery rates are monitored continuously, and
recovery rate estimates are adjusted periodically as additional information
becomes available and as related technology changes.

Property, Plant, Equipment and Development Costs. Property, plant,
equipment and development costs are carried at cost. Mineral exploration
costs, as well as drilling and other casts incurred for the purpose of
oconverting mineral resaurces to proven and probable reserves or identifying
new mineral resources at development or production stage properties,
are charged fo expense as incurred. Development costs are capitalized
beginning after proven and probable reserves have been established.
Development costs include costs incurred resulting from mine pre-
production activities undertaken to gain access to proven and probable
reserves including shafts, adits, drifts, ramps, permanent excavations,
infrastructure and removal of overburden. Additionally, interest expense
allocable to the cost of developing mining properties and to constructing new
facilities is capitalized until assets are ready for their intended use.

Expenditures for replacements and improvements are capitalized. Costs
related to periodic scheduled maintenance /.., tumarounds) are expensed
as incurred. Depreciation for mining and milling life-of-mine assets,

infrastructure and other common costs is determined using the unit-of-
production method based on total estimated recoveraple proven and
probable copper reserves (for primarily copper mines) and proven and
probable molybdenum reserves {for primarily molybdenum mines).
Development costs and acquisition costs for proven and probable reserves
that relate to a specific ore body are depreciated using the unit-of-production
method based on estimated recoverable proven and probable reserves for
the ore body benefited. Depreciation, depletion and amortization using the
unit-of-production method is recorded upon extraction of the recoverable
copper or molybdenum from the ore body, at which time it is allocated

to inventory cost and then included as a component of cost of goods sold.
Other assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over estimated
useful lives of up to 30 years for buildings, three to 25 years for machinery
and equipment, and three to 20 years for mobile equipment,

Included in property, plant, equipment and development costs is value
beyond proven and probable reserves (VBPP) resulting from FCX's
acquisition of Phelps Dodge. The concept of VBPP is described in FASB
Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue No. 04-3, “Mining Assets:
Impairment and Business Combinations,” and has been interpreted
differently by different mining companies. FCX's prefiminary adjustment
to property, plant and equipment includes VBPP attributable to
(i} mineralized material, which includes measured and indicated amounts,
that FCX believes could be brought inte production with the
establishment or modification of required permits and should market
conditions and technical assessments warrant, (ii} inferred minera
resources and (i) exploration potential.

Mineralized material is a mineralized body that has been delineated by
appropriately spaced drilling and/or underground sampling to support
reported tonnage and average grade of minerals. Such a deposit does
not qualify as proven and probable reserves until legal and economic
feasibility are confirmed based upon a comprehensive gvaluation
of development costs, unit costs, grades, recoveries and other material
factors. Inferred mineral resources is that part of a minerai resource
for which the overall tonnages, grades and mineral contents can be
estimated with a reasonable leve! of confidence based on geological
evidence and apparent geological and grade continuity after applying
economic parameters. An inferred mineral resource has a lower
level of confidence than that applying to an indicated mineral resource.
Exploration potential is the estimated value of potential mineral deposits
that FCX has the legal right to access. The value aésigned to exploration
potential was determined by interpreting the known exploration
information and exploration results, including geological data and/or
geological information, that were available as of the acquisition date.

Carrying amounts assigned to VBPP are not charged to expense until
the VBPP becomes associated with additional proven and probable
reserves and they are produced or the VBPP is determined to be impaired.
Additions to proven and probable reserves for properties with VBPP will
carry with them the value assigned to VBPP at the date FCX acquired
Phelps Dodge.
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Goodwill. Goodwill has an indefinite useful life and is not amortized,
but rather is tested for impairment at least annually, unless events occur
or circumstances change between annual tests that would more likely
than not reduce the fair value of a related reporting unit below its
carrying amount. FCX uses a discounted cash flow model to determine if
the carrying value of the reporting unit, including goodwill, is less than
the fair value of the reporting unit. FCX’s approach to allocating goodwill
includes the identification of the reporting units it believes have
contributed to the excess purchase price and also includes consideration
of the reporting unit’s potential for future growth.

Intangible Assets and Liabilities. FCX recorded intangible assets
and liabilities as a result of the acquisition of Phelps Dodge. Indefinite
lived intangibles primarily include water rights. Definite lived intangibles
include favorable and unfavorabte contracts {primarily related to
molybdenum sales contracts, treatment and refining contract rates,
power contracts and tire contracts), royalty payments, patents and
process technology. The fair value of identifiable intangible assets was
estimated based principally upon comparable market transactions and
discounted future cash flow projections. The ranges for estimated useful
lives are one to 10 years for molybdenum sales, treatment and refining,
power and tire contracts; one to 12 years for royalty payments; and
principally 10 to 20 years for patents and process technology. All
intangible assets and liabilities are subject to impairment testing at least
annually unless events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
related carrying amounts may not be recoverable.

Asset lmpairment. FCX reviews and evaluates its long-lived assets
for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the related carrying amounts may not be recoverable, while goodwill and
intangible assets and liabilities are evaluated at least annually. An
impairment loss is measured as the amount by which asset carrying value
exceeds its fair value. Fair value is generally determined using valuation
technigues such as estimated future cash flows. An impairment is
considered to exist if total estimated future cash flows on an undiscounted
basis are less than the camrying amount of the asset. An impairment loss is
measured and recorded based on discounted estimated future cash flows.
Future cash flows for mining assets include estimates of recoverable pounds
of copper and molybdenum and recoverable ounces of gold, metal prices
{considering current and historical prices, price trends and related factors),
production rates and costs, capital and reclamation costs as appropriate, all
based on current life-of-mine engineering plans. Future cash flows for
Atlantic Copper's smelting assets include estimates of treatment and refining
rates (considering current and historical prices, price trends and related
factors), production rates and costs, capital, reciamation and environmental
costs as appropriate, all based on operating projections. Assumptions
undertying future cash flow estimates are subject to risks and uncertainties.
No impairment losses were recorded during the periods presented.

Deferred Mining Costs. In accordance with EITF Issue No. 04-6,
“Accounting for Stripping Costs Incurred during Production in the Mining
Industry” (EITF 04-6), stripping costs (i.€., the costs of removing
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overburden and waste material to access mineral deposits) incurred
during the production phase of a mine are considered variable production
costs and are included as a component of inventory produced during the
period in which stripping costs are incurred. Major development
expenditures, including stripping costs to prepare unigue and identifiable
areas outside the cutrent mining area for future production that are
considered to be pre-production mine development, are capitalized and
amortized on the unit-of-production method based on estimated
recoverable proven and probable reserves for the ore body benefited.
However, where a second or subsequent pit is considered to be a
continuation of existing mining activities, stripping costs are accounted for
as current production cost and a component of the associated inventory.
Prior to the adoption of EITF 04-6, FCX applied the deferred mining
cost method in accounting for its post-production stripping costs, which
FCX refers to as overburden removal costs. The deferred mining cost
method was used by some companies in the metals mining industry;
however, industry practice varied. The deferred mining cost method
matches the cost of production with the sale of the related metat from the
open pit by assigning each metric ton of ore removed an equivalent
amount of overburden tonnage, thereby averaging overburden removal
costs over the life of the ming. The mining cost capitalized in inventory and
the amounts charged to cost of goods sold do not represent the actual
costs incurred to mine the are in any given period. Upon adoption of EITF
04-6 on January 1, 2006, FCX recorded its deferred mining costs asset
($285 million) as of December 31, 2005, net of taxes, minority interest
share and inventory effects ($136 million), as a cumulative effect
adjustment to reduce beginning retained earnings. In addition, stripping
costs incurred in 2006 and later periods are recorded in accordance with
EITF 04-8. As a result of adopting EITF 04-6, FCX's income from continuing
operations before income taxes and minority interests for the year ended
December 31, 2006, was $35 million lower and net income was $19
million ($0.10 per basic share and $0.08 per diluted share) lower than if it
had not adopted EITF 04-6 and continued to defer stripping costs. Adoption
of the new guidance had ng impact on FCX's castrflows. The pro forma
impact of applying ETTF 04-6 would be to reduce net income by $35
million or $0.16 per diluted share for the year ended December 31, 2005.
Environmental Expenditures. Environmental expenditures are
expensed or capitalized, depending upon their future econamic benefits.
Liabitities for such expenditures are recorded when it is probable that
pbligations have been incurred and the costs can be reasonably
gstimated. For closed facilities and closed portions of operating facilities
with environmental obligations, an environmental liability is accrued when
a decision to close a facility, or a portion of a facility, is made by
management and the environmental liability is considered to be probable.
Environmental liabilities attributed to the Comprehensive Environmental
Response, Compensation, and Liability Act {CERCLA) or anatogous
state programs are considered probable when a claim is asserted, or is
probable of assertion, and FCX, or any of it subsidiaries, have been
associated with the site. Other environmental remediation liabilities are
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considered probable based on specific facts and circumstances. FCX's
estimates of these costs are based on an evaluation of various factars,
including currently available facts, existing technology, presently enacted
laws and regulations, remediation experience, whather or not FCX is a
potentially responsible party (PRP} and the ability of other PRPs to pay
their allocated portions. With the exception of those obligations assumed
in the acquisition of Phelps Dodge that were recorded at estimated

fair values (see Note 15), environmental obligations are recorded on an
undiscounted basis. Where the available information is sufficient to
estimate the amount of liability, that estimate has been used. Where the
information is only sufficient to establish a range of probable liability and
ne point within the range is more likely than any other, the lower end of
the range has been used. Possible recoveries of some of these costs from
other parties are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements
until they become probable. Legal costs associated with environmental
remediation, as defined in American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants Statement of Position (SOP) 98-1, “Environmental Remediation
Liabilities,” are included as part of the estimated liability.

Asset Retirement Obligations. In accordance with SFAS No. 143,
“Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations,” FCX records the fair value
of estimated asset retirement obligations {AROs) associated with tangible
long-lived assets in the period incurred. Retirement cbligations associated
with long-lived assets included within the scope of SFAS No. 143
are those for which there is a legal obligation to settle under existing or
enacted law, statute, written or oral contract or by legal construction.
These liabilities are accreted to full value over time through charges to
income. In addition, asset retirement costs (ARCs) are capitalized as part
of the related asset’s carrying value and are depreciated {(primarily on a
unit-of-production basis) over the asset's respective useful life.
Reclamation costs for future disturbances are recognized as an ARO and
as a related ARC in the period of the disturbance. FCX's AROs consist
primarily of costs associated with mine reciamation and closure activities.
These activities, which are site specific, generally include costs for
earthwork, revegetation, water treatment and demolition (see Note 15).

Income Taxes. FCX accounts for income taxes pursuant to SFAS No.
109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” Deferred income taxes are provided
to reflect the future tax consequences of differences between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in the financial
statements (see Note 14). A valuation allowance is provided for those
deferred tax assets for which it is more likely than not that the related
benefits will not be realized. The effect on deferred income tax assets and
liabilities of a change in tax rates and laws is recognized in income in the
period in which such changes are enacted.

On January 1, 2007, FCX adopted FASB Interpretation No. 48,
“Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes” (FIN 48), which prescribes a
recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial
statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or
expected to be taken in a tax return. FIN 48 also provides guidance on
derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim

periods, disclosure and transition. Upon adeption of FIN 48, FCX recorded
a cumulative effect adjustment of $4 million to increase its beginning
retained eamings. Following adoption of FIN 48 related to amoupts
accrued for unrecognized tax benefits, FCX includes accrued interest in
interest expense and accrued penalties in other income and expenses
rather than in its provision for income taxes. FCX had previously included
interest and penalties in its provision for income taxes.

Derivative Instruments. At times, FCX and its subsidiaries have
entered into derivative contracts to manage certain rigks resuiting from
fluctuations in commodity prices (primarily copper and gold), foreign
currency exchange rates and interest rates by creating offsetting market
exposures. FCX accounts for derivatives pursuant to SFAS No. 133,
*Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.” SFAS No.
133, as subsequently amended, established accounting and reporting
standards requiring that every derivative instrument (including certain
derivative instruments embedded in other contracts) be recorded in
the balance sheet as either an asset or liability measured at its fair value.
The accounting for changes in the fair value of a derivative instrument
depends on the intended use of the derivative and the resulting
designation. See Note 17 for 2 summary of FCX's outstanding derivative
instruments at December 31, 2007, and a discussion of FCX's risk
management strategies for those designated as hedges.

FCX elected to continue its historical accounting for its mandatorily
refleemable preferred stock indexed to commodities under the provisions of
SFAS No. 133, which allow such instruments issued before January 1, 1998,
to be excluded from those instruments required to be adjusted for
changes in their fair values. Mandatorily redeemable preferred stock
indexed to commodities was treated as a hedge of future production and
was carried at its original issue value, As redemption payments occurred,
differences between the carrying value and the payments were recorded
as adjustments to revenues. In 2006, FCX made the final redemptions
of its preferred stock indexed to commodities. Under SFAS No. 150,
“Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both
Liabilities and Equity,” FCX classified its mandatorily redeemable preferred
stock as debt. Dividend payments on FCX's mandatorily redeemable
preferred stock were classified as interest expense {see Notes 11 and 17).

Revenue Recognition. FCX sells its products pursuant to sales
contracts entered into with its customers. Revenue far all FCX's products
is recognized when title and risk of loss pass to the customer and when
collectibility is reasonably assured. The passing of title and risk of loss to
the customer is based on terms of the sales contract, generally upon
shipment or delivery of product.

Revenues from FCX's concentrate and cathodes sales are recorded
based on either 100 percent of a provisional sales price or a final sales
price calcutated in accordance with the terms specified in the relevant
sales contract. Revenues from concentrate sales are recorded net
of treatment and all refining charges (including price participation, if
applicable, as discussed below) and the impact of derivative contracts,
including the impact of redemptions of FCX's mandatorily redeemable
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preferred stock indexed to commodities and the copper coliars acquired
from Phelps Dodge (see Notes 11 and 17). Moreover, because a portion
of the metals contained in copper concentrates is unrecoverable as a
result of the smelting process, FCX's revenues from concentrate sales
are also recorded net of allowances based on the quantity and value

of these unrecoverable metals. These allowances are a negotiated term
of FCX's contracts and vary by customer. Treatment and refining charges
represent payments or price adjustments to smelters and refiners and
are either fixed or in certain cases vary with the price of copper (referred
to as price participation).

Under the long-established structure of sales agreements prevalent in
the industry, copper contained in concentrates and cathodes is generally
provisionally priced at the time of shipment. The provisional prices are
finalized in a specified future period (generally one to four months from the
shipment date) based on the quoted London Metal Exchange (LME) or the
New York Commodity Exchange {COMEX) prices. The sales subject to final
pricing are generally settled in a subsequent month or quarter. FCX's
concentrate and cathode sales agreements do not allow for net setbement
and always result in physical delivery. Final delivery to customers can take
up to 60 days.

Under SFAS No, 133, FCX's sales based on a provisional sales price
contain an embedded derivative (i.e., a pricing mechanism that is
finalized after the time of delivery) that is required to be bifurcated from
the host contract. The host contract is the sale of the metals contained
in the concentrates or cathodes at the then-current LME or COMEX
price. FCX applies the normal purchase and sale exception allowed by
SFAS No. 133 to the host contract in its concentrate or cathode sales
agreements because the sales always result in physical delivery. Under
SFAS No. 133, as amended, the embedded derivative does not qualify
for hedge accounting. Therefore, the embedded derivative on these
provisionat sales is adjusted to fair value through eamings each period
m_'ltil the date of final pricing. At December 31, 2007, revenues based on
provisional sales prices totated $1.4 billion. At December 31, 2007,

FCX had outstanding provisionally priced sales of 402 million pounds of
copper, priced at an average of $3.02 per pound, subject to final
pricing. Final prices on these sales will be established over the first
several months of 2008 pursuant to terms of sales contracts. During
2007, 2006 and 2005, the maximum net price adjustment to copper
revenues after initial recognition was 17 percent,

Gold sales are priced according to individual contract terms, generally
the average London Bullion Market Association price for a specified
month near the month of shipment. _

More than 70 percent of FCX's molybdenum sales were priced based on
prices published in Platts Metals Week, Byan's Notes or Metal Bulletin,
plus premiums. The majority of these sales use the average of the previous
month, FCX's remaining molybdenum sales generally have pricing that is
either based on a fixed price or adjusts within certain price ranges.

PT Freeport indonesia sales are subject to certain royalties, which are
recorded as a redugtion to revenues {see Note 16 for further discussion).
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Stock-Based Compensation, As of December 31, 2007, FCX has six
stock-based employee compensation plans and two stock-based director
compensation plans. Prior to January 1, 2006, FCX accounted for options
granted under all of its plans under the recognition and measurement
principles of Accounting Principtes Board (APB) Opinion No, 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related interpretations, as
permitted by SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.”
APB Opinion No. 25 required compensation cost for stock options to be
recognized based on the ditference on the date of grant, if any, between
the quoted market price of the stock and the amount an employee must
pay to acquire the stock {i.e., the intrinsic value). Because all FCX’s plans
require that the option exercise price be at least the market price on the
date of grant, FCX recognized no compensation cest on the grant or
exercise of its employees' options through December 31, 2005. Prior to
2007, the market price was defined as the average of the high and low
price of FCX common stock on the date of grant. Effective January 2007, in
response to new Securities and Exchange Commission disclosure rules,
the plans were amended to define the market price for future grants as the
closing price of FCX common stack on the date of grant. Other awards
under the plans did result in compensation costs being recognized in
earnings based on the projected intrinsic value for restricted stock units to
be granted in lieu of cash compensation, the intrinsic value on the date of
grant for other resfricted stock units and the inrinsic value on the reporting
or exercise date for cash-settled stock appreciation rights {(SARs),

Effective January 1, 2006, FCX adopted the fair value recognition
provisions of SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004}, “Share-Based Payment” {SFAS
No. 123R), using the modified prospective transition method. Under that
transition method, compensation cost recognized in 2007 and 2006
includes; (i) compensation costs for all stock option awards granted to
employees prior to but not yet vested as of January 1, 2006, based on the
grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of
SFAS No. 123, and {ji) compensation costs for all stock option awards
granted subsequent to January 1, 20086, based on the grant-date fair value
estimated in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 123R. In addition,
other stock-based awards charged to expense under SFAS No. 123 continue
1o be charged to expense under SFAS No. 123R. These include restricted
stock units and SARs. Results for 2005 have not been restated. FCX has
elected to recognize compensation costs for awards that vest over several
years on a straight-fine basis over the vesting period. FCX's stock option
awards provide for employees to receive the next year's vesting after an
employee retires, For awards granted after January 1, 2006, to retirement-
eligible employees, FCX records one year of amortization of the awards’
value on the date of grant. Certain restricted stock units are performance-
based awards with accelerated vesting upon retirement. Therefore, in
accordance with SFAS No. 123R and consistent with prior years’ accounting,
FCX recognizes the compensation cost for restricted stock units granted
to retirement-eligible employees in the period during which the employee
performs the service related to the grant. The services may be performed in
the calendar year preceding the date of granf. In addition, prior to adoption
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of SFAS No. 123R, FCX recognized forfeitures as they occurred in its SFAS
No. 123 pro forma disclosures. Beginning January 1, 2008, FCX includes
estimated forfeitures in its compensation cost and updates the estimated
forfeiture rate through the final vesting date of the awards.

The following table illustrates the effect on net income and eamings
per common share for the year ended December 31, 2005, if FCX had
applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 to stock-
based awards granted under FCX’s stock-tased compensation plans:

Net income applicable ta common stock, as reported $935
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense included
in reported net income for stock option conversions, SARs and
restricted stock units, net of taxes and minority interests 13
Deduct; Total stock-based employee compensation expense
determined under fair value-based methed for all awards, net

of taxes and minority interests (26)

Pro forma net income applicable to commeon stock $ 922
Earnings per share;

Basic — as reported $5.18

Basic — pro forma $5.12

Dituted — as reported $4.67

Dituted - pro forma $4.64

For the pro forma computations, the values of option grants were
calculated on the dates of grant using the Black-Scholes-Merton option
pricing model and amortized to expense on a straight-line basis over
the options’ vesting periods. No other discounts or restrictions related to
vesting or the likelihood of vesting of stock options were applied.

The following table summarizes the calculated average fair values and
waighted-average assumptions used to determine the fair value of
FCX’s stock option grants under SFAS No. 123 durlng the year ended
December 31, 2005.

Fair value per stock option $13.97
Risk-free interest rate . 3.9%
Expected volatility rate 46%
Expected life of options (in years) ]
Assumed annual dividend $ 1.00

Earnings Per Share. FCX's basic net income per share of common stock
was calculated by dividing net income applicable to common stock by
the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during
the year. The foliowing is a reconciliation of net income and weighted-
average common shares outstanding (in millions) for purposes of
calculating diluted net income per share for the years ended

December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005:

2007 2006 2005

Income from continuing operations $2,.942 $1,457 $ 995
Preferred dividends {208) {61 (60)
Income from continuing operations applicable to commen stock 2,734 1,396 935
Plus income Impact of assumed conversion of:
6 3/4% Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock 147 - -
5 /2% Convertible Perpetual Preferred Stock 61 B1 60
7% Convertible Senior Notes - 12 35
Dituted net income from continuing operations applicable to common stock 2,942 1,469 1,030
Income from discontinued operations 35 - -
Diluted net income applicable to common shares $2.977 $1,469 $1,030
Weighted-average common shares outstanding M 191 180
Add shares Issuable upon conversion, exercise or vesting of:
6 34% Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock {see Note 13) 30 - -
5 /2% Convertible Perpetual Preferred Stock (see Note 13) 23 22 21
7% Convertible Senior Notes (see Note 11} - 7 17
Dilutive stock options (see Note 13) 2 ' 1 2
Restricted stock (see Note 13) 1 — —
Weighted-average comman shares outstanding for purposes of calculating diluted net income per share 397 C22 220
Diluted net income per share of comman stock:
Continuing cperations $ 7.4 $ 6.63 $ 4067
Discontinued operations 0.09 - -
Diluted net income per share of common stock $ 7.50 $ 663 $ 467
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Outstanding stock options with exercise prices greater than the average
market price of FCX's common stock during the period are excluded
from the computation of diluted net income per share of common stock.
FCX's convertible instruments are aiso excluded when including the
conversion of these instruments increases reported diluted net income per
share. No amounts were excluded for 2007. Excluded amounts in 2006
and 2005 were approximately one million stock cptions with weighted-
average exercise prices of $63.77 in 2006 and $36.99 in 2005.

New Accounting Standards. Fair Value Measurements. In September
2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements,”
which provides enhanced guidance for using fair value to measure assets
and liabilities. SFAS No. 157 does not require any new fair value
measurements under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAPY); rather this statement establishes a common definition of fair
value, provides a framework for measuring fair value under U.S. GAAP
and expands disclosure requirements about fair value measurements.
On February 12, 2008, the FASB issued FSP FAS 157-2, which delays
the effective date of SFAS No. 157 for nonfinancial assets or liabilities
that are not required or permitted to be measured at fair value on a -
recurring basis to fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008, and
interim periods within those years, FCX is currently evaluating the
impact, if any, the adoption of SFAS No. 157 will have on its financial
reporting and disclosures.

Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Liabilities. In February 2007,
the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial
Assets and Liabilities — Including an amendment of FASB No. 115,”
which permits entities to choose to measure many financial
instruments and certain other items at fair value that are not currently
required to be measured at fair value. SFAS No. 159 is effective for
fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. FCX does not believe
adoption of SFAS No. 159 will have a material impact on its financiai
reporting and disclosures.

Business Combinations. In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS
No. 141 (revised 2007), “Business Combinations” (SFAS No. 141R).
Under SFAS No. 141R, all business combinations will be accounted for
under the acquisition method, and the new standard makes certain
other changes to the accounting for business cambinations, of which
the most significant are as follows: (i) whether ail or a partial interest is
acquired, the acquirer will recognize the full value of assets acquired,
liabilities assumed and noncontrolling interests; (i) direct costs
of a business combination will be charged to expense if they are not
associated with issuing debt or equity securities; (jii} any contingent
consideration will be recognized and measured at fair value on the
acquisition date, with subsequent changes to the fair value recognized
in earnings; and (iv) equity issued in consideration for a business
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combination will be measured at fair value as of the acquisition date.
SFAS No. 141R applies prospectively to business combinations for
which the acquisition date is on or after fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2008. Early adoption is prohibited.

Noncontroliing Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements. In
December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, “Noncontrolling
Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements — an amendment of ARB
No. 51," which clarifies that noncontrolling interests (minority interests)
are to be treated as a separate component of equity and any changes in
the ownership interest (in which control is retained) are to be accounted
for as capital transactions. However, a change in ownership of a
consolidated subsidiary that results in a loss of contro! is considered a
significant event that triggers gain or loss recognition, with the
establishment of a new fair value basis in any remaining ownership
interests. SFAS No. 160 also provides additional disclosure requirements
tor each reporting period. SFAS No. 160 applies to fiscal years
beginning on or after December 15, 2008, with early adoption prohibited.
This statement is required to be adopted prospectively, except for the
following provisions, which are expected to be applied retrospectively:
(i) the reclassification of noncontrolling interests to equity in the
consolidated balance sheets and (i) the adjustment to consolidated net
income to include net income attributable to both the controlling and
noncontrolling interests.

Reclassifications. For comparative purposes, primarily because of
the acquisition of Phelps Dodge, certain prior year amounts have been
reclassified to conform with the current year presentation.

NOTE 2. ACQUISITION OF PHELPS DODGE

On March 19, 2007, FCX acquired Phelps Dodge, a fully integrated producer
of copper and molybdenum, with mines in North and South America

and processing capabilities for other by-product minerals, such as gold,
silver and rhenium, and severa! development projects, including Tenke
Fungurume in the Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC).

In the acquisition, each share of Phelps Dodge common stock was
exchanged for 0.67 of a share of FCX common stock and $88.00 in cash.
As a result, FCX issued 136.9 million shares and paid $18.0 billion in cash
to Pheips Dodge shareholders. The acquisition has been accounted for
under the purchase method as required by SFAS No. 141, with FCX as the
accounting acquirer.

The initial estimates of the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities
assumed and the resuits of Phelps Dodge's operations are included
in FCX's consolidated financial statements beginning March 20, 2067.
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The following table summarizes the $25.8 billion purchase price,
which was funded through a combination of common shares issued,
borrowings under an $11.5 billion senior credit facility, proceeds from the
offering of $6.0 billion of senior notes (see Note 11 for further discussion)
and available cash resources:

Phelps Dodge common stock outstanding and issuable

at March 19, 2007 (in millions} 2043
Exchange offer ratio per share of FCX common stock for each

Phelps Dodge common share 0.67
Shares of FCX common stock issued §in millions) : 136.9
Cash consideration of $88.00 for each Phelps Dodge

common share $17,979°
Fair vatue of FCX common stock issued 7.781°
Transaction and change of control costs and related employee

beneits 136
Release of FCX deferred tax asset valuation allowances @2y

Total purchase price " $25.804

. Cash consideration includas cash paid in lisu of any fractional shares of FCX stock.

. Measurement of the commen stock component of the purchase price was based on a welghted
average closing price of FCX's common stock of $56.85 o the two days prier to through two days
after the public announcement of the merger on November 19, 2008.

¢. FCX determined that, as a resuft of the acquisition of Phelps Dodge, it will be able fo realize certain

U5, tax credds for which it had previously not recognized any benefn. Recognition of these tax

credits resulted in @ $92 million reduction to the purchase price.

(=g -

In accordance with the purchase method of accounting, the purchase
price paid was determined at the date of the public announcement of the
transaction and has been allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed based upon their estimated fair values on the closing date

of March 19, 2007. FCX is continuing to value all assets acquired and
liabilities assumed, and there could be additional adjustments to the
estimated fair values until all valuation work is finalized in the first quarter
of 2008. In valuing acquired assets and assumed liabilities, fair values
were based on, but not limited to: quoted market prices, where available;
the intent of FCX with respect to whether the assets purchased were to be
held, sold or abandoned; expected future cash flows; current replacement
cost for similar capacity for certain fixed assets; market rate assumptions
for contractual obligations; and appropriate discount rates and growth
rates. The excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair value of
the net assets acquired has been recorded as goodwill. A decline in
copper or molybdenum prices from those used to estimate the fair values
of the acquired assets could result in impairment to the carrying amounts
assigned to inventories; mill and leach stockpiles; property, plant and
equipment; and goodwill. At the date of acquisition of Phelps Dodge,
copper price projections used to value the assets acquired ranged from a
near-term price of $2.98 per pound for copper and $26.20 per pound for
molybdenum to a long-term average price of $1.20 per pound for copper
and $8.00 per pound for molybdenum.

A current summary of the purchase price allocation as of March 19, 2007,
follows {in billions}):

Phelps Prefiminary
Dodge Purchase
Hstoical  FalrValve  Price
Balances  Adjustments  Allocation
Cash and cash equivalents $42 & - $42
Inventories, including mili and leach stockpiles 0.8 2.8 37
Property, plant and equipment? 6.0 16.1 221
(Other assets 31 0.2 33
Allocation to goodwill® - 6.3 6.3
Tota! assets 14.2 25.4 396
Deferred income taxes {current and long-term)®  (0.7) (6.3) 70
Other liabilities 4. (1.5) (5.6)
Minority interests (1.2} - (1.2)
Total - 882 $176 §258

a. Includes amounts Jor proven and probable reserves and values of VBPP (see Note 1).

b. Naone of the $6.3 billion of gooawill is deductibla for tax purposes.

¢, Includes $160 miliicn of goodwill associated with Phelps Dodge Intermational Corporation (POIC).
POIC was sold in the fourth quarter of 2007 {see Note 4).

¢ Deferred income taxes have been recognlzed based on the difference Detween the tax basis and the
estimated fair values assigned 1o net assets, :

Prior to the end of the first quarter of 2008, if information becomes
available that an asset existed, a liability had been incurred or an assel
had been impaired as of the acquisition date, and the amounts can be
reasonably estimated, such items will be included in the purchase price
allocation.

Goodwill, which arose with FCX's acquisition of Phelps Dodge, is
attributed to a number of potential strategic and financial benefits that are
expected to be realized, including, but not limited to, the following:

« The combined company's increased scale of operations, management
depth and strengthened cash flow provide an improved platform to
capitalize on growth opportunities in the global market.

« The combined company is well positioned to benefit from the positive
copper market at a time when there is a scarcity of large-scale copper
development projects combined with strong global demand for copper.

+ The combined company has long-lived, geographically diverse
reserves, totaling 93.2 billion pounds of copper, 41.0 million ounces of
gold and 2.0 billion pounds of molybdenum as of December 31, 2007
{see Note 19). Additionally, the combined company has rights to
significant mineralized material that could add to reserves.

« The combined company has exploration rights with significant potential
in copper regions around the world.

Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information. Tpe following
unaudited pro forma financial information assumes that FCX acquired
Phelps Dodge effective January 1, 2007, for the 2007 period, and
effective January 1, 2008, for the 2006 period. The most significant
adjustments relate to the purchase accounting impacts of increases in
the carrying values of acquired meta! inventories {inciuding mill and leach
stockpiles) and property, plant and equipment using March 19, 2007,
metal prices ang assumptions:
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Historical
Phelps Pro Forma Pro Forma

FCX Dogge® Adjustments  Consolidated
Year Ended December 31, 2007 )
Revenues $16,939 $ 2,294 58 - $19,233°
Operating income 6,565 793 (105 7.2430¢
Income from continuing aperations before income taxes and minority interests 6133 837 (173} 6,797bsdet
Income from continuing aperations applicable to commen stock 2,734 493 {166} 3,061bedef
Diluted income from continuing operations per share of cammon stack 7.41 N/A N/A 7.41bedet
Diluted weighted average shares gutstanding {in miliions) 397 N/A N/A 448"k

Year Ended December 31, 2006

Revenues

Operating income

Income from continuing operations before income taxes and minority interests
Income from continwing operations applicable to common stock

Diluted income from continuing operations per share of common stock
Diluted welighted average shares outstanding (in millions)

$ 5791 $10,742 $ 120 $186,653"

2,869 4,158 (2,077) 4,9500¢9

2,826 4,766 (2.847) 4,7450580

1,396 3.000 (2,199 2,1970c24
6.63 14.74 N/A 5.540480
221 204 N/A 445"

a. For the year ended December 31, 2007, represents the results of Phelps Dedge's operations from January 1, 2007, through March 19, 2607, Beginning March 20, 2007, the rasults of Phelps Dodge’s operations

ara included in FCX's consolidated financial information.

Additionally, for comparative purposes the historical Phelps Dodge financial information for the year ended December 31, 2006, represents results from continuing operations, and therefore, excludes the results of

PDIC {/.2., discontinued operations).

b. Includes charges to revenues for mark-to-market accounting adjustments on copper price protection programs totaling $195 million {$119 million to net income or $0.27 per share) for 2007 and $1.2 bilien
1$915 million 1o net income or $2.06 per share) for 2006. Also includes credits for amortization of acquired intangible lianilities totating $120 million (576 million to net income or $0.17 per share) in each year,

c. Includes charges associated with the impacts of the increases in the camrylng values of acquired metal inventories dncluding mill and leach stockpiles) and property, plant and equipment, and also includes the
amoriization of intangible assets and lkabilities resulting from the acquisition iotaling $1.6 bition ($1.0 billion to net income or $2.25 per share) for 2007 and $2.2 billion ($1.4 billion 10 net income o $3.13 per

share) for 2006.

d. Excludes net losses on early extinguishment of debt fotaling $88 million ($69 million to net income or $0.15 per share) for financing transactions refated to the acquisition of Pheips Dodge.
0. Includes net interest expense associated with debt issued in connection with the acquisition of Phelps Dodge totaling $580 miltion {$452 million to net income or $1.01 per share} for 2007 and $775 million ($698

milfion to net income of $1.57 per share) for 2006.

f. Includes gains primarily on the sales of marketable securities totafing $85 milfion (352 million to net income or $0.12 per share).
0. Includes charges to revenues totaling $82 million ($44 million 10 net income or $0.10 per share} associated with the redemption of FCX's Gold-Denominated Preferred Stock, Series Il and Silver-Denominated

Preferred Stock.

h.  Estimated pro forma diluted wetghted average shares outslanding for the years ended Decerber 31, 2007 and 2006, foliow {in millipns):

2007 2006

Average number of basic shares of FCX common stock
ousstanding prior t0 the acquisition of Phefps Dodge 198 191
Shares of FCX common stock issued in the acquisition 137 137
Sale of FCX shares 47 47
Mandatory Convertibte Preferred Stock” 39 39
Other dilutive securities 27 31
Pro forma average number of comman shares outstanding 448 445

*See Note 13 for additipnal information.

The above unaudited pro forma consolidated financial information has
been prepared for illustrative purposes only and i not intended to be
indicative of the results that would actually have occurrad, or the resufts
expected in future periods, had the events reflected herein occurred on
the dates indicated.

NOTE 3. OWNERSHIP IN SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND
INVESTMENT IN PT SMELTING

Ownership in Subsidiaries. On March 19, 2007, Phelps Dodge became
a wholly owned subsidiary of FCX. Phelps Dodge is a fully integrated
producer of copper and molybdenum, with mines in North America and
South America, copper and molybdenum conversion facilities, and
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several development projects, including Tenke Fungurume in the DRC.
At December 31, 2007, Phelps Dodge’s major operating copper mines in
North America were Morenci, Bagdad, Sierrita and Safford located in
Arizona, and Chino and Tyrone located in New Mexico. FCX has an 85
percent interest in Morenci {see “Joint Ventures — Sumitomo”) and owns
100 percent of the other North America mines, At December 31, 2007,
operating copper mines in South America were Candelaria (80 percent
owned), Ojos del Salado (80 percent owned) and El Abra (51 percent
owned) focated in Chile, and Cerro Verde (53.56 percent owned) located
in Peru. Phelps Dodge also owns the Henderson and Climax molybdenum
mines lacated in Colorado. The Henderson mine is currently operating,
and the Climax mine is scheduled for restart in 2010. tn addition to
copper and molybdenum, certain mines produce other minerals as by-
products, such as gold, silver and rhenium. At December 31, 2007,
Phelps Dodge’s net assets totaled $28.0 hillion and its retained earnings
totaled $2.2 billion. As of December 31, 2007, FCX had no loans
outstanding to Phelps Dodge.

FCX owns an effective 57.75 percent interest (through its ownership in
Phelps Dodge) in Tenke Fungurume Mining, S.A.R.L. (Tenke Fungurume), a
company incorporated under the laws of the DRC. The remaining ownership
interests are held by Tenke Mining Corp. (TMC}, which is owned by Lundin
Mining Corporation (24.75 percent) and La Générale des Carriéres et des



NMotes to Comsolidated Financial Statements

Mines (Gécamines), which is wholly owned by the Government of the DRC
{17.5 percent). FCX is responsible for 70 percent of project development
costs and, at its joint venture partner’s election, FCX is also responsible for
financing its partner’s share of project overruns of more than 25 percent

of the feasibility study cost estimates. Gécamines has an undilutable carried
interest and is not responsible for funding any project costs. In accordance
with the terms of the agreement, Gécamines will receive asset transfer
payments totaling $100 million, $65 millien of which has already been paid
and the remainder of which will be paid over a period of approximately
three years. Tenke Fungurume will produce copper and cobalt and is
expected to commence mining operations in 2009.

In February 2008, FCX received a letter from the Ministry of Mines,
Government of the DRC, seeking FCX’s comment on proposed material
modifications to its mining contract for the Tenke Fungurume concession,
inciuding the amount of transfer payments payable to the government, the
government's percentage ownership and involvement in the management
of the mine, regularization of certain matters under Congolese law and
the implementation of social plans. FCX's mining contract was negotiated
transparently and approved by the Government of the DRC following
extended negotiations, and FCX believes it compfies with Congolese iaw
and is enforceable without modifications. FCX is currently working
cooperatively with the Ministry of Mines to resoive these matters while
continuing with its project development activities.

FCX’s direct ownership in PT Freeport Indonesia totaled 81.28 percent
at December 31, 2007 and 2006. PT Indocopper Investama, an Indonesian
company, owns 9.36 percent of PT Freeport Indonesia and FCX owns
100 percent of PT Indocopper investama. In July 2004, FCX received a
request from the Indonesian Department of Energy and Mineral Resources
that it offer to sell shares in PT Indocopper Investama to Indonesian
nationals at fair market value. In response to this request and in view of
the potential benefits of having additional Indonesian ownership in
the operations, FCX agreed, at the time, to consider a potential sale of an
interest in PT Indocopper [nvestama at fair market value. Neither its
Contract of Work nor Indonesian law requires FCX to divest any portion of
its ownership in PT Freeport Indonesia or PT Indocopper Investama. At
December 31, 2007, PT Freeport Indonesia’s net assets totaled $2.0 billion
and its retained eamings totaled $1.8 billion. As of December 31, 2007,

FCX had no outstanding loans to PT Freeport Indonesia. Substantially all of
PT Freeport Indonesia’s assets are located in Indonesia. During 2007,

the Indonesian economy posted econemic gains and reported reduced
inflation rates. Indonesia continues to face political, economic and social
uncertainties, including separatist movements and civii and religious strife
in a number of provinces.

FCX owns 100 percent of the outstanding Atlantic Copper common
stock. At December 31, 2007, Atlantic Copper’s net assets totaled $154
million and retained earnings totaled a negative $234 million. FCX had
a $190 million loan outstanding to Atlantic Copper, and Atlantic Copper’s
debt under financing arrangements that are guaranteed by FCX totaled
$56 miltion at December 31, 2007. Under the terms of its concentrate

sales agreements with Atlantic Copper, PT Freeport Indonesia had
outstanding trade receivabtes from Atlantic Copper totaling $172 million
at December 31, 2007.
in Juty 2003, FCX acquired the 85.71 percent ownership interest in PT
Puncakjaya Power (Puncakjaya Power) owned by affiliates of Duke Energy
Corporation for $68 million cash, net of $10 miltion of cash acquired.
Puncakiaya Power is the owner of assets supplying power to PT Freeport
Indonesia’s operations, including the 3x65 megawatt coal-fired power
facilities. PT Freeport Indonesia purchases power from Puncakjaya Power
under infrastructure asset financing arrangements. in March 2005, FCX
prepaid $187 miilion of bank debt associated with Puncakjaya Power’s
operations. At December 31, 2007, FCX had a $70 million loan outstanding
1o Puncakjaya Power, PT Freeport Indonesia had infrastructure asset
financing obligations payable to Puncakjaya Power totaling $162 million and
Puncakjaya Power had a receivable from PT Freeport Indonesia for $212
million, including Rio Tinto's share. FCX consofidates PT Freeport Indonesia
and Puncakjaya Power. FCX's consolidated balance sheets reflect
receivables of $46 million ($9 million in other accounts receivable and
$37 million in Iohg-term assets) at December 31, 2007, and $55 million
($9 million in other accounts receivable and $46 million in long-term assets)
at December 31, 2008, for Rio Tinto's share of Puncakjaya Power's
receivable as provided for in FCX's joint venture agreement with Ric Tinto.
Joint Ventures. FCX has the following unincorporated joint ventures
with third parties. '
Rio Tinto.In March 2004, FCX purchased Rio Tinto’s 23.9 million
shares of FCX common stock for $882 million (approximately $36.85
per share) with a portion of the proceeds from the sale of the 5 1/2%
Convertible Perpetual Preferred Stock (see Note 13). Rio Tinto acquired
these shares from FCX's former parent company in 1995 in connection
with the spin-off of FCX as an independent company. FCX and Rio Tinto
have established certain unincorporated joint ventures which were not
impacted by FCX's purchase of its shares from Rio Tinto. Under the joint
venture arrangements, Rio Tinto has a 40 percent interest in PT Freeport
Indonesia’s Contract of Work and the option to participate in 40 percent
of any other future exploration projects in Papua, Indonesia. Under
the arrangements, Rio Tinto funded $100 million in 1996 for approved
exploration costs in the areas covered by Contracts of Work held by
FCX subsidiaries. Agreed-upon exploration costs in the joint venture
areas are shared 60 percent by FCX and 40 percent by Rio Tinto.
Pursuant to the joint venture agreement, Rio Tinto has a 40 percent
interest in certain assets and future production exceeding specified
annual amounts of copper, goid and silver through 2021 in Block A of PT
Freeport Indonesia's Contract of Work, and, after 2021, a 40 percent
interest in all production from Block A. All of PT Freeport Indonesia’s
proven and probable reserves and its mining operations are located in the
Block A area. Operating, nonexpansion capital and administrative costs
are shared proportionately between PT Freeport Indonesia and Rio Tinto
based on the ratio of (i) the incrementat revenues from production from
PT Freeport Indonesia’s most recent expansion completed in 1998 to
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' (ii} total revenues from production from Block A, including production from

PT Freeport Indonesia’s previously existing reserves. PT Freeport
Indonesia will continue to receive 100 percent of the cash flow from
specified annual amounts of copper, gold and sitver through 2021
calculated by reference to its proven and probable reserves as of
December 31, 1994, and 60 percent of all remaining cash flow.

The joint venture agreement provides for adjustments to the specified
annual amounts of copper, gold and silver attributable 100 percent to PT
Freeport Indonesia upon the occumrence of certain events which cause an
extended interruption in production to occur, including events such as
the fourth-quarter 2003 Grasberg open-pit slippage and debris flow. As a
result of the Grasberg slippage and debris flow events, the 2004 specified
amounts attributable 100 percent to PT Freeport Indonesia were reduced
by 172 million recoverable pounds for copper and 272,000 recoverable
ounces for go!d. Pursuant to agreements in 2005 and early 2006 with
Rio Tinto, these reductions were partially offset by increases in the
specified amounts attributable 100 percent to PT Freeport Indonesia
totaling 62 miliion recoverable pounds for copper and 170,000
recoverable ounces for gold in 2005, and 110 million recoverable pounds
for copper angd 102,000 recoverable ounces for gold in 2021. The
payabile to Rio Tinto for its share of joint venture cash flows totaled $68
million at December 31, 2007, and $69 million at December 31, 20086.

Sumitomo. FCX owns an 85 percent undivided interest in Morenci via
an unincorporated joint venture. The remaining 15 percent is owned by
Sumitomo, a jointly owned subsidiary of Sumitomo Metal Mining Co., Ltd.
and Sumitomo Corporation. Each partner takes in kind its share of Morenci's
production. During the period March 20, 2007 to December 31, 2007,
Phelps Dodge purchased 87 million pounds of Morenci's copper cathode
from Sumitomo for $299 million. FCX had a $10 million net payable to
Sumitomo at December 31, 2007.

Investment in PT Smelting. PT Smetting, an Indonesian company,
operates a smelter/refinery in Gresik, Indonesia. During 2006, PT Smelting
completed an expansion of its production capacity to 275,000 metric
tons of copper per year from 250,000 metric tons. PT Freeport Indonesia,
Mitsubishi Materials Corporation (Mitsubishi Materials), Mitsubishi
Corporation (Mitsubishi} and Nippon Mining & Metals Co., Ltd. {Nippon)
own 25 percent, 60.5 percent, 9.5 percent, and 5 percent, respectively, of
the outstanding PT Smelting commeon stock. PT Freeport Indonesia
provides nearly ail of PT Smelting’s copper concentrate requirements.
Under the PT Smelting contract, for the first 15 years of PT Smeiting's
commercial operations beginning December 1998, the treatment and
refining charges on the majority of the concentrate PT Freeport Indonesia
provides will not fall below specified minimum rates ($0.21 per pound
after March 2004), subject to renegotiation in 2008. The rate was
approximately $0.38 per pound during 2007. PT Smelting had project-
specific debt, nonrecourse to PT Freeport Indonesia, totaling $219 million
at December 31, 2007, and $262 million at December 31, 2006.
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NOTE 4. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On QOctober 31, 2007, FCX sold its international wire and cable business,
PDIC, for $735 miltion, which resulted in a net loss of $14 million {39
million to net income) for transaction-related costs. The transaction
generated after-tax proceeds of approximately $650 million (net proceeds
of $597 million after taxes, transaction-related costs and PDIC cash).

As a result of the sale, the operating resuits of PDIC have been
removed from continuing operations and reported as discontinued
operations in the consolidated statements of income. Selected financial
information that has been reported as discontinued operations for the
period March 20, 2007, through December 31, 2007, follows:

Revenues $937
Operating income 78
Provision for income taxes (24)
Income from discontinued operations 35

Cash flows from discontinued operations for the year ended December 31,
2007, have not been separately identified in the consolidated statements
of cash flows.

NOTE 5. INVENTORIES, AND MILL AND LEACH STOCKPILES
The components of inventories follow:

December 31, 2007 2006
Mining Operations:
Raw materials 5 1 $ -
Work-in-process. 71 A
Finished goods? 898 4
Atlantic Capper:
Raw materials (concentrates) 164 °* 189
Work-in-process 220 168
Finished goods . 6 12
Total product inventories 1,360 384
Total materials and suppties, net® 818 340
Total inventories $2,178  $§724

a. Primanlly includes concentrates and cathodes.
b, Materials and supplies inventtory is net of obsolestence reserves totaling $16 million at both
December 31, 2007, and December 31, 2006,

FCX acquired mill and leach stockpiles in the Phelps Dodge
acquisition. The following is a detail of mill and teach.stockpiles as of
December 31, 2007.

North South
America  America Total
Current:
Mill stockpiles $ - $ 6 $ 6
Leach stockpiles 630 71 701
Total current mill and leach stockpiles $630 $ 77 0§ 707
Long-term?;
Mill stockpiles $ ~ $248 & 248
Leach stockpiles 685 173 858

Total long-term mill and leach stockpiles  $685 3421 $1,106

a. Materials in stockpiles not expected to be recovered within the next 12 months.
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NOTE 6. PROPERTY, PLANT, EQUIPMENT AND DEVELOPMENT
COSTS, NET

The components of net property, plant, equipment and development
costs follow:

December 31, 2007 2006
Praven and probable reserves $13,797 $ -
VBPP 2103 -
Devetopment and other 2516 1,538
Buildings and infrastructure 2,300 1,501
Machinery and equipment 6,023 2,261
Mobile equipment 2,106 757
Consiruction in progress 1,197 162
Property, plant, equipment and development costs 30,042 6,219
Accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization 4,327y (3,120
Property, plant, equipment and development costs, net  $25715  $3,099

FCX recorded $2,196 million for VBPP in connection with the Phelps
Dodge acquisition and transferred $93 million to proven and probable
reserves during 2007,

FCX's capitalized interest totaled $147 million in 2007, $11 mitlion in
2006 and $4 million in 2005. Capitalized interest in 2007 primarily related
to development projects at Safford and Tenke Fungurume.

NOTE 7. GOODWILL, AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Goodwilk. Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the year ended
December 31, 2007, follows:

At January 1, 2007 $ -
Acquisition of Phelps Dodge 6,265
Additions? 21
Disposal of PDIC (see Note 4) (181

At December 31, 2007 $6,105

a. In 2007, FCX acquired minority shareholders' interests in several of its subsidiaries, which were
subsequently inciuded In the sals of PDIC.

FCX recorded goodwill in connection with the Phelps Dodge acquisition.
This amount represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair
value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed and is subject to
adjustment as FCX finalizes its analysis of these fair values in the first
quarter of 2008. In accordance with accounting rules, goodwill resutting
from a business combination is assigned to the acquiring entity’s reporting
units that are expected to benefit from the business combination.
Adjustments to the recorded values of the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed in the acquisition of Phelps Dodge may occur until such values
are finalized. Accordingly, the allocation of goodwill to reporting units,
which FCX has determined will inctude its individua! mines, will be
completed when FCX finalizes the purchase price allocation in the first
quarter of 2008.

Goodwill has an indefinite useful life and is not amortized, but rather is
tested for impairment at least annually, unless events occur or
circumstances change between annual tests that would more likely than
not reduce the fair value of a related reporting unit below its carrying
amount. Although the allocation of goodwill to reporting units has not yel
been finalized, FCX performed an initial impairment evaluation in the
fourth quarter of 2007 based on a prefiminary allocation and concluded
that there was no impairment of goodwill as of Becember 31, 2007.

Intangible Assets and Liabilities. Intangible assets (included in other
assets) and intangible liabilities (included in other liabilities — see Note 10)
at December 31, 2007, which were acquired in connection with the
acquisition of Phelps Dodge, follow:

Gross © o Net
Carying  Accumufated  Book
Vale  Amorfizaion  Value i

Water rights §220 § () s219
Power contracts 169 (38) 13i
Patents and process technology 48 2} 46
Royalty payments 39 2} 37
Tire contracts 39 4 35
Other intangibles 4 — 4
Total intangible assets $519 S¢47) 8472
Treatment and refining terms in sales contracts  $ (52} § 9 ${43)
Molybdenum sales contracts {115) il 4
Total intangible liabilities S5{167)  $i20 $ {47

Amortization of intangible assets recognized in production and delivery
costs was $47 million in 2007, and amertization of intangible liabilities
recognized in revenues totaled $120 million in 2007. The estimated
net amortization expense for the next five years totals $53 million in
2008, $26 million in 2009, $27 million in 2010, $25 million in 2011
and $31 million in 2012,

NOTE 8. TRUST ASSETS
The foltowing is a detail of trust assets at December 31, 2007, which were
acquired in connection with the acquisition of Phelps Dodge:

Global reclamation and remediation $5442
Rabbi trust ) 23
Change of control 21
Non-qualified retirement benefits __18
Total trust assets $606

a. Includes $106 million of legally restricted lunds for AROs at the Chino, Tyrone and Cobre mines
(seq Note 15),
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NOTE 9. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES
The following provides additional information regarding accounts payable
and accrued liabilities.

December 31, 2007 2006
Accounts payable $1,195 $320
Salaries, wages and other compensation 278 80
Current deferred tax liability 171 -
Accrued interest 144 22
Community development contributicns 118 -
Pension, postretirement, postemployment and other

employee benefits? : - 108 8
Other 3 346

Total accounts payable and accrued liabilities $2.345 $776

a. See Note 10 for long-term portion and Note 12 for further discussion.

NOTE 10. OTHER LIABILITIES
The tollowing provides additional information regarding other liabilities.

December 31, 2007 2006

Pension, postretirement, postemployment and other
employment benefits and long-term incentive

compensation® $ 644 $166
Reserve for uncertain tax benefits . 115 -
Accrued long-term tax liability 80 -
Atlantic Copper contractual cbligation to

insurance company (see Note 12} 72 70

Other : 195 30
Total other liabilities ) $1,106 $268

a. See Note 9 for short-term porticn and Note 12 for further discussion.

NOTE 11. LONG-TERM DEBT
The following is a detail of long-term debt:

December 31, 2007 2006
Senior Credit Facility $ - 8 -
Senior Notes:
8.375% Senior Notes due 2017 3,500 -
8.25% Senior Notes due 2015 1,500 -
Senicr floating rate notes dus 2015 1,000 -
6 /8% Senior Notes due 2014 340 340
9 1/2% Senior Notes due 2031 ' 239 -
8 ¥4% Senior Notes due 2011 118 -
6 /8% Senior Notes due 2034 115 -
7 /8% Debentures due 2027 115 -
7% Convertible Senior Notes due 2011 i 7
10 /8% Senior Notes due 2010 - 273
Other {including equipment capital leases and ‘
short-term borrowings) 283 60
Total debt ' 7,211 680
Less current partion of long-term debt and '
short-term borrowings . (31) {19

Long-term debt $7,180 $661

86 Financial & Operating Information

Senior Credit Facility. In connection with financing FCX’s acquisition of
Phelps Dodge, FCX used proceeds from its borrowings under its $11.5
billion senior credit facility. At the close of the Phelps Dodge acquisition,
the senior credit facility consisted of a $2.5 billion senior term [oan

due March 2012, a $7.5 billion Tranche B term loan due March 2014
and $1.5 billion in revolving credit facilities due March 2012, with no
amounts drawn on the revolving credit facilities. The revolving credit
facilities are composed of (i) a $1.0 billion revolving credit facility

" available to FCX and {ii) a $0.5 billion revolving credit facility available

to both FCX and PT Freeport Indonesia. The $0.5 billion revolving credit
facility represents an amendment to the FCX and PT Freeport Indonesia
revolver that was scheduled to mature in 2009. FCX used proceeds
from equity offerings, operating cash flows and asset sales to prepay
the $10 billion of term loans by December 31, 2007.

Interest on the revolving credit facilities is based on the London
{nterbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus 0.75 percent, subject 1o an increase
or decrease in the interest rate margin based on the credit ratings
assigned by Standard and Poor's Rating Services and Moody’s Investor
Services. At December 31, 2007, no amounts were outstanding under
the revolving credit facilities.

The senior credit facility also containg covenants, including
limitations on indebtedness, liens, asset sales, restricted payments and
transactions with affiliates. Financial leverage ratios must be met in
order to incur certain indebtedness and are required to be maintained
when there are amounts drawn or letters of credit outstanding under
the revolving credit facilities. The senior credit facility is guaranteed by
certain wholly owned subsidiaries of FCX and is secured by the
pledge of equity in substantially all of these subsidiary guarantors and
certain other non-guarantor subsidiaries of FCX, and intercompany
indebtedness owed to FCX. Borrowings by FCX and PT Freeport
Indonesia under the $0.5 billion revolver are also secured with a pledge
of 50.1 percent of the outstanding stock of PT Freeport Indonesia, over
90 percent of the assets of PT Freeport Indonesia and, with respect
to borrowings by PT Freeport Indonesia, a pledge of the Contract of Work.

During 2007, FCX recorded net charges totaling $154 million
($120 million to net income or $0.30 per diluted share) for early
extinguishment of debt related to the accelerated recognition of
deferred financing costs associated with the repayment of amounts
under the senior credit facility. .

Senior Notes. In March 2007, in connection with financing FCX's
acquisition of Phelps Dodge, FCX sold $3.5 billion of 8.375% Senior
Notes due April 2017, $1.5 billion of 8.25% Senior Notes due April 2015
and $1.0 billion of senior floating notes due April 2015 for total net
proceeds of $5.9 billion. Interest on the senior notes is payable
semiannually on April 1 and October 1. Interest on the senior floating
rate notes due April 2015 accrues at six-month LIBOR plus 3.25
percent. The weighted-average interest rate on these senior floating
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rate notes was 7.85 percent at December 31, 2007. These notes are
redeemable in whole or in part, at the option of FCX, at make-whole
redemption prices prior to the redemption dates, and afterwards at
stated redemption prices. The terms of the agreements allow for
optional make-whole redemptions prior to April 1, 2009, for the senior
floating rate notes; April 1, 2011, for the 8.25% Senior Notes; and

April 1, 2012, for the 8.375% Senior Notes. The indenture governing the
notes contains restrictions on incurring debt, creating liens, seliing
assets, making restricted payments and entering into certain
transactions with affifiates. '

In February 2004, FCX sold $350 million of 6 7/8% Senior Notes due
Fehruary 2014 for net proceeds of $344 million, Interast on the notes is
payable semiannually on February 1 and August 1. These notes are
redeemable in whole or in part, at the option of FCX, at a make-whole
redemption price prior to February 1, 2009, and afterwards at stated
redemption prices. During 2004, FCX purchased in open market
transactions $10 million of its 6 7/8% Senior Notes. The indenture
governing the notes contains certain restrictions on incurring debt,
creating liens, selling assets, making restricted payments and entering
into tertain fransactions with affiliates. At the time of the Phelps Dodge
acquisition, the 6 7/8% Senior Notes received the benefit of the same
guarantees and subsidiary pledges provided under the FCX senior credit
facility. This security could be released under certain circumstances
involving changes in FCX's capital structure.

The 91/2% Senior Notes due June 2031 and the 8 3/4% Senior
Notes due June 2011 bear interest payable semiannually on June 1 and
Decembert 1. These notes are redeemable in whole or in part, at the
option of FCX, at a make-whole redemption price. In March 2007, in
connection with the acquisition of Phelps Dodge, FCX assumed these
senior notes with a stated value of $306 million, which was increased
by $54 million to refiect the fair market value of these obligations at the
acquisition date. The increase in value wili be amortized over the
term of the notes and recorded as a reduction of interest expense. At
December 31, 2007, the principal amount of the 9 /2% Senior Notes was
$194 million and the 8 3/4% Senior Notes was $108 million. In February
2008, FCX purchased in an open market transaction $33 million of the
91/2% Senior Notes for $46 million, which will result.in a net charge of
$6 million ($5 million to net incore) in the first quarter of 2008.

The 6 1/8% Senior Notes dire March 2034 bear interest payable
semiannuaily on March 15 and September 15. These notes are
redeemable in whole or in part, at the option of FCX, at a make-whale
redemptidn price. In March 2007, in connection with the acquisition
of Phelps Dodge, FCX assumed these senior notes with a stated value of
$150 million, which was reduced by $11 million to reflect the fair
market value of these obligations at the acquisition date. The decrease
in value will be amortized over the term of the notes and recorded as
additional interest expense. During 2007, FCX purchased in an open
market transaction $26 million of these notes and recorded charges of

$2 million ($2 million to net income or less than $0.01 per diuted
share) as a result of this transaction. At December 31, 2007, the
principa! amount of these senior notes was $124 million.

The 7 /8% Debentures due November 2027 bear interest payable
semiannually on May 1 and November 1, The debentures are
redeemable in whole or in part, at the option of FCX, at a make-whole
redemption price. In March 2007, in connection with the acquisition
of Phelps Dodge, FCX assumed these debentures with a stated and fair
value of $115 million. At December 31, 2007, the principal amount of
these debentures was $115 million.

In February 2003, FCX sold $575 million of 7% Convertible Senior
Nates due February 2011 for net proceeds of $559 million. Interest on
the notes is payable semiannually on March 1 and September 1. The
notes were initially convertible, at the option of the holder, at any time
on or prior to maturity into shares of FCX's common stock at a
conversion price of $30.87 per share, which was equal to a conversion
rate of approximately 32.39 shares of common stock per $1,000
principal amount of notes. The conversion rate is adjustable when
dividends over a twelve-month period exceed a certain threshold. As a
resutt of FCX's cumulative twelve-month dividends through February
2007, the conversion price was adjusted to $30.16 per share, which is
equal to a conversion rate of approximately 33.16 shares of commaon
stock per $1,000 principal amount of notes. No further adjustments to
the conversion price have been required singe that time. In 2005, FCX
privately negotiated transactions to induce conversion of $251 million of
these notes into 8.1 million shares of FCX common stock, which
resulted in a 2005 net charge of $25 miflion {$23 million to net income
or $0.11 per diluted share). in 2006, FCX completed a tender offer and
privately negotiated transactions to induce conversions of $317 million
of these notes into 10.3 million shares of FCX common stock, which
resulted in a 2006 net charge of $31 million ($30 million to net income
or $0.13 per diluted share). tn 2007, $6 miilion of these notes were
converted into 0.2 million shares of FCX common stock and the balance
at December 31, 2007, was $1 miilion,

In January 2003, FCX sold $500 million of 10 1/8% Senior Notes due
2010 for net proceeds of 3487 million. In 2005, FCX purchased in open
market transactions $216 million of these notes and recorded
transaction-related charges of $27 miltion ($17 miltion to net income or
$0.08 per difuted share). In 2006, FCX purchased in an open market
transaction $11 rillion of these notes and recorded transaction-refated
charges of $1 million ($1 million to net income or less than $0.01 per
diluted share). During 2007, FCX purchased in an open market
transaction the remaining $273 million of these notes and recorded
transaction-related charges of $17 million ($10 million to net income or
$0.02 per diluted share). ]

All of FCX's senior notes are unsecured, except for the 6 /8%
Senior Notes.
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Redeemable Preferred Stock. As discussed in Note 1, pursuant
to SFAS No. 150, mandatorily redeemable preferred stock is classified
as debt.

At December 31, 2005, FCX had outstanding 4.3 million depositary
shares representing 215,279 shares of its Gold-Denominated Preferred
Stock, Series If totaling $167 million. Each depositary share had a
cumulative quarterty cash dividend egual to the value of 0.0008125
ounce of gold and was radeemed in February 2006 for the cash value of
0.1 ounce of gotd ($236 million). The mandatory redemption resuited in
a $167 million decrease in debt and a loss recognized in 2006 revenues
of $69 millicn ($37 million to net income or $0.17 per diluted share).

At December 31, 2005, FCX had outstanding 4.8 million depositary
shares representing 14,875 shares of its Silver-Denominated Preferred
Stock totaling $13 million, Each depositary share had a cumutative
quarterly cash dividend equal to the value of 0.0051563 ounce of silver.
On August 1, 2006, FCX funded the last of eight scheduled annual
redemption payments on its Silver-Denominated Preferred Stock for
$26 miltion, resulting in a $13 million decrease in debt. The mandatory
redemptions also resulted in losses recognized in revenues totaling
$13 million in 2006 and $5 million in 2005.

Restrictive Covenants. The senior credit facility, the $6.0 billion
of senior notes used to finance the acquisition of Phelps Dodge and the
6 7/a% Senior Notes contain covenants that limit FCX's ability to make
certain payments. These restrictions vary among the instruments, but
generally limit FCX's ability to pay certain dividends on common and
preferred stock, repurchase or redeem common and preferred equity,
prepay subordinated debt and make certain investments. At
December 31, 2007, the most restrictive of these covenants allowed for
such payments up to a limit of $5.1 billion.

Maturities. Maturities of debt instruments based on the amounts
and terms outstanding at December 31, 2007, total $31 million in 2008,
$49 million in 2009, $22 million in 2019, $141 millicn in 2011, $74
million In 2012 and $6,894 million thereafter.

NOTE 12. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Pension Plans. Following is a discussion of FCX's pension plans,
Phelps Dodge Plans. As a result of the acquisition of Phelps Dodge,

FCX acquired trusteed, non-contributory pension plans covering

substantiatly all of Phelps Dodge’s U.S. employees and some employees

of its international subsidiaries. The applicable Phelps Dodge plan

design determines the manner in which benefits are calculated for any

particular group of employees. For certain of these plans, benefits

are caiculated based on final average monthly compensation and years

of service. In the case of other plans, benefits are calculated based

on a fixed amount for each year of service. Participants in the Phelps

Dodge plans generally vest in their accrued benefits after five years

of service. Non-bargained Phelps Dodge employees hired after

December 31, 20086, are not eligible to participate in the Phelps Dodge

U.S. pension plan.
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FCX's funding policy for these plans provides that contributions to
pension trusts shall be at least equal to the minimum funding
requirements of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as
amended, for U.S. plans; or, in the case of international plans, the
minimum legal requirements that may be applicable in the various
countries. Additional contributions also may be made from time to time. At
the date of acquisition, Phelps Dodge had plans where the plan assets
exceeded the benefit obligations (overfunded plans) and plans where the
benefit obligations exceeded the plan assets (underfunded plans).

FCX's policy for determining asset-mix targets for the Phelps Dodge
Corporation Defined Benefit Master Trust (Master Trust) includes the
periodic development of asset/liability studies te determine expected
long-term rates of return and expected risk for various investment
portfolios. Management considers these studies in the formal
establishment of asset-mix targets that are reviewed by FCX's trust
investment committee. The expected rate of return on plan assets is
evaluated at least annually, taking into consideration its asset allocation,
historical returns on the types of assets held in the Master Trust, and
the current economic environment. For U.S. plans, the determination of
the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is based on
expected future performance of the plan asset mix and active plan asset
management. Based on these factors, FCX expects the pension assets
will earn an average of 8.5 percent per annum during the 10 years
beginning January 1, 2008, with a standard deviation of 8.9 percent.
The 8.5 percent estimation was based on a passive return on a
compound basis of 8.0 percent and a premium for active management
of 0.5 percent reflecting the target asset allocation and current
investment array. On an arithmetic average basis, the passive return
would have been 8.4 percent with a premium for active management of

0.5 percent.

For estimation purposes, FCX assumes the long-term asset mix for
these plans generally will be consistent with the current mix. Changes
in the asset mix could impact the amount of recorded pension income
or expense, the funded status of the plans and the need for future cash
contributions. A lower-than-expected return on assets aiso would
decrease plan assets and increase the amount of recorded pension
expense (or decrease recorded pension incomej in future years. When
calculating the expected return on plan assets, FCX uses the market
value of assets.

Among the assumptions used to estimate the benefit obligation is a
discount rate used to calculate the present value of expected future
benefit payments for service to date. The discount rate assumption for
FCX's U.S. plans is designed to reflect yields on high-quality, fixed-
income investments for a given duration. The determination of the
discount rate for these plans is based on expected future benefit
payments for service to date together with the Citibank Pension Discount
Curve. Changes in this assumption are reflected in FCX's benefit
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obligation and, therefore, in the liabilities and income or expense that is
recorded.

Other FCX Plans. During 2000, FCX and FM Services Company, FCX’s
wholly owned subsidiary, elected to terminate their defined benefit
pension plans covering substantially all U.S. and certain overseas
expatriate employees and replace these plans with defined contribution
programs, as further discussed below., All participants' account
balances in the defined benefit plans were fully vested on June 30,
2000, and interest credits continue to accrue under the plans until the
assets are finally liquidated. The final distribution of benefits will
occur once approved by the Internal Revenue Service. The plans’
investment portfolios were liquidated and invested in primarily short
duration fixed-income securities in the fourth quarter of 2000 to reduce
exposure to equity market volatility and then to cash and bank
deposits in late 2006 in anticipation of liquidating the plans. Incluged
in the FCX plan assets shown in the table below is $13 million related
to these two plans, and the unfunded ltability totaled $8 million at
December 31, 2007.

In February 2004, FCX established an unfunded Supplemental
Executive Retirement Plan (SERP) for its two most senior executive
officers. The SERP provides for retirement benefits payable in the form
of a joint and surviver annuity or an equivalent lump sum. The annuity
will equal a percentage of the executive's highest average
compensation for any consecutive three-year period during the five
years immediately preceding the earlier of the executive’s retirement
or completion of 25 years of credited service. The SERP benefit will be
reduced by the value of all benefits due under FCX's cash-balance
pension plan and under other benefit plans sponsored by FCX or its
predecessor employer. FCX also has an unfunded pension plan for its
directors and an excess benefits plan for its executives.

PT Freeport Indonesia Plan, PT Freeport Indonesia has a defined
benefit pension plan denominated in Indonesian rupiah covering
substantially all of its Indonesian national employees. PT Freeport
Indonesia funds the plan and invests the assets in accordance with
indonesian pension guidelines. The pension obligation was valued at an
exchange rate of 9,390 rupiah to one U.S. dollar on December 31, 2007,
and 8,989 rupiah to one U.S. dollar on December 31, 2006. Indonesian
labor laws enacted in 2003 require that companies provide a minimum
level of benefits to employees upon employment termination based
on the reason for termination and the employee’s years of service. PT
Freeport Indonesia’s pension benefit disclosures include benefits
related to this law. PT Freeport Indonesia's expected rate of return on
plan assets is evaluated at least annually, taking into consideration
its historical yield and the long range estimated return for the plan based
on the asset mix.

Atlantic Copper Plan. Atlantic Copper has a contractual obligation
denominated in euros to supplement amounts paid to certain retired
Spanish national employees. As required by Spanish law, beginning in

August 2002, Atlantic Copper began funding 7.2 million euros

($11 million based on a December 31, 2007, exchange rate of $1.47
per euro) annually for 15 years to an approved insurance company for
its estimated 72 million euro contractual obligation to the retired
employees. The insurance company invests the ptan assets in accordance
with Spanish regulations, and Atlantic Copper has no contro! gver

these investments. Atlantic Copper is amortizing the unrecognized net
actuaria! loss over the remaining nine-year funding period.

Plan information. FCX uses a measurement date of December 31
for its plans. In some plans, the plan assets exceed the accumulated
benefit obligations, while in the remainder, the accumulated benefit
obligations exceed the plan assets. The following table presents the
projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obligation and fair
value of plan assets for those plans where the accumulated benefit
obligations exceed the plan assets:

December 31, 2007 2006
Projected benefit obligation $230  $i87
Accumulated benefit obligation 259 166
Fair value of plan assets 66 97
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Information as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, on the FCX {including
Phelps Dodge's plans as of December 31, 2007; FCX's SERP, director and
excess benefits plans; and FM Services Company’s plans), PT Freeport

Indonesia and Atlantic Copper plans follows:

FCX PT Freepon Indonesia Attantc Copper
2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

Change in benefit obligation: '
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 50 $ 50 § 54 $ 40 $ 83 $ 76
Acquisition of Phelps Dodge 1370 - - - - -
Service cost 24 - 5 4 - -
Interest cost 62 2 5 5 § 5
Actuarial (gafns) losses (78} - 7 5 - -
Divestitures (5 - - - - -
Foreign exchange joss (gain} 2 - 3 4 8 10
Benefits paid (83) 2) {3 {4 (9 {8)
Benefit obligation at end of year 1,342 50 65 54 87 83
Change in plan assets: .
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 13 15 30 22 14 i2
Acquisition of Phelps Dodge 1,374 - - - - -
Actual return on plan assets 113 - 4 3 - -
Employer contributions? 24 - 8 7 10 10
Foreign exchange gain {loss) 1 - 1 2 - -
Benefits paid {83) 2) (3 (4) (9) (8
Fair value of plan assets at end of year 1,442 13 38 30 15 14
Funded status $ 100 $ (370 3 (27 3 (24 3 72 § (69)
Accumulated benafit obligation $1.2562 $ 50 $ 39 $ 33 $ 87 $ 83
Welghted-average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations (percent):
Discount rate 6.30° 4.00° 10.25 10.50 6.77 6.77
Rate of compensation increase 4,25° NFA® 8.00 9.00 N/A N/A
Balance shegt classification of funded status:

Other assets and deferred charges $ 195 $ - 3 - 58 - s - § -

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 7 (1) 4] Mm - -

Other {iabilities {88) {36) {26} (23) {72) (69)

Total $ 100 $ (37 $ (27) $ {24) $ (72) 3 (69)

a. Employer contributions for 2008 are expected to approximate $7 million for the FCX plans, $10 milion for the PT Freeport Indonesia plan (based on a December 31, 2007, exchange rate of 9,390 Indonesian rupiah o
one U.S. doflar) and $11 million for the Atiantic Copper plan (based on a December 31, 2007, exchange rate of $1.47 per eurc).
b. As discussed abave, FCX and FM Services Company siected to terminate their defined benefit pension plans and ceased accruing benefits on June 30, 2000. The discount rate shown only relates to the Phelos Dodge

and the excess benefit plans. The discount rata for the SERP plan was 4.0 percent. The rate of compansation increzse shown only relates to the Phelps Dodge plans.

c. The assusnptions shown only retate to the SERP.

The weighted-average assumptions used te determine net periodic
benedit cost and the components of net periodic benefit cost for
FCX’s pension plans (inciuding Phelps Dodge’s plans for the period
March 20, 2007, through December 31, 2007; FCX's SERP, director
and excess benefits plans; and FM Services Company’s plans} for the
years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, follow:

g0 Financial & Operating Information

2007 2008 2005
Weighted-average assumptions:
Discount rate
FCX SERP 400% 6.00% 6.00%
Phelps Dodge plans 5.78% N/A N/A
Expected return on plan assets? 8.50% N/A NA
~ Rate of compensation increase® 425%  N/A NFA
Service cost $ 24 § - 1
Interest cost 62 2 3
Expected return on plan asseis (90 (1)
Amostization of prior service cost 4 4 4
Net periodic benefit cast $ - % &6 7

a. The assumptions shown only relate 1o the Pheips Dodge plans.
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The weighted-average assumptions used 1o determine net periodic
benefit cost and the components of net periodic benefit cost for PT
Freeport Indonesia’s and Atlantic Copper's pension plans for the years
ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, follow:

PT Freeport Indonesia

2007 2006 2005

Weighted-average assumptions:

Discount rate 10.50% 12.00% 12.00%

Expected return on plan assets 10.00% 10.00% 10.00%

Rate of compensation increase 9.00% 10.00% 10.00%
Service cost $ 5 5 4 $§ 3
Interest cost 5 5 3
Expected return on plan assels 3 [K)] {1}
Amortization of prior service cost 1 1 1
Amortization of net actuarial loss i 1 1

Net periodic benefit cost $ 9 $ 8 $ 7

Atlantic Copper
2007 2008 2005

Weighted-average assumptions:

Discount rate 6.77% 6.77% 6.77%

Expected retusn on plan assets - - -

Rate of compensation increase N/A N/A N/A
Interest cost $ 5 $ 5 $ b5
Amortization of net actuarial loss - 1 1

Net periodic benefit cost $ 5 $ 6 § 6

Included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) at
December 31, 2007, are the following amounts that have not been
recognized in net periodic pension cost: unrecognized prior service costs
of $3 million ($7 million net of tax and minority interest share) and
unrecognized actuarial gains of $75 million ($44 million net of tax and
minority interest share). The amounts expected to be recognized in net
periodic pension cost for 2008 are $5 million ($3 million net of tax and
minority interest share) for prior service costs and $2 miflion ($2 million
net of tax and minority interast share} for actuarial losses.

FCX does not expect to have any plan assets returned to it in 2008.
The pension plan weighted-average asset allocations for the FCX and PT
Freeport Indonesia plans at December 31, 2007 and 2006, follow:

PT Freeport
FCX Indenesia
2007 2006 2007 2006
Equity securities 59% - 19% -
Fixed income 35 100% 74 100%
feal estate 7 - - -
Other 3 - 7 -
Total 100% 100% 100%  100%

The FCX and FM Services Company pension plans were terminated in
2000 as discussed above, Therefore, $13 million of the pfan assets at
December 31, 2007, will be liquidated and any unfunded benefits will be
paid after Internal Revenue Service approval. The expected benefit
payments for FCX’s (including Phelps Dodge's plans, and FCX's SERP,
director and excess benefits plans) and PT Freeport Indonesia’s pension
plans follow.

PT Freeport

FCX Indonesia®

2008 $79 $2
2009 94 10
2010 78 8
2011 80 7
2012 10 8
2013 through 2077 461 50

a. Based on a December 31, 2007, exchange rate of 9,390 Indonesian rupéah to one U.S. doltar.

Atlantic Copper's plan is administered by a third-party insurance
company, and Atlantic Copper is not provided asset allocations or benefit
payment projections. _

Postretirement and Other Benefits, FCX also provides postretirement
medical and life insurance benefits for certain U.S employees and,
in some cases, employees of certain international subsidiaries.

These postretirement benefits vary among plans, and many pians
require contributions from retirees. The expected cast of providing
such postretirement benefits is accrued during the years employees
render service.

As a result of the acquisition of Phelps Dodge, FCX acquired
postretirement obligations with a fair value of $82 million (representing a
benefit obligation of $255 million less the fair value of plan assets of
$173 millien}, Plan assets for these pfans consist of two Voluntary
Employees’ Beneficiary Association (VEBA) trusts. One trust is dedicated
to funding postretirement medical obligations and the other to funding
postretirement life insurance obligations for eligible U.S. retirees of
Phelps Dodge. At December 31, 2007, assets of the VEBA trusts were
invested in U.S. fixed-income securities.

FCX’s funding policy provides that contributions to the VEBA trusts shall
be at least sufficient to pay plan benefits as they come due. Additional
contributions may be made from time to time. For participants not eligible
to receive payments from the VEBA trusts, FCX's funding policy provides
that contributions shall be at least equal to the cash basis obligations.

The expected rate of return on plan assets for FCX’s postretirement
medical and life insurance benefit plans and the discount rate were
determined on the same basis as FCX's pension piang.
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Information for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, on the
postretirement benefit plans follows:

2007 2006

Change in benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 4 $ 5
Acquisition of Phelps Dodge 255 -
Service cost 1 -
Interest cost 1 -
Actuarial losses (gains) 8 (1)
Benefits paid, net of employee contributions (23) -
Benefit obligation at end of year 256 4
Change in plan assets:

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year - -
Acquisition of Phelps Dodge 173 -
Actual return on plans assels 9 -
Employer contributions? 2 -
Benefits paid (30) -
Fair value of plan assets at end of year 150 -

Funded status $(106) &

Discount rate assumption {percent) 6.00 575
Balance sheet classification of funded status:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ & & -
Other liabilities {104) @
Total 30060 §

a. Employer contributions for 2008 are expected to approximate $2 million.

Expected benefit payments for these plans total $28 million for 2008,
$27 million for 2009, $26 million for 2010, $25 million for 2011, $24 million
for 2012, and $100 million for 2013 through 2017.

The weighted-average assumptions used to determine net pericdic
benefit cost and the components of net periodic benefit cost for FCX's
postretirement benefits for the year ended December 31, 2007, follow:

Weighted-average assumptions?:

Discount rate - medical retiree 5.62%
Discount rate — life retiree 5.66%
Expected return on ptan asseis — medical retiree 3.70%
Expected return on plan assets — life retiree 4.50%
Service cost $
Interest cost 11
Expected refurn on plan assets __ &
et periodic benefit cost & 7

a. The assumptions shown cnly relate to the Phelps Dodge plans.

FCX's postretirement net periodic benefit costs were less than half a
million for 2006 and 2005.

Included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) at
December 31, 2007, are the following amounts that have not been
recognized in net periodic benefit cost: unrecognized prior service credits
of $1 million {$1 million net of tax and minority interest share) and
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unrecognized actuarial losses of $8 million ($5 million net of tax and
minority interest share). The amount expected to be recognized in net
periodic benefit cost for 2008 is less than half a million for prior service
credits and actuarial losses.

The assumed medical-care trend rates at December 31, 2007 and
2008, follow:

2007 2006
Medical-care cost trend rate assumed for the next year 9% 10%
Rate fo which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline

(the ultimate trend rate) 5% 5%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2012 2011

Assumed medical-care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the
amounts reported for postretirement medical benefits. The effect of a one
percent increase or decrease in the medical-care cost trend rates
assumed for postretirement medical benefits would result in increases or
decreases of approximately $1 million in the aggregate service and
interest cost components and approximately $9 million in the
postretirement benefit abligation.

As a result of the Phelps Dodge acquisition, FCX has a number of
postemployment plans covering severance, long-term disability income,
continuation of health and life insurance coverage for disabled employees
or other welfare benefits. At December 31, 2007, the accumulated
postemployment benefit consisted of a current portion of $6 million
{included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities) and a long-term
portion of $43 million (included in other liabilities).

FCX also sponsors savings plans for the majority of its U.S. employees.
The plans allow employees to contribute a portion of their pre-tax and/or
after-tax income in accordance with specified guidefines. These savings
ptans are principally qualified 401(k) plans for all U.S. salaried and non-
bargained hourly employees. In these plans, participants exercise control
and direct the investment of their contributions and account balances
among a broad range of investment oplions. FCX matches a percentage of
employee pre-tax deferral contributions up to certain limits, which
varies by plan. [n addition, the Phelps Dodge principal savings plan
includes a profit sharing feature for its non-bargained employees.

During 2000, FCX and FM Services Company enhanced their primary
savings plan for substantially all their employees following their decision
to terminate their defined benefit pension plans. Subsequent to the
enhancement, FCX and FM Services Company contribute amounts to
individual accounts totaling sither 4 percent or 10 percent of each
employee’s pay, depending on a combination of each employee’s age and
years of service as of June 30, 2000. For employees whose eligible
compensation exceeds certain levels, FCX provides an unfunded defined
contribution plan. The balance of this liability totaled $32 mitlion on
December 31, 2007, and $24 million on December 31, 2006.

As a result of the acquisition of Phelps Dodge, FCX also has a defined
contribution plan for eligible Phelps Dodge employees hired on or after
January 1, 2007. Under this plan, FCX contributes amounts to individual
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accounts depending on a combination of each employee’s annual salary
and years of service.

The costs charged to operations for FCX’s, FM Services Company’s,
and Phelps Dodge's employee savings plans and defined contribution plans
totaled $43 million in 2007, $7 million in 2006 and $5 million in 2005.

FCX has other employee benefit plans, certain of which are related to
FCX's performance, which costs are recognized currently in selling,
general and administrative expenses.

NOTE 13. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY AND STOCK-BASED
COMPENSATION

Common Stock. FCX has 750 million authorized shares of capital stock
consisting of 700 million shares of common stock and 50 mitlion shares
of preferred stock. At the 2002 annual stockholder meeting, FCX's
stockholders approved the conversion of each outstanding share of Class
A common stock into one share of Class B commaon stock, and in July
2007, stockholders approved remaving “Class B from the name of FCX's
common stock. FCX now has only one class of common stock.

In December 2007, FCX's Board of Directors approved a new open
market share purchase program for up to 20 million shares, which
replaced FCX's previous program. As of February 22, 2008, no shares
have been purchased under this program. Under the previous 20 milion
share purchase program, FCX acquired 2.0 million shares for $100
million ($49.94 per share average} in 2006 and 2.4 million shares for
$80 million ($33.83 per share average) in 2005. The timing of future
purchases of FCX's common stock is dependent upon a number of
factors including the price of FCX's common shares, FCX's cash flow
and financial position, copper, molybdenum and gold prices and general
economic and market conditions.

Preferred Stock. On March 28, 2007, FCX sold 28.75 million shares of
6 3/4% Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock, with a liquidation
preference of $100 per share, for net proceeds of $2.8 billion. The 6 3/4%
Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock will automatically convert on
May 1, 2010, into between approximately 39 miltion and 47 million shares
of FCX common stock at a conversion rate that will be determined based
on FCX's common stock price or other certain events. The conversion rate
per $100 face amount of mandatory preferred will be 1.6327 when the
FCX common steck price is at or below $61.25 and 1.3605 when the FCX
common stock price is at or above $73.50. For FCX common stock prices
between these levels, the conversion rate will be equal to $100 divided by
FCX's common stock price. Also the conversion rate is adjustable in any
quarter that FCX's common stock dividend exceeds $0.3125 per share.
However, adjustments that do not exceed one percent are carried forward
and must be made no later than August of each year. Prior to
May 1, 2010, holders may convert their 6 3/4% Mandatory Convertible
Preferred Stock at a conversion rate of 1.3605, equivalent to a conversion
price of approximately $73.50 per common share. Dividends are payable
quarterly on February 1, May 1, August 1 and November 1.

in March 2004, FCX sold 1.1 million shares of 5 /2% Convertible
Perpetual Preferred Stock for net proceeds of $1.1 billion. Each share of
preferred stock was initially convertible into 18.8019 shares of FCX
commaon stock, equivalent to a conversion price of approximately $53.19
per common share. The conversion rate is adjustable upon the occurrence
of certain events, including any quarter that FCX's common stock dividend
exceeds $0.20 per share, As a result of the quarterly and supplemental
common stock dividends paid through February 1, 2008, each share of
preferred stock is now convertible into 21.2924 shares of FCX common
stock, equivalent to a conversion price of approximately $46.97 per
common share. Beginning March 30, 2009, FCX may redeem shares of
the preferred stock by paying cash, FCX common stock or any
combination thereof for $1,000 per share plus unpaid dividends, but only
it FCX's common stock price has exceeded 130 percent of the conversion
price for at least 20 trading days within a period of 30 consecutive trading
days immediately preceding the notice of redemption. FCX used a portion
of the proceeds from the sale to purchase 23.9 million shares of FCX
common stock owned by Rio Tinto for $882 million {approximately
$36.85 per share) and used the remainder for general corporate purposes.
Rio Tinto no longer owns an equity interest in FCX; however, it is still PT
Freeport Indonesia’s joint venture partner {see Note 3).

Stock Award Pians. FCX currently has six stock-based compensation
plans, including two Phelps Dodge plans resulting from the acquisition,
all of which are stockholder approved. As of December 31, 2007, only four
of the plans, which are discussed below, have awards available for grant.

FCX’s 1999 Stock Incentive Plan (the 1999 Plan) and 2003 Stock
Incentive Plan (the 2003 Plan) provide for the issuance of stock options,
SARs, restricted stock units and other stock-based awards. Each
plan allows FCX to grant awards for up to 8 million common shares to
eligible participants. In May 2004, FCX’s stockholders approved
the 2004 Director Compensation Pian {the 2004 Pian). The 2004 Plan
authorizes awards of options and restricted stock qnits forup to
1 million shares of common stock and the one-time grant of 66,882
SARs. In May 2006, FCX's stockholders approved the 2006 Stock
Incentive Plan (the 2006 Plan), ang in July 2007, FCX's stockholders
approved amendments te the pian primarily to increase the number
of shares. The 2006 Plan provides for the issuance of stock options,
SARs, restricted stock units and other stock-based awards for up to
37 million commen shares to eligible participants.

Stock options granted under all of the plans generally expire 10
years after the date of grant and vest in 25 percent annual increments
beginning one year from the date of grant. Restricted stock units vest at
equal increments over three or five years beginning one year from the
date of grant. The plans and award agreements provide that participants
will receive the following year's vesting after retirement, except for the
restricted stock units with five year vesting that do not allow
acceleration because of retirement, and provide for accelerated vesting
if there is a change in control (as defined in the plans). As of
December 31, 2007, there were 31.3 million shares under the 2006

Financial & Operating Information 93




FREEPORT-McMORAN COPPER & GOLD INC.
2007 Annua! Report

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Plan, 0.3 million shares under the 2004 Plan, 0.1 million shares under
the 2003 Plan and less than 6,000 shares under the 1999 Plan available
for the grant of new awards.

FCX also has a restricted stock program that allows FCX senior
executives to elect to receive restricted stock units under each of the
employee plans in lieu of all or part of their cash incentive compensation.
These restricted stock unit grants vest over three years, may be subject
to a performance measure, and are valued on the date of grant at 50
percent above the cash ingentive compensation that the employee
elects to reptace. Dividends on restricted stock units accrue and are
subject to the award's vesting. Stock option and SAR awards do not
receive dividends.

In connection with the Phelps Dodge acquisition, former Phelps Dodge
stock options and restricted stock awards were converted into 806,595
FCX stock options and 87,391 FCX restricted stock awards, which retain
the terms by which they were originally granted under Phelps Dodge’s
plans. The stock options carry a maximum term of 10 years with 672,134
stock options vested upon acquisition of Phelps Dodge and 134,461 stock
options that vest ratably over a three-year period or the period until the
participant becomes retirement-eligible, whichever is shorter. Restricted
stock awards generally become fully vested in five years, with a majority
of these shares having graded-vesting features in which 25 percent of the
shares will vest on the third and fourth anniversaries of the award with
the remaining 50 percent in the fifth year. The fair value of the restricted
stock awards was determined based on the quoted market price at the
time of the acquisition. FCX uses the graded-vesting method to amortize
the fair value of the restricted stock awards, and for retirement-eligible
participants, amortization is accelerated.

Stock-Based Compensation Cost, Compensation cost charged against
earnings for stock-based awards is shown below for the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005. FCX did not capitalize any stock-
based compensation costs during the years ended December 31, 2007,
2006 and 2005.

2007 2006 2005

Stock options awarded to employees

(including directors) 57 $28 $ 2
Stock options awarded o nonemployees 5 3 1
Restricted stock units in lieu of cash awards 67 23 18
Restricted stock awards to employees 6 - -
Restricted stock units awarded to directors 3 1 -
Stock appreciation rights 7 1 2

Total stock-based compensation cost? 159 56 23
Tax bengfit (62) (20) "
Minority interest share . {4) 3 (1)

Impact on net income $93 $ 33 $15

a, Amounts ase before Rio Tinta’s share of the cost of employee exercises of in-the-money stock
options, which decreased consolidated sefling, general and administrative expenses by $4 million
in 2007, $7 milion in 2006 and $3 million in 2005.
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Options and SARs. A summary of options outstanding as of
December 31, 2007, including 90,145 SARs, and changes during the year
ended December 31, 2007, follow:

Weighted
Weighted  Average
Average  Remaining Aggregate
Number of Option  Contractual Intrinsic
Options Price  Term {years) Value
Balance at January 1 5,801,716 $39.70
Granted 6,641,500 69.89
Conversion of
Phelps Dodge options 806,595 28.38
Exercised 2,276,391y 3445
Expired/Forfeited (213.622) 59.29
Balance at December 31 10,758,798 5817 8.4 $476
Vesied and exercisable
at December 31 1,008,152 2957 5.8 $ 73

Summaries of options outstanding, including SARs, and changes during
the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, foflow:

2006 2005
Weighted Weighted
Average Average

Number of Optlon Number of Option

Optiosts Price Options Prica
Balance at January 1 7355612 $31.43 6866805 $23.20
Granted 1,126,250 6288 4,490,750 37.03
Exercised (2,614,273} 26,51 (3,838554) 2324
Expired/Forfeited 65873 39.12 (163389  31.51
Balance at December 31 5,801,716 3970 7,355,612 31.43

The fair value of each option award is estimated on the date of grant
using the Black-Scholes-Merton option valuation model. Expected volatility
is based on implied volatilities from traded options on FCX’s stock and
historical volatility of FCX's stock. FCX uses historical data to estimate
future option exercises, forfeitures and expected life of the options. When
appropriate, separate groups of employees that have similar historical
exercise behavior are considered separately for vatuation purposes. The
expected dividend rate is calculated as the annual dividend (excludes
supplemental dividends} at the date of grant divided by the average stock
price for the one-year period preceding the grant date. The risk-free
interest rate is based on Federal Reserve rates in effect for bonds with
maturity dates equal to the expected term of the option at the grant date.
The weighted-average assumptions used to value stock option awards
during the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2005, are noted in the
following table.

2007 2006
Expected volatility 37.3% 37.7%
Expected life of options (in years} 4,25 4.0
Expected dividend rate 2.2% 2.9%
Risk-free interest rate 4.6% 4.4%
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The weighted-average grant-date fair value of options granted was $21.33
per option during 2007 and $17.67 per option during 2006. The total
intrinsic value of options exercised was $36 million during 2007 and 2006,
The total fair value of options vested was $29 million during 2007 and
$30 million during 20086. As of December 31, 2007, FCX had $112 million of
total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested stock options
expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.2 years.
The following table includes amounts related to exercises of stock
options and SARs and vesting of restricted stock units and restricted
stock awards during the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006:

2007 2006
FCX shares tendered 1o pay the exercise price
and/ar the minimum required taxes? 1,389,845 809,926
Cash received fram stock option exercises $ 54 % 37
Actual tax benefit realized for tax deductions 138 31
Amounts £CX paid for employee 1axes 68 22
Amounts FCX paid for exercised SARs 5 2

a. Uinder terms of the related plans, upon exercisa of stock options and vesting of restricted stock
units and restricted stock awards, employees may tender FCX shares to FCX to pay the exercise
price and/tv the minimum required 1axes.

Restricted Stock Units. As discussed above, FCX has a restricted stock
program that allows FCX senior executives to elect to receive restricted
stock units in lieu of all or part of their annusal cash incentive compensation.
The annual cash incentive is a function of FCX's consolidated operating
cash flows for the preceding year. Awards of these restricted stock units
to the FCX executive officers are considered performance-based awards.
To compensate for certain restrictions and the risk of forfeiture, the
restricted stock units are awarded at a 50 percent premium to the market
value on the date of grant. The awards vest ratably over three years, may
be subject to achievement of certain performance measures, and vesting
accelerates upon retirement. For retirement-eligible executives, the fair
value of the restricted stock units is estimated based on projected
operating cash flows for the year and is charged to expense ratably over
the year the cash flows are generated.

In addition to the restricted stock units granted in lieu of cash incentive
compensation, FCX also grants restricted stock units that vest in equal
increments over three or five years beginning one year from the date of
grant. Participants will receive the following year's vesting after retirement
(except for the restricted stock units with five year vesting that do not
allow acceleration because of retirement), and the restricted stock units will
vest if there is a change in control (as defined in the plans).

FCX grants restricted stock units to its directors under the 2004 Plan.
The restricted stock units vest over four years. The fair value of the
restricted stock units is amortized over the four-year vesting period or
the period until the director becomes retirement-eligible, whichever
is shorter. Upon a director’s retirement, all unvested restricted stock units
immediately vesl. For retirement-eligible directors, the fair value of
restricted stock units is recognized on the date of grant.

A summary of outstanding unvested restricted stock
units as of December 31, 2007, and activity during the year ended
December 31, 2007, is presented below:

Weighted
Average
Hurnber of Remaining  Aggregate
Resticted  Contractsal  Infringic
Stock Units ~ Term (years) Value
Balance at January 1 531,573
Granted 491,901
Vested (227,101)
Forfeited —
Balance at December 31 796,373° 1.7 $82

The grant-date fair value of restricted stock units granted to FCX senior
executives during the year ended December 31, 2007, was $25 million.
Because this is a performance-based award and the requisite service
period under SFAS No. 123R is considered to be the calendar year prior to
the grant date, the entire value of this award on the date of grant was
charged to expense during the calendar year prior to the date of grant.

The total grant-date fair value of restricted stock units granted to FCX
directors and non-executive employees during the year ended
December 31, 2007, was $4 million, The total intrinsic value of these
restricted stock units vesting during the year ended December 31, 2007,
was $1 million. As of December 31, 2007, FCX had $2 million of
total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested restricted
stock units expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period
of 1.2 years.

Restricted Stock Awards. As discussed above, FCX has restricted
stock awards that were issued in connection with the Phelps Dodge
acquisition. A summary of putstanding restricted stock awards as
of December 31, 2007, and activity during the year ended
December 31, 2007, is presented below:

Acquisition of Phelps Dodge on March 19, 2007 87,391
Vested (35,623)
Forfeited {2.527)
Outstanding at December 31, 2007 fg,_Z_ﬁ

The total grant-date fair vatue of restricted stock awards was $5 million
at the acquisition date. The total fair value of shares released or vested
during 2007 was $2 mitlion. As of December 31, 2007, FCX had $6 million
of total unrecognized compensation cost, including the cash portion
resulting from the conversion of restricted stock awards at the acquisition
date, related to unvested restricted stock awards expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.9 years.
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NOTE 14. INCOME TAXES

Geographic sources of income from continuing operations before income
taxes and minerity interests in consolidated subsidiaries for the years
ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, consist of the following:

2007 2006 2005
United States : $ 980 $ 25 § (134
Foreign 9,153 2,801 2,171
Total . $6,133 $2826  $2,037
The provision for income taxes from continuing operations consists of
the following:
2007 2006 2005
Current income taxes:
Federal $ 458 $ - $ 2
State 72 - -
Forgign 1,942 1,035 831
Total current 2472 1,035 833
Deferred income taxes {benefits):
Federal (295) - -
State (204 - -
Foreign 243 166 82
Total deferred (72) 166 82
Provision for income taxes $2,400 $1.200 $915
A reconciliation of the U.S. federal statutory tax rate to FCX's eftective income
tax rate for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, follows:
2007 2006 2005
Amount Percent Ampunt Percent Amount  Percent
1.5. federal statutory tax rate $2,147 35% $ 989 5% $N3 35%
Foreign withholding tax 3N 6 168 6 135 7
Foreign tax credit limitation 125 2 - - - -
Reversa) of APB Opinion No. 23 assertion 111 2 - - - -
Percentage depletion ) {284} ) - - -
Intermational tax rate differential (184} (3 48 2 37
Other items, net 114 2 4 - 30 1
Provision for income taxes $2.400 9% $1,201 43% $915 45%

FCX paid federal, state, local and foreign income taxes totaling $2,660
million in 2007, $1,288 million in 2006 and $670 million in 2005.

FCX received refunds of federal, state, local and foreign income taxes of
$123 million in 2007, $1 million in 2006 ang $1 million in 2005.
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The components of deferred taxes follow:

December 31, 2007 2006
Deferred tax assets:
Foreign tax credits $1004 § 745
Net operating loss carryforwards 164 a0
Minimum tax credits 323 90
Accrued expenses 812 -
Intercompany profit elimination 65 Fal
Deferred compensation 45 43
Postretirement benefits 35 -
Other 77 -
Deferred tax assets 2,525 1,039
Valuation allowances {1,165) {925)
Net deferred tax assets 1,360 114

Deferred tax liabilities:

Property, plant, equipment and development costs (7,441} (723)

Undistributed earnings (603} (184)
Inventory {458) -
Employee bengfit plans (75) -
Other (142) U]
Total deferred tax liabilities (8.719) (914)

Net deferred tax liabilities $(7.359) $ (800)

At December 31, 2007, FCX had U.S. foreign tax credit carryforwards from
continuing operations of $1.0 billion that will expire between 2009 and
2017. In addition, FCX had U.S. minimum tax credits carryforwards from
continuing operations of $323 million. These credits can be carried
forward indefinitely, but may be used only to the extent that regular tax
exceeds the alternative minimum tax in any given year.

At December 31, 2007, FCX had Spanish net operating loss
carryforwards from continuing operations of $387 million that expire
through the year 2022. FCX also has Peruvian net operating loss
carmyforwards from continuing operations of $32 million that expire in 2008.
In addition, FCX has U.S. state net operating loss carryforwards from
continuing operations of $514 million that expire between 2008 and 2028.

On the basis of available information at December 31, 2007, FCX has
provided valuation allowances for certain of its deferred tax assets where
FCX believes it is likely that the related tax benefits will not be realized. At
December 31, 2007, valuation allowances totaled $1.2 billion and covered
all of FCX's U.S. foreign tax credit carryforwards, a portion of its foreign
net operating loss carryforwards and a portion of its U.S. state net operating
loss carryforwards. At December 31, 2006, valuation allowances totaled
$925 million and covered all of FCX’s LS. foreign tax credit carryforwards,
all of its U.S. minimum tax credits carryforwards and all of its foreign
net operating loss carryforwards. The $240 million increase in the vatuation
allowance during 2007 was primarily because of additional valuation
allowances recorded against U.S foreign tax credit carryforwards.

Income taxes are provided on the earnings of FCX's material foreign
subsidiaries under the assumption that these eamings will be distributed.

FCX has not provided for other differences between the book and tax
carrying amounts of these investments as FCX considers its ownership
position to be permanent in duration and quantification of the related
deferred tax liability is not practicable.

A summary of the activities associated with FCX's FIN 48 raserve for
unrecognized tax benefits, interest and penalties follows:

Lrnrecognilzed

Tax Benefits  Interest  Penalties
Balance at January 1, 2007 $ 4 3 1 g -
Additions:
Acquisition of Phelps Dodge 169 7 2
Prior year tax positions 9 ’ *
Current year tax positions 38 * *
Associatec with interest and penalties - 6 -
Decreases:
Prior year tax positions 63) : *
Lapse of statue of limitations (2) : *
Associated with interest and penalties — {9) 2}

Balance at December 31, 2007
* Amounts not allocated.

$202 $ 19 § -

The reserve for unrecognized tax benefits of $202 million at December
31, 2007, includes $138 million ($125 million net of income tax benefits)
that, if recognized, would reduce FCX's provision for income taxes.
Changes in the reserve for unrecognized tax benefits associated with
current year tax positions were primarily related to uncertain tax filing
requirements associated with FCX’s acquisition of Phelps Dodge and
uncertainties associated with FCX's cost recovery methods. Changes in
the reserve for unrecognized fax benefits associated-with prior year
tax positions were primarily related to the disposition of subsidiaries and
refinement of estimated information to actual. 1
It Is reasonably possible that FCX will experience a $25 miilion to
$35 million decrease in its reserve for unrecognized tax benefits within

~ the next tweive months. FCX would experience this decrease in relation

to uncertainties associated with its cost recovery methods if a settiement
is reached with taxing authorities.

FCX or its subsidiaries file income tax returns in the U.S. federal
jurisdiction and various state and foreign jurisdictions, The tax years for
FCX and its significant subsidiaries that remain subject to examination
are as follows:

Jurisdiction Years Under Examination Additional Open Years
U.S. Federal 2003-2005 2006, 2007
Indanesia 2005, 2006 2003, 2004, 2007
Peru 2003 2002, 2004-2007
Chile - 2006-2007
Arizona - 2003-2007
New Mexico -

2004-2007
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NOTE 15. CONTINGENCIES
Envirenmental. FCX incurred aggregate environmental capital
expenditures and other environmental costs, including joint venture
partners’ share, totaling $320 million in 2007, $63 million in 2006 and
$44 million in 2005.

FCX subsidiaries that operate in the U.S. are subject to various federal,
state and local environmental laws and regulations that govern emissions
of air pollutants; discharges of water pollutants; and generation, handling,
storage and disposal of hazardous substances, hazardous wastes and
other toxic materials. FCX subsidiaries that operate in the U.S. also are
subject to potential liabilities arising under CERCLA or similar state laws
that impose responsibility on persons wha arranged for the disposal of
hazardous substances, and on current and previous owners and operators
of a facility for the clean up of hazardous substances released from the
facility into the environment, including damages to natural resources. With
the passage of CERCLA in 1980, companies like Phelps Dodge became
legally responsible for environmental remediation on properties previously
owned or operated by them, irrespective of when the damage to the
environment eccurred or who caused it. That liability often is shared on a
joint and several basis with all other owners and operators, meaning
that each owner or operator of the property is fully responsible for the
clean up, although in many cases some or all of the other historical
owners or operators no longer exist, do not have the financial ability to
respond or cannot be found. As a result, because of FCX’s acquisition
of Phelps Dodge in 2007, many of the subsidiary companies FCX now
owns are responsible for a wide variety of environmental remediation
projects throughout the U.S. FCX expects to spend substantial sums
annually for many years to address those remediation issues. Certain FCX
subsidiaries have been advised by the U.S. Environmental Protection
Agency (EPA), the Department of the Interior, the Department of
Agriculture and several state agencies that, under CERCLA or similar state
laws and requlations, they may be liable for costs of responding to
envirgnmental conditions at a number of sites that have been or are being
investigated to determine whether releases of hazardous substances have
occurred and, if so, to develop and implement remedial actions to address
environmental concerns. As of December 31, 2007, FCX had more than
100 active remediation projects in the U.S. in more than 25 states. FCX is
also subject to claims for natural resource damages where the release
of hazardous substances is alleged to have injured natural resources.

A summary of changes in environmental obligations for the year ended
December 31, 2007, follows:

Balance at beginning of year 5 -
Liabitities assumed in the acquisition of Phelps Dodge 1,334
Additions 6
Reductions 1)
Spending 71)
Balance at end of year 1,208
Less current portion {1686)
1.ong-term portion $1,102
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As a result of the acquisition of Phelps Dodge, FCX was required to
record Phelps Dodge's environmental obligations at fair value on the
acquisition date in accordance with SFAS No. 141. At the acquisition
date, Phelps Dodge’s historical environmental obligations of $385
million, before purchase accounting adjustments to fair value, were i
based on accounting guidance provided by SFAS No. 5, “Accounting for [
Contingencies,” and SOP 96-1, which require that an estimated loss be '
recorded for a loss contingency if, prior to the issuance of the financial
statements, it is probabte that a liability had been incurred and the loss
can be reasonably estimated, Amounts recorded under this guidance
are generally not considered fair valug. FCX has an environmental and
legal group dedicated to the ongoing review and monitoring of
environmental remediation sites. At the acquisition date, the largest
environmental remediation sites were undergoing studies to evaluate
the extent of the environmental damage and the available remedies.
Advancement of these studies and consideration of alternative remedies
and cost sharing arrangements resulted in FCX's calculation of the
estimated fair values being approximately $300 miltion greater than the
historical Phelps Dodge estimates. As a result, the fair value of the
environmental obligations was estimated to be $1.3 billion. After FCX
finalizes the allocation of fair values associated with the acquisition of
Phelps Dodge in the first quarter of 2008, future estimates of
environmental obligations will be recorded in accordance with SFAS
No. 5 and SOP 96-1. Significant adjustments to these reserves could
occur in the future.
FCX believes that there may be other potential claims for recovery
from other third parties, including the U.S. government and other PRPs.
These potential recoveries are not recognized unless realization is
considered probable.
At December 31, 2007, the most significant environmental obligations
are associated with the Pinal Creek site, several historical smelter sites
principally located in Arizona, Kansas and Oklahoma, and uranium mining
sites in the western U.S. The recorded environmental reserves for these
sites totaled $880 million at December 31, 2007. A discussion of these
sites follows.
Pinal Creek. The Pinal Creek site located near Miami, Arizona, was
listed under the Arizona Department of Environmental Quality (ADEQ)
Water Quality Assurance Revolving Fund program in 1989 for
contamination in the shallow alluvial aquiters within the Pinal Creek
drainage near Miami, Arizona. Since that time, environmental remediation
has been performed by the members of the Pinal Creek Group (PCG),
consisting of Phelps Dadge Miami, Inc. {Miami), a wholly owned
subsidiary of Phelps Dodge, and two other companies. tn 1998, the
District Court approved a Consent Decree between the PCG members and
the state of Arizona resolving all matters related o an enforcement
action contemplated by the state of Arizona against the PCG members
with respect to groundwater. The Consent Decree committed the PCG
members to complete the remediation work outlined in the Censent
Decree. That work continues at this time pursuant o the Consent Decree
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and consistent with state law and the National Contingency Plan prepared
by EPA under CERCLA.

The PCG members have been pursuing contribution litigation against
three other parties invelved with the site. Miami dismissed its
contribution claims against one defendant when another PCG member
agreed to be responsible for any share attributable to that defendant.
Miami and the other PCG members settled their contribution claims
against another defendant in April 2005. While the terms of the
settlement are confidential, the proceeds of the setttement will be used
to address remediation at the Pinal Creek site. There are significant
disagreements among the members of the PCG regarding the allocation
of the cost of remediation, and a trial on that issue is currently
scheduled to begin in tate 2008. The overall cost of the clean up is
expected to be significant.

Historical Smelter Sites. Phelps Dodge and its predecessors at
various times owned or operated histerical copper and zinc smelters in
several states, including Arizona, Kansas and Oklahoma. For some of
these smelter sites, certain FCX subsidiaries have been advised by EPA
or state agencies that they may be liable for costs of investigating and,
if appropriate, remediating environmental conditions. At other sites,
certain FCX subsidiaries have entered into state voluntary remediation
programs to investigate and, if appropriate, remediate site conditions.
The historical smelter sites are in various stages of assessment, with
the current most significant individual site being the one located in
Blackwel!, Oklahoma.

From 1916 to 1974, Blackwell Zing Company, Inc. (BZC), currently a
subsidiary of FCX, owned and operated a zinc smefter in Blackwell,
Oklahoma. In 1974, the smelter was demolished and the property deeded
to the city of Blackwell. Pursuant to an administrative order with the
state of Oklahoma (the State), BZC undertook remedial actions in Blackwell
in 1996 and 1997, including sampling residential and commercial
properties, and removing soils on properties that were found to have
metal concentrations above state-established clean up standards, From
1997 to 2003, BZC investigated the nature and extent of groundwater
contamination potentially attributable to the former smelter and evaluated
options for remedying such contamination. In 2003, the State adopted
a clean up plan requiring the installation of a groundwater extraction
and treatment system and the closute of domestic groundwater wells
within the groundwater plume area. BZC is prepared to install the
groundwater extraction and treatment system as soon as access to
necessary municipal property is secured.

In the fall of 2006, some Blackwell residents began to engage legal
cotnsel to evaluate property damage and personal injury claims related to
alleged exposure to contaminants potentially associated with former zinc
smelter operations. While no suit has been filed, counsel for prospective
plaintiffs has stated publicly that a suit will be filed in the near future.

tn April 2007, FCX, on behalf of BZG, commenced a voluntary
community outreach program inviting property owners in and around
Blackwell to have their properties sampled for the presence of smelter-
related contaminants, and agreed to remediate properties whose soils are

found to have metal concentrations above state-established clean up
standards. Owners of about 2,200 properties requested sampling,
representing approximately 50 percent of all eligible properties. In
January 2008, FCX renewed its outreach program in an effort to obtain
permission to sample a larger percentage of properties. All of these soit
sampling and remediation activities are being coordinated with, and
supervised by, the State.

Uranium Mining Sites. During a period between 1240 and the early
1970s, certain Phelps Dodge predecessor entities were involved in
uranium exploration and mining in the western U.S. Similar exploration
and mining activities by other companies have caused environmental
impacts that have warranted remediation, and EPA and local authorities
are currently evaluating the need for significant clean-up activities in
the region. To date, Phelps Dodge has undertaken remediation at a fimited
number of sites associated with these predecessor entities. Phelps Dodge
recognized the existence of a potential liability for these activities and had
environmental reserves for six former uranium sites. An initiative to
gather additional information about sites in the region is ongoing. FCX
utilized the results of Phelps Dodge's remediation expen"ence, in combination
with historical and updated information gathered to date, to initiaily
estimate its fair value of uranium-related liabilities at-December 31, 2007.

Asset Retirement Obligations (AROs). FCX’s ARQ cost estimates are
reflected on a third-party cost basis and comply with FCX’s legal
obligation to retive tangible, long-iived assets as defined by SFAS No. 143,

Infermation on FCX's ARQs for the years ended December 31, 2007,
2006 and 2005, follows:

2007 2006 2005

Balance at beginning of year $30 %27 %23
Liabitities assumed in the acquisition of

Phelps Dodge 5312 - -
Liabilities incurred 1 - 2
Revisions to cash flow estimates 179 - (0
Accretion expense 27 3 3
Spending (40) - -
Balance at end of year 728 30 27
Less current portion (97} - -
Long-term portion $631 830 %27

a. The fair value of AROs assumed in the acquisition of Pheips [odge was estimated based oo
projected cash flows, an estimated Ipng-term annual inflation rate of 2.4 percent, a discount rate
based on FCX's estimated credit-acjusted, risk-fres inferest rate of 7.8 percent and a market risk
premium of 10 percent to reflect what a third-party might require to assume these ARDS.

ARO costs may increase or decrease significantly in the future as a resuft
of changes in regulations, engineering designs and technology, permit
modifications or updates, mine plans, cost of inflation or other factors and
as actual reclamation spending occurs. ARD activities and expenditures
generally are made over an extended period of time commencing

near the end of the mine life; however, certain reclamation activities
coufd be accelerated if required, or if they are determined to be
economically beneficial,
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The most significant revisions to cash flow estimates in 2007 were
related to changes at Chino, Tyrone and PT Freeport indonesia. During
2007, Chino and Tyrone each submitted updated third-party closure cost
estimates to the state of New Mexico as part of the permit renewal
process. As a result, FCX revised its cash flow estimates and increased its
ARO by $95 million for Ching and $45 million for Tyrone. Additional
adjustments may be required based upon the state’s review of the
updated closure plans and any permit conditions imposed by the state of
New Mexico. Additionally, PT Freeport Indonesia updated its cost
estimates primarily for changes to its plans for the treatment of acidic
walter, resulting in an increase of $33 million.

Legal requirements in New Mexico, Arizona and Colorado require
financial assurance to be provided for the estimated costs of reclamation
and closure, including groundwater quality protection programs. FCX has
satisfied financial assurance requirements by using a variety of
mechanisms, such as third-party performance guarantees, financial
capability demonstrations, trust funds, surety bonds, letters of credit and
collateral. The applicable regulatory requirements provide financial
strength tests to support third-party performance guarantees and financial
capability demonstrations, which are designed to confirm a company's or
third-party guarantor’s financial capability to fund future estimated
reclamation and closure costs. The amount of financial assurance FCX is
required to provide will vary with changes in laws, regulations and
reclamation and closure cost estimates. At December 31, 2007, FCX had
trust assets totaling $544 million, acquired through its acquisition of
Phelps Dodge, that are designated for funding global reclamation and
remediation activities, of which $106 million is legally restricted to fund
a portion of its ARQs for Ching, Tyrone and Cobre as required by New
Mexico regulatory authorities.

New Mexico Environmental and Reclamation Programs. FCX's New
Mexico operations are subject to regulation under the New Mexico Water
Quality Act and the Water Quality Control Commission (WQCC) regulations
adopted under that Act. The New Mexico Environment Department
(NMED) has required each of these operations to submit closure plans for
NMED's approval, The closure plans must describe measures to be taken
to prevent groundwater quality standards from being exceeded following
the closure of discharging facilities and to abate any groundwater or
surface water contamination.

FCX's New Mexico operations also are subject to regulation under the
New Mexico Mining Act (the Mining Act}, which was enacted in 1993,
and the Mining Act rules, which are administered by the Mining Minerals
Division (MMD). Under the Mining Act, mines are required to submit and
obtain approval of closeout plans describing the reclamation to be
performed following cessation of mining operations at all or a portion of
the mines. At December 31, 2007, FCX had accrued reclamation and
closure costs of $434 million for its New Mexico operations.

Arizona Environmental and Reclamation Programs. FCX's Arizona
properties are subject to regulatery oversight and compliance in several
areas. The Arizona Department of Environmental Quality {ADEQ) has
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adopted regulations for its aquifer protection permit (APP) program that
replaced previous Arizona groundwater quality protection permit
regulations. APP regulations require permits for certain facilities, activities
and structures for mining, concentrating and smelting and require
compliance with aquifer water quality standards at an applicable point of
compliance well or location. The APP program also may require mitigation
and discharge reduction or elimination of some discharges.

An application for an APP requires a description of a closure strategy
to meet applicable groundwater protection requirements following
cessation of operations and a cost estimate to implement the closure
strategy. An APP may specify closure requirements, which may include
post-closure monitoring and maintenance reguirements. A more detailed
closure plan must be submitted within 90 days after a permitted entity
notifies ADEQ of its intent to cease operations. A permit applicant must
demonstrate its financial capability to meet the closure costs required
under the APP.

Portions of the Arizona mining facilities that operated after
January 1, 1986, also are subject to the Arizona Mined Land Reclamation
Act (AMLRA}. AMLRA requires reclamation to achieve stability and safety
consistent with post-mining land use objectives specified in a reclamation
plan. Reclamation plans require approval by the State Mine Inspector and
must include a cost estimate to perform the reclamation measures specified
in the plan. During 2008, FCX plans to begin discussions with the state of
Arizona regarding options for future reclamation and closure activities at its
operating and non-gperating sites, which are likely to result in additional
adjustments to FCX's ARD liabilities. At December 31, 2007, FCX had accrued
reclamation and closure costs of $152 million for its Arizona operations.

PT Freeport Indonesia Reclamation and Closure Programs. The ultimate
amount of reclamation and closure costs to be incurred at PT Freeport
Ingonesia’s operations will be determined based on applicable laws and
regulations and PT Freeport Indonesia’s assessment of appropriate
remedial activities in the circumstances, after consultation with
governmental authorities, affected local residents and other atfected
parties and cannot currently be projected with precision. Estimates of the
ultimate reclamation and closure costs PT Freeport Indonesia will incur in
the future involve complex issues requiring integrated assessments
over a period of many years and are subject to revision over time as more
complete studies are performed. Some reclamation costs will be incurred
during mining activities, while most closure costs and the remaining
reclamation costs will be incurred at the end of mining activities, which
are currently estimated to continue for more than 33 years. At
December 31, 2007, PT Freeport Indonesia had accrued reclamation and
closure costs of $67 million,

In 1996, PT Freeport Indonesia began contributing to a cash fund (510
million balance at December 31, 2007) designed to accumutate at least
$100 million {including interest) by the end of its Indonesian mining
activities. PT Freeport Indonesia plans to use this fund, including accrued
interest, to pay the above-mentioned mine closure and reclamation
costs. Any costs in excess of the $100 million fund would be funded by
operational cash flow or other sources.
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Litigation. FCX is subject to legal proceedings claims and liabilities
that arise in the normal course of business. FCX believes the amount of
the ultimate liability with respect to those matters will not have a material
adverse effect, either individually or in the aggregate, upon its business,
financial condition, liquidity, resutts of operations or cash flow.

Since approximately 1990, Phelps Dodge or its subsidiaries have been
named as a defendant in preduct liability or premises lawsuits claiming
injury from exposure to asbestos found in electrical wire products
produced or marketed many years ago, or from asbestos at certain Phelps
Dodge properties. FCX believes its llability, if any, in these matters will not
have a material adverse effect, either individually or in the aggregate,
upon its business, financial condition, liquidity, results of operations or
cash flow. There can be no assurance, however, that future developments
will not alter this conclusion.

Letters of Credit and Surety Bonds, Standby letters of credit totaled
$74 million at December 31, 2007, primarily for reclamation, environmental
obligations and workers’ compensation insurance programs. In addition,
FCX had surety bonds totaling $91 million at December 31, 2007, associated
with reclamation and closure ($66 miliion — see discussion above), self-
insurance bonds primarily for workers’ compensation ($21 million) and
miscellaneous bonds ($4 million).

Insurance. FCX purchases a variety of insurance products to mitigate
potential losses. The various insurance products typicafly have specified
deductible amounts, or seli-insured retentions, and policy limits. In 2007,
FCX renewed its property insurance coverage, which included the
acquired Phelps Dodge mining operations, FCX generally is self-insured
for U.S. workers’ compensation, but purchases excess insurance up to
statutory limits. An actuarial analysis is performed twice a year for various
FCX casualty programs, including workers’ compensation, to estimate
required insurance reserves. Insurance reserves totaled $54 million at
December 31, 2007, which consisted of a current portion of $10 million
{included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities) and a long-term
portion of $44 million (included in other liabilities).

NOTE 16. COMMITMENTS AND GUARANTEES

Operating leases. FCX leases various types of properties, including
offices and equipment. A summary of future minimum rentals under these
non-cancelable leases at December 31, 2007, follows:

2008 $ 26
2009 25
20 20
20m 16
2012 14
After 2012 _2

Total payments $103

Minimum payments under operating leases have not been reduced by
aggregate minimum sublease rentals, which are minimal.

Certain of FCX's mineral leases require minimum annual royalty
payments, and others provide for royalties based on production. At
December 31, 2007, FCX's aggregate minimum future payments under
these non-cancelable minera! leases totaled $2 million per year for 2008,
2009 and 2010, $1 million per year for 2011 and 2012, and $8 million
after 2012,

A summary of rent and royalty expenses for the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, follows:

2007 2006 2008

Rent expense $54 $10 $9
Rovyalty expense 2 - -
$56 $10 $9

Contractual obligations. Based on applicable prices at December 31,

.2007, FCX has unconditionat purchase obligations of $2.3 billion,

primarily comprising the procurement of copper concentrates and
cathodes ($1.7 billion) and transportation ($270 million) that are
essential to its operations worldwide. Some of FCX’s unconditional
purchase obligations are settled based on the prevailing market rate for
the service or commodity purchased. In some cases, the amount of the
actual obligation may change over time because of market conditions.
Obligations for copper concentrate and cathode provide for deliveries
of specified volumes, at market-based prices, to Atlantic Copper and
Phelps Dodge's sales company. Transportation obligations are primarily
tor Cerro Verde and Candelaria contracted ocean freight rates and for
North American natural gas transportation.

FCX's future commitments total $1.5 billion in 2008, $344 million in
2009, $198 million in 2010, $157 millien in 2011, $27 million in 2012
and $24 million thereafter. During 2007, 2006 and 2005, FCX fuffilled its
minimum contractual purchase obligations or negotiated settlements
in those situations in which it terminated an agréement containing an
unconditional obligation.

Contract of Work, FCX is entitled to mine in Indonesia under the
“Contract of Work™ between PT Freeport Indonesia and the Government
of Indonesia. The griginal Contract of Work was entered into in 1967 and
was replaced with a new Contract of Work in 1991, The initia! term of
the current Contract of Work expires in 2021, but can be extended by PT
Freeport Indonesia for two 10-year periods, subject to Indonesian
government approval, which cannot be withheld or delayed unreasonably.
Given the importance of contracts of work under the Indonesian legal
system and PT Freeport Indonesia's approximately 40 years of working
with the Indonesian government, which included entering into the
Contract of Work in 1991 well before the expiration of the 1967 Contract
of Work, PT Freeport Indonesia fully expects that the gevernment will
approve the extensions as long as it continues to comply with the terms
of the Contract of Work.

The copper royalty rate payable by PT Freeport Indonesia under its
Contract of Work varies from 1.5 percent of copper net revenue ata
copper price of $0.90 or less per pound to 3.5 percent at a copper price
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of $1.10 or more per pound. The Contract of Work royalty rate for gold
and silver sales is 1.0 percent.

A large part of the mineral royalties under Government of Indonesia
regitiations is designated to the provinces from which the minerals are
extracted. In connection with its fourth concentrator mill expansion
completed in 1998, PT Freeport Indonesia agreed to pay the Government
of Indonesia additienal royalties {royalties not required by the Contract of
Work) to provide further support o the local governments and the people
of the Indonesian province of Papua. The additicnal royalties are paid on
production exceeding specified annual amounts of copper, gold and silver
expected to be generated when PT Freeport Indonesia’s milling facilities
operate above 200,000 metric tons of ore per day. The additional royalty
for copper equals the Contract of Work royalty rate, and for gold and silver
equals twice the Contract of Work royalty rates. Therefore, PT Freeport
Indonesia’s royalty rate on copper net revenues from production above
the agreed levels is double the Contract of Work royalty rate, and the
royalty rates on gold and silver sales from production above the agreed
levels are triple the Contract of Work royalty rates.

The combined royalties, including the additional royalties, which became
effective January 1, 1999, totaled $133 million in 2007, $126 million
in 2006 and $104 million in 2005, PT Freeport Indonesia records these
royalty payments as a reduction to revenues.

Social and Economic Development Programs. FCX has a
comprehensive social, employment and human rights policy to ensure
that its operations are conducted in a manner respecting basic human
rights, the laws and regulations of the host country, and the culture of the
people who are indigenous to the areas in which FCX operates.

In 1996, PT Freeport Indenesia established the Freeport Partnership
Fund for Community Development, which was previously called the
Freeport Fund for Irian Jaya Development, through which PT Freeport
Indonesia has made available funding and expertise to support the
econamic and social deveiopment of the area. PT Freeport Indonesia has
committed to provide one percent of its annual revenue for the
development of the local people through the Freeport Partnership Fund for
Community Development. PT Freeport Indonesia charged $48 million in
2007, $44 million in 2006 and $36 million in 2005 to production costs for
this commitment.

FCX's Cerro Vierde copper mine had previously agreed to conduct and
fund technical studies for the construction of water and sewage treatment
facilities in Arequipa, Peru, and to fund 50 percent of the construction of
both facilities. The cost associated with the construction of these facilities
is currently under review, but Cerro Verde's share is expected to
approximate $40 million, which is recorded as a current liability.

Ouring 2006, the Peruvian government announced that all mining
companies operating in Peru will make annual contributions to local
development funds for a five-year period. The contribution is equal fo
3.75 percent of after-tax profits, of which 2.75 percent is contributed to
a focal mining fund and 1.00 percent to a regional mining fund. At
December 31, 2007, Cerrn Yerde's liability associated with the local
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mining fund contributions totaled $49 million, which is recorded as a
current liability.

Guarantees. FCX provides certain financial guarantees (including
indirect guarantees of the indebtedness of others) and indemnities.

At its Morenci mine in Arizona, FCX has a venture agreement dated
February 7, 1986, with Sumitomo, which includes a put and call option
guarantee clause. FCX holds an 85 percent undivided interest in the
Morenci complex. Under certain conditions defined in the venture
agreement, Sumitomo has the right to sell its 15 percent share to FCX.
Likewise, under certain conditions, FGX has the right to purchase
Sumitomo’s share of the venture. Based on calculations defined in the
venture agreement, at December 31, 2007, the maximum potential
payment FCX is obligated to make to Sumitomo upon exercise of the put
option (or FCX's exercise of its call option) totaled approximately $190
miilion. At December 31, 2007, FCX had not recorded any fiability in its
consolidated financial staterments in connection with this guarantee as
FCX does not believe, based on information available, that it is probable
that any amounts will be paid under thig guarantee as the fair value of
Sumitomo’s 15 percent share is well in excess of the exercise price.

Prior to its acquisition by FCX, Phelps Dodge and its subsidiaries have,
as part of merger, acquisition, divestiture and other transactions, from
time to time, indemnified certain sellers, buyers or other parties related to
the transaction from and against certain liabilities associated with
conditions in existence (or claims associated with actions taken) prior to
the closing date of the transaction. As part of these transactions, Phelps
Dodge indemnified the counterparty from and against certain excluded or
retained liabilities existing at the time of sale that would ctherwise have
been transferred to the party at closing. These indemnity provisions
generally now requirg FCX to indemnify the party against certain liabilities
that may arise in the future from the pre-closing activities of Phelps
Dodge for assets sold or purchased. The indemnity classifications include
environmental, tax and certain operating liabilities, claims or litigation
existing at closing and various excluded liabilities or obligations. Most of
these indemnity obligations arise from transactions that closed
many years ago, and given the nature of these indemnity obligations, it is
impossible to estimate the maximum potential exposure. Except as
described in the following sentence, FCX does not consider any of such
obligations as having a probable likelihood of payment that is reasonably
estimable, and accordingly, has not recorded any obligations associated
with these indemnities. With respect to FCX's environmental indemnity
obligations, any expected costs from these guarantees are accrued when
potential environmental obligations are considered by management
to be probable and the costs can be reasonably estimated.

NOTE 17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

FCX and its subsidiaries do not purchase, hold or sell derivative financia!
instruments unless there is an existing asset or obligation or if FCX
anticipates a future activity that is likely to occur and will resutt in
exposure to market risks. FCX does not enter into any derivative financial
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instruments for speculative purposes. FCX and its subsidiaries have
entered into derivative financial instruments in limited instances to
achieve specific objectives. These objectives principally relate to
managing risks associated with commodity price, foreign currency and
interest rate risks. The fair values of FCX's financial derivative
instruments are based on derivative pricing models or widely published
market closing prices. A recap of gains (losses) charged to income from
continuing operations before income taxes and minority interests for
derivative financial instruments, including embedded derivatives, for the
years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, follows:

2007 2006 2005

Commodity contracts:
Phelps Dodge's zero-premium copper collars®  $(175) % - § -
Embedded derivatives in provisional sales contracts® 115 158 176

Forward copper contracts® {44) a7 29
Copper futures and swap contracts” {38) - -
Gold-Denominated Preferred Stock, Series 112 - (69) -
Silver-Denominated Preferred Stock? - 13 {5)
Forgign currency exchange contracts® - 7 1

2. Amounts recarded in revenues,
b. Amounts recorded in cost of sales.

Summarized below are financial instruments whose carrying amounts are
not equal to their fair value and unsettled derivative financial instruments
at December 31, 2007 and 2006:

2007 2006
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amount  Value Amount  Value

Commodity contracts:
Pnelps Dodge's zero-premium copper
collars in net liability position
Embedded derivatives in provisional
sales contracts in net Kability position {136}  (136) (127 (129
Copper forward contracts in net

$ (598) & (598}

liabitity position @ (4 o) ®
Copper futures and swap contracts
in net liability position 9 9 - -

Long-term debt {including amounts

due within one year) (7.211) {7,595 (680) 710)
Commodity Contracts. From time to time, FCX has entered into forward,
futures, swaps and option contracts to hedge the market risk associated
with fluctuations in the prices of commaodities it sells. The primary
objective of these contracts has been to set a minimum price, and the
secondary objective is to retain markel upside, if available at a reasonable
cost. As of December 31, 2007, FCX had no price protection contracts
relating to its mine production. A summary of these derivative contracts
and programs follows.

As a result of the acquisition of Phelps Dodge, FCX assumed Phelps
Dodge's 2007 copper price protection program (3423 million obligation at
acquisition date), which consisted of zero-premium copper collars

{consisting of both put and call options) for 486 millien pounds of copper
capped at $2.00 per pound and copper put options for 730 millien pounds
with a floor price of $0.95 per pound. The zero-premium copper collars
consisted of the simultaneous purchase of a monthly or annual put option
and the sale of an annual call option. The put option portion of these
protection contracts effectively ensured a minimum price per pound while
the call option portion established a maximum price per pound. At
December 31, 2007, the copper put options expired without settlement,
and FCX paid $598 miliion in January 2008 to settle the copper call
options. FCX does not currently intend to enter into simitar hedging
programs in the future.

As described in Note 1 under “Revenue Recognition,” a portion of
FCX's copper concenfrate and cathode sales agreements provides for
provisional billings primarily based on LME or COMEX prices at the time of
shipment as specified in the contract. FCX applies the normal purchase
and sale exception under SFAS No. 133, as amended, to the host sales
agreements since the contracts do not allow for net settlement and
always resutt in physical delivery. Under SFAS No. 133, as amended, sales
made on a provisional sales price contain an embedded derivative (ie.,
the price settlement mechanism that is seftled after the time of delivery)
that is required to be bifurcated from the host contract. The host contract
is the sale of the metals contained in the concentrates or cathodes at the
then-current LME or COMEX price. The embedded derivative, which does
not quatify for hedge accounting under SFAS No. 133, as amended, is
marked-to-market through earnings each period. Mark-to-market price
fluctuations recorded through the settlement date are reflected in
revenues. At December 31, 2007, FCX had embedded derivatives on 402
million pounds of copper {net of minority interests), with maturities
through May 2008.

Atlantic Copper enters inte forward copper confracts designed to
hedge its copper price risk whenever its physical purchases and sales
pricing periods do not match. Afthough these contracts are intended to
hedge against changes in copper prices, these contracts do not meet afl
of the criteria to qualify under SFAS No. 133, as amended, as a hedge
transaction; therefore, mark-to-market hedging gains or losses are
recorded to cost of sales. At December 31, 2007, Atlantic Copper held
farward copper purchase contracts for 28 million pounds at an average
price of $3.00 per pound, with maturities through February 2008.

Some of FCX’s U.S. copper rod customers request a fixed market price
instead of the COMEX average price in the month of shipment. FCX hadges
this price exposure in 8 manner that allows it fo receive the COMEX average
price in the month of shipment while the customers pay the fixed price they
requested. FCX accomplishes this by entering into copper futures and swap
contracts and then liquidating the copper futures contracts and settiing
the copper swap contracts during the month of shipment, which generally
results in FCX receiving the COMEX average price in the month of shipment.
These transactions do not meet all of the criteria under SFAS No. 133, as
amended, to qualify as a hedge transaction. Gains and losses for these
transactions are recorded to revenues. At December 31, 2007, FCX held
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copper futures and swap contracts for 89 million pounds at an average
price of $3.14 per pound, with maturities through December 2009.

In 2006, FCX redeemed its gold-denominated and sitver-denominated
preterred stock that had dividends and redemption amounts determined
by commodity prices.

Foreign Gurrency Exchange Contracts. As a global company, FCX
transacts business in many countries and in many currencies. Foreign
currency transactions of FCX's international subsidiaries increase its risks
because exchange rates can change between the time agreements
are made and the time foreign currency transactions are settled. FCX
may hedge or protect its international subsidiaries’ foreign currency
transactions from time to time by entering into forward exchange
contracts to lock in or minimize the effects of fluctuations in exchange
rates. FCX had no outstanding foreign currency exchange contracts at
December 31, 2007,

Interest Rate Swap Contracts. From time to time, FCX or its
subsidiaries may enter into interest rate swaps to manage its exposure to
interest rate changes on a portion of its debt. Floating-rate debt exposes
FCX to increasing costs from rising interest rates. FCX may enter into
interest rate swap contracts to lock in an interest rate considered to be
favorable in order to protect against its exposure to variability in future
interest payments attributable to Increases in interest rates of the
designated floating-rate debt. FCX had no outstanding interest rate swap
contracts at December 31, 2007.

Credit Risk. FCX is exposed to credit loss when financial
institutions with which FCX has entered into derivative transactions
(commodity, forefgn exchange and interest rate swaps) are unable to
pay. To minimize the risk of such losses, FCX uses highly rated financial
institutions that meet certain requirements. FCX also periodically
reviews the creditworthiness of these institutions to ensure that they are
maintaining their ratings. FCX does not anticipate that any of the financial
institutions FCX deals with will default on their obligations. As of
December 31, 2007, FCX did not have any significant credit exposure
associated with derivative transactions.

Other Financial Instruments. The methods and assumptions FCX
used to estimate the fair value of each group of financial instruments for
which it can reasonably determine a value are as follows:

Cash and Cash Equivalents. The financial statement amount is a
reasonable estimate of the fair value because of the short maturity of
thess instruments.

Trust Assets. The fair value of trust assets is based on quoted market
prices.

Long-Term Debt. The fair value of substantially all of FCX's long-term
debt is estimated based on the quoted market prices. '
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NOTE 18. BUSINESS SEGMENTS

With the acquisition of Phelps Dodge, FCX has adepted a regional
approach to the management of its mining operations. FCX has organized
its mining operations geographically into three primary operating
divisions — North American mining, South American mining and
Indonesian mining. Notwithstanding this geographic structure, FCX
internally reports information on a mine by mine basis. Therefore,

in accordance with SFAS No. 131, "Disclosures about Segments of an
Enterprise and Related Information,” FCX concluded that its operating
segments include individual mines. FCX has révised its segment
disclosures for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005, to conform
with current year presentation.

Further discussion of the reportable segments included in FCX's
operating divisions, as well as FCX's other reportable segment — Aflantic
Copper Smefting & Refining, follows.

North American Mining. North American mining operations are
comprised of copper operations from mining through copper rod
production, molybdenum operations from mining through conversion to
chemical and metallurgical products, and the marketing and sale of both
product lines. FCX has six operating copper mines in North America -~
Morenci, Bagdad, Sierrita, Safford, China and Tyrone, and one operating
molybdenum mine — Henderson. The North American mining division
includes one reportable copper mine {(Morenci), and also includes Rod and
Refining cperations and Molybdenum operations as reportable segments.

Morenci. The Morenci open-pit mine, located in southeastemn Arizona,
primartly produces copper cathodes and copper concentrates. In addition
to copper, the Morenci mine produces molybdenum concentrates as a
by-product.

Rod and Refining. The Rod and Refining segment consists of copper
conversion facilities, including a refinery, rod mills and a speciaity copper
products facility. This segment processes copper produced at the North
American mines and purchased copper into copper anade, cathode, rod
and custom copper shapes. At times this segment refines copper and
produces copper rod and shapes for customers on a toll basis. Toll
arrangements require the tolling customer to deliver appropriate copper-
bearing material to FCX's facilities for processing into a product that
is returned to the customer, who pays FCX for processing its material into
the specified products. '

Molybdenum. The Molybdenum segment includes FCX’s wholly
owned Henderson and Climax molybdenum mines in Colorado, related
conversion facilities and a technology center, This segment is an
integrated producer of molybdenum, with mining, roasting and processing
facilities that produce high-purity, molybdenum-based chemicals,
molybdenum metal powder and metallurgical products, which are sold to
customers around the warld. This segment also purchases molybdenum,
produced as a by-product, fram FCX's North American and South
American copper mines and sells it o third parties. In addition, at times
this segment roasts and/or processes material on a toll basis, Toll
arrangements require the tolling customer to deliver appropriate
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molybdenum-bearing material to FCX's facilities for processing into a
product that is returned to the customer, who pays FCX for processing its
material into the specified products. This segment also includes a
technology center whose primary activity is developing new engineered
products and applications.

The Henderson underground mine produces high-purity, chemical-
grade molybdenum concentrates, which are further processed into value-
added molybdenum chemical products.

In December 2007, FCX's Board of Directors approved the restart of
the Climax molybdenum mine near Leadville, Colorado, which has been
on care-and-maintenance status since 1995. Climax is believed to be the
iargest, highest-grade and lowest-cost undeveloped molybdenum ore
bedy in the world. The initial project involves the restart of open-pit
mining and the construction of new milling facilities. )

Other North American Mining Operations. Other North American
mining operations, which are not considered reportable segments,
include FCX's other southwestern U.S. copper mines — Bagdad, Sierrita,
Safford, Chino, Tyrone, Miami, Cobre, Bisbee and Tohono. In addition
to copper, the Bagdad, Sierrita and Chino mines produce molybdenum,
gold and silver, and the Sierrita mine also produces rhenium. Other
North American mining operations also include the Miami smelter
(which is the most significant source of sulfuric acid for the various
North American leaching operations), a sales company (which functions
as an agent to purchase and sell copper from the North American mines
and the Rod and Refining segment and also purchases and sells any
copper not scld by the South American mines to third parties} and other
ancillary operations.

South American Mining. FCX has four operating copper mines in
South America — Candelaria, Ojos del Salado and El Abra in Chile, and
Cerro Verde in Peru. These operations include open-pit and underground
mining, sulfide ore concentrating, leaching, solution extraction and
electrowinning. The South American mining division includes one
reportable copper mine (Cerro Verde).

Cerro Verde. The Cerro Verde open-pit copper mine, located near
Arequipa, Peru, produces copper cathodes and copper concentrates. In
addition to copper, the Cerro Verde mine produces molybdenum and silver.
FCX owns a 53.56 percent interest in Cerro Verde. The remaining 46.44
percent is held by SMM Cerro Verde Netherlands B.Y., Compania de Minas
Buenaventura S.A.A. and other shareholders, certain of whose shares are
publicly traded on the Lima Stock Exchange.

Other South American Mining Operations. Other South American
mining operations, which are not considered reportable segments, include
FCX's other South American copper mines — Candelaria, Ojos del Salado
and El Abra — which include open-pit and underground mining, sulfide ore
concentrating, leaching, solution extraction and electrowinning, and other
ancillary operations. In addition to copper, the Candelaria and Ojos det
Salado mines produce gold and silver. FCX owns an 80 percent interest in
both the Candelaria and Ojos del Salado mines, and owns a 51 percent
interest in the El Abra mine.

Indonesian Mining. Indonesian mining includes PT Freeport
Indonesia's Grasberg copper and gold mining operations and Puncakjaya
Power's power-generating operations (after eliminations with PT Freeport
Indonesia),

FCX owns 90.64 percent of PT Freeport Indonesia, including 9.36
percent owned through PT indocopper investama, and the remaining 9.36
percent is owned by the Government of Indonesia. In 1996, FCX
established an unincorporated joint venture with Rio Tinto, which covers
PT Freeport Indonesia’s mining operations in Block A and gives Rio Tinto,
through 2021, a 40 percent interest in certain assets and future
production exceeding specified annual amounts of copper, gold and silver.
After 2021, Rio Tinto will have a 40 percent interest in all production from
Block A. '

Atlantic Copper Smelting & Refining. Atlantic Copper, FCX's wholly
owned smelting unit in Spain, smelts and refines copper concentrates and
markets refined copper and precious metals in slimes.

Other. Intersegment sales by the Indonesian and South American
mines are based on similar arms-length transactions with third parties at
the time of the sale. Intersegment sales of any individual mine may not
be reflective of the actual prices ultimately realized because of a variety
of factors, including additional processing, timing of sales to unaffiliated
customers and transportation premiums.

FCX allocates certain operating costs, expenses and capital to the
operating divisions and individual segments. However, not all costs and
expenses applicable to a mine or operation are allocated. All federal and
state income taxes are recorded and managed at the corporate level with
the exception of foreign income taxes, which are generally recorded and
managed at the applicable mine or operation. Accordingly, the following
segment information reflects management determinations that may not
be indicative of what the actual financial performance of each operating
division or segment would be if it was an independent entity.

FCX revenues attributable to the products it produces for the years
ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, follow:

2007 2006 2005
Refined copper products $ 8918 %1865 $1,128
Copper in concentrates® 4,541 2721 1,868
Molybdenum 1,703 - -
Gold 1,664 1,155 1,247
Othert 113 50 {64)
Total $16,939 $5791  $4.179

a. Amounts are net of treatment and refining charges totaling $502 million for 2007, $388 million for
2006 and $277 miflion for 2005.

b. Amounts are net of royalty charges totaling $133 million in 2007, $126 million in 2006 and $104
million in 2005. Alse includes ${41) million in 2007, $139 million in 2006 and $9 million in 2005 for
adjustments to prior year sales and pre-acquisition sales in 2007 subject to final pricing.
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Information concerning financial data by business segments and
geographic area for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005,
is presented in the following tables.

Business Segments

Other Nocth  Total North Other South  Tola? South Aliantic Copper  Corporate
Rod & Amencan American Cermo Amefican American Smelting Other &

Morenci Refinng  Molybdenum Mining Mining Verde Mining Miring Grasbery & Refng  Efminations FOX Toral

Year Ended December 31, 2007

Revenues:

Unaffiliated cusiomers® $ 68 55108 $1,746 $ 1,719 $ BG4 § 744 $1.527  $2,265 $3640° 32388 § 5 $16.939

Intersegment 1,709 K7 - {1732 9 8% 725 1580 1,168 - @757 -
Production and delivety"‘ N 5119 1,287 {1,105) 6,202 483 795 1,278 1,388 2,329 {2,760) B.527
Depreciation, depletion and amertization® . 239 7 94 2n 611 129 248 377 199 6 23 1,246
Exploration and research expenses - - 2 8 10 - - - - - 135 145
Selling, general and administrative expenses - - 10 10 20 - ~ - 188 20 238 466
Operating income® 547 14 353 803 1717 987 1,203 2190 3,033 3 (388) 6.555
Interest expense, net - 4 - - 4 9 2) 7 12 26 464 513
Provision for income taxes - - - - - 485 268 853 1,326 - 221 2,400
Total assets at December 31, 2007 5015 438 3522 10272 19,247 4,224 4,195 8,419 3,737 915 B,343 40,661
Capitai expenditures 268 8 45 599 20 58 65 123 368 42 302 1,755
Year Ended December 31, 2006
Revenues:

Unaffiliated customers - - - - - - - - 3543 2242 6 5,791

Intersegment - - - - - - - - 852 - {852) -
Production and delivery - - - - - - - - 1,279 2119 {873) 2,525
Depreciation and amortization - - - - - - - - 184 33 1 228
Exploration expenses - - - - - - - - - - 12 12
Selling, general and administrative expenses — - — — — — — - 211 16 {70) 157
Operating income - - - - - - - - 2,721 74 74 2,869
Interest expense, net - - - - - - - - 20 25 31 76
Provision for income taxes - - - - - - - - 950 - 251 1,201
Total assets at December 31, 2006 - - - - - - - - 4,112 915 363 5,390
Capital expenditures - - - - - - - - 234 17 - 251
Year Ended December 31, 2005
Ravenyes:

Unaffiliated customers - - - - - - - - 28107 1383 6 4179

intersegment - - - - - - - - 758 - (759) -
Productien and delivery - - - - - - - - 954 1,288 (604) 1,638
Depreciation and amertization - - - - - - - - 210 29 12 25
Exploration expsnses - - - - - - - - - - 9 ]
Selling, general and administrative expenses — - — - - - — — 147 11 {54) 104
Operating income - - - - - - - - 2,257 35 {115) 2177
Interest expense, net - - - - - - - - 22 17 93 132
Provision for income taxes - - - - - - - - 781 - 134 915
Total assets at December 31, 2005 - - - - - - - - 4B18 933 (1} 5,550
Capital expenditures - - - - - - - — 129 10 4 143

a. includes PT Freeport Indanesia’s sales to PT Smelting totaling $1.8 billion in 2007, $1.2 bilion in 2006 and $3.0 bilken in 2005.
b.  The followirg table summarizes the impact of purchase accounting fair value adjustments on 2007 operating income primarily associated with the impacts of the increases in the camying values of Phelps Dodge’s metals
inventories {including mill and leach stockpiles) and property, plant and equipment, and also inciudes the impact associated with the amortization of intangible assets and iablities resulting from the acquisition;

Revenues § - % - % m 3 - $ m $ 8 & 1 3 9 N/A NA O § - § 120
Production and delivery 218 - (164) 230 {612 3 196) {169 Y2 N/A - 781
Depreciation, depletion and amortization {167) = {57} {165} {384) (64) (145) {209} N/A /A ) (599)
Reduction of operating income $ (385 % — 3 o5 3 (395 3 {885} $ {29 % (a0 3 (369} N/A NA & £ ] {1,256)
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2007 2006 2005

FCX's reserve estimates are based on the latest available geological
and geotechnical studies. FCX conducts ongoing studies of its ore
bodies to optimize economic values and to manage risk. FCX revises its
mine plans and estimates of proven and probable mineral reserves as
required in accordance with the latest available studies. FCX's
estimated consolidated recoverable reserves include 93.2 billion pounds
of copper, 41.0 million ounces of gold, 2.0 billion pounds of
motybdenum, 230.9 million ounces of silver and 0.6 billion pounds of
cobalt. At December 31, 2007, recoverable reserves include estimated
recoverable copper totaling 2.6 billion pounds in leach stockpiles and
0.9 billion pounds in mil} stockpiles.

- Recoverable Proven and Probable Raserves
at December, 31, 2007

Copper Gold
{Billions of Lbs)  {Millions of Ozs)

Molybdenum
{Billions of Lbs.)

Revenues®:

United States $654380 $§ 76 $ 95
Japan 2,479 1,242 805
Indenesta 2,106 1,202 1,008
Spain 1,773 1,380 783
United Kingdom 661 126 72
Chile 627 - -
China 400 120 4
Mexico 356 133 -
india 319 387 241
Phitippines 314 86 - 137
Korea 266 37 289
Others 1,159 662 708

Total $16,039 §5791 $4,179

Long-lived assets®:

United States $16954 § 41 ¢ 588
Peru 3242 . - -
Indonesia 3,126 2,933 3191
Chile 2,882 - -
Africa 1,506 - -
Spain 274 265 284
Others 84 - -

Total 328,068 $3239 $3,528

a. Revenues are attributed to countries based on the location of the customer.
b. Long-lived assets exclude oeferred tax assets, goodwill and intangible assets.

NOTE 19. SUPPLEMENTARY MINERAL RESERVE INFORMATION
(UNAUDITED)

Proven and probable reserves have been calculated as of

December 31, 2007, in accordance with Industry Guide 7 as required by
the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934. FCX’s proven and prabable
reserves may not be comparable to similar information regarding mineral
reserves disclosed in accordance with the guidance in other countries.
Proven and probable reserves were determined by the use of mapping,
drilling, sampling, assaying and evaluation methods generally applied in
the mining industry, as mare fuilly discussed below. The term “reserve,” as
used in the reserve data presented here, means that part of a mineral
deposit that can be economically and legally extracted or produced at the
time of the reserve determination. The term “proven reserves™ means
reserves for which (i) quantity is computed from dimensions revealed in
outcrops, trenches, workings or drill holes; {ii) grade and/or quality are
computed from the result of detailed sampling; and (iii) the sites for
inspection, sampling and measurements are spaced so closely and the
geologic character is sufficiently defined that size, shape, depth and
mineral content of reserves are well established. The term “probable
reserves” means reserves for which quantity and grade are computed
from information similar to that used for proven reserves but the sites for
sampling are farther apart or are otherwise less adequately spaced. The
degree of assurance, although lower than that for proven reserves, is high
enough to assume continuity between points of observation.

North America 258 0.2 1.8
South America 26.0 1.4 0.2
Indonesia ara 39.4 -
Africa 4.3 - -
Consolidated basis? 93.2 41.0 2.0
Net equity interast® 77.0 37.0 1.9

a. Consolidated basis reserves represent estimated metal quantities after reduction for jaint ventura
pariner interests at the Morenci mine in North America and the Grasberg mining complex in
Indonesia.

b, Het equily interest represents FCX's net cwnership interest {i.e., estimated consofidated reserves
further reduced for minority interests).

Estimated recoverable reserves were assessed using long-term average
prices of $1.20 per pound for copper, $450 per ounce for gold, $6.50
per pound fer molybdenum, $7.50 per ounce for silver and $12.00 per
pound for cobalt, along with near-term price forecasts reflective of

the current price environment. The London spot metal prices for the past
three years averaged $2.65 per pound for copper and $582 per ounce

for gold, and the Matals Week Molybdenum Deater Oxide price averaged
$28.90 per pound for molybdenum.
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100% Basis
Average Ore Grade Recoverable Proven and
Per Metric Ton Prgbable Reserves
Ore Copper Geld Moly
{Million Copper Gold Moly {Billions (Millions {Millions
Year-End Metric Tons) (%} {Grams) {%) of Lbs.) of 0zs.) of Lbs.)
2003 2,696 1.08 0.98 N/A 54.4 60.4 N/A
2004 2,769 1.09 0.97 N/A 56.2 61.0 N/A
2005 2,822 1.07 0.92 N/A 56.6 58.0 N/A
2006 2,813 1.04 0.90 N/A 54.8 54.3 N/A
2007 12,224 “0.51 0.20 0.01 1104 94,1 2,042
BY AREA AT DECEMBER 31, 2007:
North America
Developed and producing:
Morenci 2818 0.28 - 0.002 10.7 - 34
Sierrita 1,062 0.26 0.003 0.030 5.4 01 584
Bagdad 828 0.28 0.003 0.016 4.1 -2 207
Safford 549 0.36 - - 2.7 - -
Chino 164 0.51 0.012 0.005 24 -2 7
Tyrone 191 0.32 - - 1.0 - -
Miami 102 0.39 - - 0.6 - -
Henderson 122 - - 0.193 - - 448
Undeveloped:
Climax 165 - - 0.165 - - 532
Cobre 77 0.40 - - 0.5 - -
South America
Developed and producing:
Cerro Verde 1,765 0.44 - 0.012 14.9 - 230
El Abra 1,201 0.43 - - 6.1 - -
Candelaria 360 0.59 0.133 - 438 1.4 -
Ojos del Satado 7 1.14 0.286 - 0.2 - -
Indonesia
Developed and producing:
Grasberg open pit 433 0.89 0.983 - 7.2 1.3 -
DOZESZ® 284 0.65 0.707 - 34 49 -
Undeveloped:
Grasberg block cave 983 1.06 0.852 - 19.6 18.3 -
Kucing Liar ' 568 1.18 1.054 - 12.7 9.1 -
MLZ/OMLZ® 392 1.01 0.813 - 7.4 17 -
Big Gossan 53 2.31 1.100 - 24 - 1.3 -
Africa '
Undeveloped:
Tenke Fungurume 100 226 - - 43 - -
Total 100% basis 12.224 110.4 54.1 2.042
Consolidated basis 93.2 41.0 2,037
FCX's equity share 77.0 37.0 1,830

a. Ounces are not shown because of rounding.
b. Deep Ore Zone (DOZ) and Erisberg Stockwork Zone [£57)
c.  Mill Level Zone (MLZ) and Deep Mifl Level Zone MMLZ)
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NOTE 20. QUARTERLY FINANGIAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)

First Sacond TFhird Fourth
Quarter® Quarter? Quarter Quarter Year

2007 :
Revenues? . $2,248 $5,443 $5,066 $4,184 $16,939
Operating income®* 1172 2,354 14877 1,152 6,555
Income from continuing operations applicable to common stock®<4 472 1,076 763 423 2,734
Income {loss} from discontinued operations® 4 28 12 9 35
Net income applicable to common stock®t4 476 1,104 775 414 2,769
Basic net income (loss) per share of common stock:

Continuing operations $ 218 $ 283 $ 2.00 $ 110 $ 802

Discontinued operations ‘ 0.02 0.07 0.03 (0.02} 0.10

Basic net income per share of common stock $ 220 $ 2.90 $ 203 $ 1.08 $ 812
Diluted net incame {oss) per share of comman stock:

Continuing operations<d $ 2.00 $ 2.56 $ 185 $ 1.07 $ 7.41

Discontinued operations® 0.02 0.06 0.02 (0.02) 0.09

Diluted net incomne per share of common stock?&d $ 202 $ 2.62 $ 1.87 $ 1.05 $ 750
2006
Revenues® $1,086 $1,426 $1,636 $1,643 $ 5791
Operating income® 532 739 735 863 2,869
Net income applicable to common stock®'9 252 367 351 426 1,396
Basic net income per share of common stock 1.34 1.95 1.85 247 7.32
Diluted net income per share of common Stocked 1.23 1.74 1.67 1.99 6.63

a.
b.

As a result of the sale of PDIC, results for the first and second quarters of 2007 have been restated to remove POIC from continuing operations,

Inctudes charges {credits) to revenues for mark-to-market accounting adjustments for the 2007 copper price protection program totating $38 millon ($23 million 1o net income or $0.10 per share} in the first quarter,
$130 mikion (S0 million to net income or $0.18 per share) in the second quarter, $44 million ($26 million 1o net income or $0.06 per share) in the third quarter, $137) mitlion ($(23) million to net income or $0.06
per sharg) in the lourth quarter and $175 million ($106 million 1o net income or $0.27 per share) for the year,

. Includes the purchase accounting inpact of the increases in the carrying values of acquired metals inventorles dincluding mill and leach stockpiles) and property, plant and equipment, and akso Includes the impact

associated with the amonization of intangible assets and liabilities resulting from the acguisition of Phetps Dodge totaling $124 million {$79 million to net income or $0.32 per share} in the first quarter, $455 milion
$284 million or $0.64 per share) in the second quarter, $445 million (5279 million ta net income o $0.62 per share} in the third quarter, $232 million (3143 million to net income or $0.35 per share} in the fourth
quarter and $1.3 billion ($785 million to net income or $1.98 per share) for the year associated with continuing operations. Also includes purchase accounting impact totaling $8 million ($0.02 per share) in the third
quarter assoclated with discontinued operations.

. Includes net lesses on early extinguishment of debt totaling $88 million ($75 milfion to net income or $0.31 per share) ia the first quarter, $47 million ($35 million to net income or $0,08 per share) in the second

quarter, $36 million ($31 million ta net income or $0.07 per share) in the third quarter and $173 million {$132 million to nat Income or $£.33 per share) for the year, Also Includes gains primarily from the sales of
marketable securitis otaling $38 milfion (§23 million to net income or $0.05 per share) in the sacond quarter, $47 million {$29 million to net income or $0.06 per share) in the third quarter and $85 million ($52
million to net Income or $0.13 per share) for she vear,

. Includes a loss on redemption of FCX's Gold-Denominated Prefermed Stock, Series U totaling $69 million {537 million to net income or $0,17 per share) in tha first quarter, a loss on redemption of FCX's Sitver-

Denominated Preferred Stock totaling $13 milian ($7 million to net income or $0,03 per share) in the third quarter and $82 milion ($44 million to net income or $0.20 per share) for the year.

Incluges net gains from the disposition of tand and certain sovalty rights owned by Atlantic Copper totaling $9 million ($0.04 per share) in the second quarter, $21 million ($0.10 per share} in the third quarter and
$30 million (30.13 per share} for the year.

Includes net losses on early extinguishment and conversion of debt totaling $29 million ($0.13 per share) in the third quarter and $3C million ($0.14 per share) for the year,
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The following graph compares the change in the cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock with the cumulative total return of the S&P
500 Stock Index and the cumulative totar return of the S&P 500 Materials Index from 2003 through 2007. We have changed our comparative peer group
this year as some of the companies from our comparative peer group last year are no longer in existence due to industry consolidations. Accordingly,

our comparative peer group wifl now be the S&P 500 Materials Index, which more closely mirrors the benchmarks of other large metals preducers. This
comparison assumes $100 invested on December 31, 2002 in () Freeport-McMoRan Copper & Gold Inc. common stock, (b) the S&P 500 Stock Index,
(¢) our former peer group and {d} the S&P 500 Materials Index. Last year, our comparative peer group included Barrick Gold Corp., Newmont Mining
Corporation, Phelps Dodge Corporation, Southern Copper Corp. and Teck Cominco Ltd.

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Freeport-McMoRan Copper & Gold Inc., S&P 500 Stock Index, our Former Peer Group and S&P 500 Materials index

$800

/ $700
/ $600

~—
A =

$100

1213702 12/31/03 12/31/04 12131105 12/31/06 12/31/07
Degember 31,
2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
W Freeport-McMoRan Copper & Gold Inc. $100.00 $253.84 $237.33 $354.11 $400.41 $748.12
S&P 500 Stock Index 100.00 128.68 142.69 149.70 173.34 182.87
O Former Peer Group 100.00 180.55 183.52 254.16 339.77 474,02
B S&P 500 Materials Index 100.00 138.19 156.42 163.33 193.75 237.41

* Total return assumes reipvesiment of dividends.
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Investor Inquiries

The Investor Relations Department will be pleased to receive any
inquiries about the company's securities, including its common
stock or about any phase of the company’s activities. A link to

our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, which includes certifications of our Chief
Executive Officer (CEOQ) and Chief Financial Officer (CFQ) and the
company’s Principles of Business Conduct, is available on our web
site. Additionally, copies will be furnished, without charge, to any
stockholder of the company entitled to vote at its annual meeting,
upon written request. The Investor Relations Department can be
contacted as follows:

Freeport-McMoRan Copper & Gold Inc.
Investor Relations Department

One North Central Ave,

Phoenix, AZ 85004

Telephone (602) 366-8400
www._fcx.com

Transfer agent

Questions about lost certificates, lost or missing dividend checks, or
notifications of change of address shoutd be directed to the Freeport-
McMoRan Copper & Gold Inc. transfer agent, registrar and dividend
dishursement agent:

BNY Mellon Shareowner Services

480 Washington Boulevard

jersey City, New Jersey 07310-8015
Telephone (800) 953-2493
www.bnymellon,com/shareowner/isd

Notice of Annual Meeting

The annual meeting of stockholders will be held on June 5, 2008,
Notice of the annual meeting, together with a proxy and a proxy
statement, will be sent to stockholders. A post-meeting report
summarizing the proceedings of the meeting will be available on
our web site (www.fcx.com) within 10 days following the meeting.
A copy of the report will be mailed at no charge to any stockholder
requesting it.

FCX Common Stock

Our commen stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE)
under the symbol “FCX.” The FCX stock price s reported daily in the
financial press under “FMCG™ in most listings of NYSE securities.

At year-end 2007, the number of holders of record of our comman
shares was 19,177.

NYSE composite tape common stock price ranges during 2007 and
2006 were:

2007 2006
High Low High Low
First Quarter $ 67.19 $ 4885 $ 65.00 § 47.11
Second Quarter 85.50 65.62 72.20 4310
Third Quarter 110.60 67.07 62.29 47.58
Fourth Quarter 120.20 85.71 63.70 47.60
Certifications

Our CEQ, Richard C. Adkerson, submitted the Annual CEO Certification
to the NYSE as required under the NYSE Listed Company rules. We
have filed the certifications of each of our CEQ and CFO required
under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 as exhibits to
our Form 10-K.

Common Stock Dividends

Below is a summary of the common stock cash dividends paid for
the quarterly periods of 2007 and zo06, and the 2006 supplemental

dividends:
2007
Amount
per Share Record Date Payment Date
First Quarter $0.3125 Jan. 16, 2007 Feb. 1, 2007
Second Quarter 0.3125 Apr. 16, 2007 May 1, 2007
Third Quarter 0.3125 July 16, 2007 Aug. 1, 2007
Fourth Quarter 0.3125 Oct. 15, 2007 Nov. 1, 2007
2006
Amount
per Share Record Date Payment Date
First Quarter $03125 Jan. 17, 2006 Feb. 1, 2006
Supplemental 0.50 Mar. 15, 2006 Mar. 31, 2006
Second Quarter 0.3125 Apr. 17, 2006 May 1, 2006
Supplemental 0.75 Jun. 15, 2006 Jun. 30, 2006
Third Quarter 0.3125 July 17, 2006 Aug. 1, 2006
Supplemental 0.75 Sept. 14, 2006 Sept. 29, 2006
Fourth Quarter 0.312% Oct. 16, 2006 Nov. 1, 2006
Supplemental 1.50 Dec. 14, 2006 Dec. 29, 2006

In December 2007, the Board of Directors authorized an increase in
our annual common stock dividend by 40 percent to $1.75 per share
and approved a new open-market share purchase program for up to
20 million shares.

Tax Withholding — Nonresident Alien Stockholders
Nonresident aliens who own stock in a U.S. corporation are generally
subject to a federal withholding tax on 100 percent of the dividends
paid on preferred and/or common stock. However, when 8o percent
or more of a corporation’s income is generated dutside the U.5.,

the withholding percentage is not calculated on 100 percent of the
dividend, but rather on that portion of the dividend attributable to
income generated in the U.S. Freeport-McMoRan Copper & Gold

In¢., has determined that, for quarterly dividends paid in 2007 to
nonresident alien stockholders, o.65 percent of the dividend amount
was subject to federal withholding tax.

For quarterly dividends paid in 2008, Freeport-McMoRan Copper &
Gold Inc. estimates that o.45 percent of the total dividend amount is
subject to federal withholding tax.

{f you have any questions, please contact the Investor Relations Department.

FCX Beneficlal Owners

The beneficial owners of more than five percent of our outstanding
common stock as of December 31, 2007 are Alticus Capital LP
(7.8 percent), Goldman, Sachs & Ce. (7.5 percent) and

FMR LLC (5.1 percent).
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